
Caring for
Rural Communities

WINCHELSEA, AUSTRALIA

HESSE RURAL HEALTH
2018 ANNUAL REPORT



Facilitated
Play

Occasional
Care

Post
Acute
Care

02  A Year in Review

04  Strategic Directions

05  Board of Directors

06  Organisational Structure

08  Highlights 2017-2018

09  Visionary Governance &
        Leadership

10  Supporting the 
        Development of Children &  
        Communities

11  Autonomy & Choice Critical 
        for Wellbeing & Quality 
        Care

12  Contributing to a Learning 
        Outcome

13  A Model of Meaningful 
       Engagement

14  Rokewood Community 
       Garden

16  Finding Your Way in Aged 
        Care

17  Life Histories Create  
        Today’s Moments

18  Helping Older People 
        Remain at Home Longer

19  Acknowledging Leadership 
       in Fundraising

20  New Partnerships

21  Helping Out a Neighbour in 
        Need

22  Creating a Magnet Nursing 
        Home

23  Advanced Care Directives

24  Addressing Loneliness in 
       Aged Care

26  Sustaining Retirement Living 
      Options

27  Observe a Change, 
       Consider Pain

28  Leadership & Kindness

29  Because You Care

30  The Secrets of Success

32  Maintaining Connections     
       with Our Community

33  Local Urgent Care

34  A Lasting Legacy

35  Statements of Compliance

38  Drivers of Financial 
       Outcomes

40  Statement of Priorities

42  Quality Account

58  Finance Report

100  Expressions of 
         Appreciation

101  Our Services

Minister for Health; Minister for Ambulance Services: The Hon. Jill Hennessy MP
Minister for Families and Children; Minister for Youth Affairs: The Hon. Jenny Mikakos MP
Minister for Housing, Disability and Ageing; Minister for Mental Health: The Hon. Martin Foley MP 
Auditor: Auditor General Victoria
Bankers: Winchelsea & District Community Bank Branch of the Bendigo Bank
Solicitors: Birdsey, Dedman & Bartlett
Printers: Adams Print, Geelong
Content, Photos & Design Produced by: Hesse Rural Health

Contents

Greet, Eat
& Meet

Pre-School
Health

Bus to the 
Hub

Hospital in 
the Home

Urgent
CarePalliative

Care

Social 
Support 
Groups

Child
Care

Farm
Safety

Program

Personal
Development

Physiotherapy

Community
Nursing

Home Care
Packages

Respite
Care

Exercise
Groups

Yoga

Occupational
Therapy

Dementia
Care

Nester’s
Group

Walking
Groups

Podiatry

Men’s 
Group

Immunisation
Program

Dietetics

Post
Natal
Care

District
Nursing

Men’s Shed 
Program

Well
Women’s

Clinic

Health
Promotion

Diabetes
Education

Breakfast
Club

Residential 
Aged Care

Acute
Care

Hesse Rural Health
To access Hesse’s broad range of
services contact Administration:

Phone: (03) 5267 1200
Mail: 8 Gosney Street
Winchelsea VIC 3241

E-mail: reception@hesse.vic.gov.au
Website: www.hesseruralhealth.org.au

Allied
Health

Our
services



1Operations Report

Our history
Hesse Rural Health (Hesse) is a public health service operating under the Health 
Services Act 1988 and relevant amendments, and is governed by a volunteer Board of 
Directors appointed by the Victorian State Minister for Health. As an innovative rural 
health service, Hesse provides acute, aged and community based services across parts 
of the municipalities of Colac Otway, Golden Plains and the Surf Coast.

Hesse partners with the Winchelsea Hostel and Nursing Home Society Inc., a not-for-
profit entity whose charter it is to plan, provide and develop rural aged care services for 
the local community.

Mission:
Hesse is dedicated to providing and facilitating access to best practice health, aged and 
community based services that strive for rural wellbeing.

Person Centredness
Inclusiveness
Creativity
Integrity
Excellence

H
C

Hospital

LEGEND

Community Health Services

Residen�al Aged Care
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A year in

review

The fabric of country 
connection, the 

inspiration of community 
leadership, a deeper 
understanding of the 
needs of the people we 
care for and new service 
partnerships, all formed 
the path travelled in 2018. 
Such rich organisational 
experiences assist our 
mission to achieve better 
quality care for people 
residing within our 
catchment communities.

Hesse’s presence today 
has been founded on a 
history of long-term Board 
leadership and outstanding 
commitment. Many 
remarkable people have 
governed for the public 
good, and enabled others 
to extend their capacity to 
imagine, think and act in 
positive ways to facilitate 
sustainable development. 

In June this year we sadly 
saw the ‘end of term’ for 
three ‘stalwart’ Directors, 
John Carr, Donald Lang 
and Rod Hanson. Each 
gave twenty-plus years of 
service and commitment 
to the Boards of both 

Hesse Rural Health and 
the Winchelsea Hostel and 
Nursing Home Society 
Inc. Their vision shaped 
these two services into 
the successful community 
enterprises they are today.  
Their experience and 
insight has also provided 
invaluable support to 
incoming Directors 
enabling a strong and 
cohesive governing team. 
On behalf of the Board of 
Directors, Executive, Staff 
and the broader community 
we thank John, Donald 
and Rod for their time and 
effort, and wish them well 
in their future endeavours. 

In 2017 Therese O’Loughlin 
and Alice Bennett joined 
the Board, as Directors 
with extensive clinical 
knowledge and experience. 
From July 2018 we welcome 
five new Directors, all 
connected to the rural area. 
The transitioning Hesse 
Board will collectively 
possess broader clinical 
skill, as well as financial 

acumen, to oversee the 
future strategic direction 
and growth of the health 
service.

At the Whole of Staff 
Forum, an inspirational 
presentation by former 
Victorian Police 
Commissioner Christine 
Nixon revealed leadership 
as a responsibility held by 
us all, extending beyond 
those with formal roles. 
Themes of kindness 
and resilience were also 
threaded into a day rich 
in wisdom and reflection, 
helping us to understand 
why Hesse is the great 
place that it is.

Opportunities for both 
Hesse Rural Health and 
the Winchelsea Hostel and 
Nursing Home Society Inc. 
are very promising. Parts 
of our 4,200 km2 catchment 
area are experiencing 
change through investment 
and development in 
infrastructure, land 

subdivision and growth 
in housing. In Winchelsea 
this is encouraged by new 
road access and natural gas 
connectivity. A dramatic 
rise in population has 
been projected and is 
likely to exceed the 2030 
targets. Our focus is on a 
corresponding increase in 
the demand for a range of 
services that will reposition 
and extend the scope of our 
small rural organisation.

Partnerships are therefore 
critical to plan a way 
forward and extend 
services in readiness for 
this expanding population. 
Conversations have 
commenced with the 
neighbouring Board of 
Colac Area Health, who are 
also preparing for growth, 
with the aim to rethink 
service structure, access 
and delivery across the 
combined catchments. 

Advancing aged care 
through research continues 
to be a unique commitment 
for us as a small rural 
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health service as we aspire 
to be a centre of excellence. 
Our involvement in the 
international U-Age 
Collaboration, responsible 
for the advancement of 
a ‘Person Centred and 
Thriving Promoting Care 
Model’, entered its final 
data collection phase. As 
this concludes we continue 
with National Health & 
Medical Research Council 
funded research that 
improves the management 
of pain for people with 
dementia. 

Throughout the year 
our participation has 
been formally sought 
in discrete projects led 
by the Australian Aged 
Care Quality Agency, 
Aged Care Agenda, 
La Trobe University, 
Deakin University, 
HammondCare, Victorian 
Healthcare Association 
and the Australian 
College of Health 
Service Management. 
Our considered depth of 
knowledge is an attribute of 
many staff, with two senior 
members holding honorary 
academic appointments 
with La Trobe University. 
The organisational benefits 
that this has brought 
should not be understated.

Federal Government aged 
care reform continues 
to offer opportunities to 
expand our Home Care 
program. The policy reform 
designed to encourage 

people to age well at 
home has been welcomed 
within the community. 
Our service demand in 
this area has increased 
five-fold. However, the 
corresponding impact is the 
reduction of occupancy in 
our residential aged care 
facility, which for the first 
time in its history dropped 
from 99% to 87%. These 
events created a revenue 
burden resulting in a pre-
depreciation operating loss 
of $106,003. 

However, our spirit 
of community is as 
vibrant as it has ever 
been and the level of 
volunteer engagement 
is to be envied. This is 
of enormous assistance 
in raising quality levels. 
The Hospital Auxiliary 
continued to donate 
generous time at their Op 
Shop raising significant 
funds to resource valuable 
service enhancements. It 
is of note that the current 
Auxiliary President Lynette 
Henderson, who has 
steered the fundraising 
initiative since its creation, 
is retiring. Our thanks 
are extended to her for 
this outstanding level of 
personal commitment. 

Our largest bequest in 
the history of the Health 

Service was received 
from Charlie McDonald. 
His generous gift of 
$167,000 will be allocated 
to our future building 
redevelopment that will 
seek to replace ageing 
infrastructure and ensure 
the community have access 
to the latest in aged care 
facilities. 

During the year we were 
saddened by the loss of 
two significant people, 
each contributing to 
Hesse in different ways. 
Maureen Ludmon passed 
away after a long illness. 
She volunteered her time 
and brought much joy to 
Hesse’s residents, patients 
and staff for over 30 years 
through her regular piano 
sessions. News of the 
passing of Brian Kidd, 
AM, was also received 
with regret. He was the 
Principal Architect of 
‘Enabling Environments’, 
and Senior Fellow at the 
University of Melbourne.  
Since 2016 Brian undertook 
master planning for Hesse’s 
Winchelsea site on an 
honorary basis and we will 
benefit from the advice he 

has crystalised on Hesse’s 
needs and philosophy.

Upon review it was 
another remarkable year of 
organisational journey, and 
our thanks are extended 
to all staff, volunteers and 
the Board for their ongoing 
service and commitment. 

As always our Annual 
Report is a great depiction 
of what rural community 
healthcare means to many 
people in vastly different 
ways. Vibrant healthcare 
initiatives and positive 
wellness outcomes flow 
from the quality accounts 
within. We encourage you 
to read the report and share 
a story with those around 
you.  

Kathy Taylor
Chair

Peter Birkett
Chief Executive
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Achieving 
Excellence and 
Innovation
Hesse will build upon 
a culture of safety, 
quality and continuous 
improvement in the 
drive for service 
excellence and 
innovation.

Integrating 
Health and 
Wellbeing
Incorporating health 
promotion, prevention 
and early intervention 
concepts, standards and 
values into health service 
delivery will benefit 
consumers, our staff and 
the broader community.

Effective Service 
Promotion
To be a relevant health 
service to our catchment 
community, Hesse will 
ensure that the public 
are aware of what the 
organisation can offer.

Our Community 
is the Key
Hesse respects the 
important role it plays 
for our rural community, 
and individuals residing 
within it, to facilitate 
effective participation.

Infrastructure 
Growth and 
Development
Hesse is responsive to 
the changing community 
profile and demand for 
services considering 
immediate, short and 
long term needs for 
infrastructure, growth 
and development.

Accessible 
and Relevant 
Health Services 
Throughout the 
Lifespan
Services provided will 
be available throughout 
the lifespan, based upon 
evidence of needs with 
clear and accessible 
pathways facilitating 
effective links to the 
services consumers 
require.

A Skilled 
and Engaged 
Workforce
Investing in employees 
and the volunteer 
workforce will 
ensure they remain 
skilled, satisfied and 
meaningfully engaged to 
deliver effective services 
enabling the organisation 
to remain a respected 
employer of choice.

A Sustainable 
Business Culture
Financial practices and 
strategies will be based 
upon sound, ethical 
and innovative business 
principles to ensure 
future viability.

Partnering for 
Success
Collaboration, shared 
skills and the formation 
of strategic alliances 
with compatible 
organisations and 
stakeholders is required 
for the organisation to 
be efficient, effective and 
successful.

Strategic
directions
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Board of

Directors
Minister for Health

Hon. Jill Hennessy MP

Peter Birkett
Chief Executive Officer

Board of Directors

John Carr, OAM
Treasurer:
Financial Resources 
& Audit
Appointed: 1994

Kathy Taylor
Chair:
Financial Resources
& Audit 
BBus, GDipOHM,
MAICD
Appointed: 2014

Naida Hutton
Vice-Chair Senior:
Financial Resources 
& Audit
BEd,GDipHRIRM,
RM, RN, GAICD
Appointed: 2015

Alice Bennett
Clinical Governance 
& Ethics
RN, BN, MN, 
MAppMan(Nurs), 
MACN, AAICD
Appointed: 2017

Rod Hanson
Financial Resources 
& Audit
Appointed: 1995

Donald Lang
Chair, Clinical 
Governance & Ethics
Appointed: 1994

Michelle Stocks
Vice-Chair Junior:
Clinical Governance
& Ethics
MAICD
Appointed: 2014

Therese O’Loughlin
Clinical Governance 
& Ethics
RN, RM, BSc(BiolHealth), 
GDip(Epidemiol & 
Biostats)
Appointed: 2017

Siobhan 
Ni Chuinneagain
Clinical Governance
& Ethics
PhD, HDip, BSc(Hons)
Appointed: 2016

MBA, BCom, RM, RN,
MACHSM, MAICD
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Manager Community ServicesDirector of Care

Program Areas
•	 Residential Aged 
•	 Urgent Care
•	 Inpatient Acute
•	 Dementia 
•	 Palliative 
•	 Respite

Quality Coordination

Social Support Groups

District Director Medical Administration

Community Services
Coordinator

Manager Acute & 
Residential Aged Care

Volunteers

Portfolios
•	 Infection Control
•	 Smart Lift
•	 Continence

General Services
•	 Environmental
•	 Catering
•	 Maintenance
•	 Gardening

ACFI Coordination

Volunteers

Leisure and Lifestyle

Visiting Medical 
Officers

Our organisational

structure

Community Nursing
•	 Hospital in the Home
•	 Post Acute Care
•	 District Nursing
•	 Domiciliary Midwifery
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Manager Workforce 
& Service Development
Andrea Dunlop
MHlthSc, GDipHlthSc, BAppSc (OT), 
MCHSM, ARI

Manager Workforce
& Service Development

•	 Consumer Engagement
•	 Human Resources
•	 Service Development
•	 Contracts & Property
•	 Complaints Management
•	 Service Promotion
•	 Governance Support

•	 Reception
•	 Payroll
•	 Accounts
•	 Health Information    

Management
•	 Information Technology

Infrastructure

•	 Aged Care Business Systems
•	 Management Accounting

Children’s Services
•	 Occasional Child Care
•	 Facilitated Play Program

Home Care Packages

Health Promotion

Manager Community Services
Josie Gebert 
RM, RN, MACN

Director of Care
Annie Coles
BNurs, GDipMid, DipComServ (Childcare), 
GDipNurs (Fam&ChildHealth), MACN

Allied Health
•	 Dietetics
•	 Physiotherapy
•	 Occupational Therapy
•	 Diabetes Education

Financial Accounting

Financial Accounting
Stephen Wight (Davidsons)
BCom, CA, GAICD

District Director Medical Administration
Dr Didir Imran (Polwarth Partnership)
MBBS, MHlthServMt

Chief Executive Officer
Peter Birkett 
MBA, BCom, RM, RN,
MCHSM, MAICD

Quality, Ethics, Finance, Audit
Chief Executive Officer

Administration

Our organisational
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Director of Medical 
Administration role at 
Hesse Rural Health, 
Colac Area Health, 
Lorne Community 
Hospital, Terang 
& Mortlake Health 
Service, Timboon 
Health Service and 
Otway Health Service

• Colac Area Health 
engaged to provide 
contracted payroll 
services and the 
implementation of 
electronic employee 
time and attendance

• Hesse joins South West 
Health Accord (hA+) 
Clinical Council to 
participate in shared 
quality and clinical 
benchmarking projects

• Seven aged residents 
from Cobden Health 
temporarily relocate to 
Hesse’s aged facilities 
following local bushfire 
evacuation, with two 
choosing to stay

• Ms Christine Nixon, 
former Victorian 
Police Commissioner 
addresses Hesse’s 
November 2017 
Whole of Staff Forum 
on leadership and 
resilience

• Poster entitled 
Creating a Magnet 
Nursing Home: 
Practice Outcomes 
from an International 
Research Collaboration 
presented at the 24th 
Nordic Congress of 
Gerontology, Oslo, 
Norway, May 2018 

• Life Governorship 
awarded to Keith 
Leigh for over 49 years 
of stewardship to 
Winchelsea & District 
Hospital, Winchelsea 
Hostel & Nursing 
Home Society Inc. and 
Hesse Rural Health

• A campaign for 
community based 
skilled Board 
Directors generates 20 
applications 

• Commonwealth 
Department of Health 
and Ageing approves 
the activation of one 
new aged care license 
taking total residential 
places to 56

• Three-fold annual 
growth in home care 
packages currently 
supports 15 aged care 
clients at home

• Joint presentation with 
ACHS at the Pacific 
Health Leadership 
Conference in 
Sydney, September 
2017 ‘Reducing the 
Burden of Multiple 
Accreditations’

• Bell Charitable 
Foundation provides 
a grant of $10,000 to 
establish a children’s 
play area in the 
residential aged care 
gardens

• A bequest of $167,000 
from the Estate of 
Charlie McDonald, the 
largest ever received

• Dr Didir Imran 
recruited through the 
Polwarth Partnership to 
undertake the District 

• External security 
review results in 
installation of fixed 
and portable duress 
alarms to improve 
staff safety response 
following episodes of 
occupational violence

• Peter Birkett, CEO, 
chairs Victorian Public 
Sector Residential Aged 
Care Special Interest 
Group

• Hesse joins Colac 
Area Health, Lorne 
Community Hospital, 
Otway Health & 
Barwon Health 
in a subregional 
Strengthening 
Hospitals Response to 
Family Violence project

 
• In partnership with 

Colac Area Health, 
HACC Social Support 
Program receives a 
grant for $74,000

• Invitation from 
Australian Aged 
Care Quality Agency 
to participate in the  
Aged Care Standards 
Guidance Reference 
Group in Sydney 
assisting evidence 
requirements for new  
aged care quality 
standards

• Participation in Finding 
Your Way in Aged 
Care forum provides 
important information 
on accessing aged 
services to the local 
community

• Five Winchelsea 
independent living 
units operating under a 
social retirement model 
acquired from the Surf 
Coast  Shire

• Workforce education 
commences in 
Intervene Phase 2 
- Best Practice Pain 
Management in 
Residential Care for 
People Living with 
Dementia, a program 
led by Hammondcare 
with funding from 
the National Health 
& Medical Research 
Council (NHMRC)

• New General 
Services coordination 
role added to the 
organisational structure

Highlights 2017-2018
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Over 72 Years of 
healthcare governance 

experience has come to 
an end this year with the 
conclusion of appointment 
terms for three of Hesse 
Rural Health’s long 
standing Board Directors: 
John Carr, OAM; Rod 
Hanson; and Donald Lang. 
The Health Legislation 
Amendment (Quality 
and Safety) 2017  was 
introduced into Parliament 
during the year which, 
amongst other changes 
aiming to improve 
governance oversight of 
quality and safety, has 
capped Board Director 
tenure at a maximum of 
three by three year terms, 
or a total nine years for a 
single entity. 

However it is not just 
longstanding stewardship 
that is impressive about 
the contributions of 
these three men. They 
were all involved with 
the former entities Beeac 
and District Hospital and 
Leigh Community Care. 
Along with the Board of 
of Winchelsea & District 
Hospital, they advocated 
for the amalgamation of 
their respective services 
which resulted in the 
formation of Hesse Rural 

Health, approved by the 
Governor in Council in 
1994.

John Carr, OAM served 
in the role of President 
at Hesse Rural Health 
from 2003 until 2017 and 
said, ‘At that time of 
rationalisation of rural 
public health services, 
we felt that the best way 
to sustain services in 
our communities was to 
combine our strength.’ He 
adds that this was not the 
pathway of many other 
rural services who are no 
longer in existence. 

John was a driving force 
for many Board initiated 
strategic developments to 
advance a business culture 
while simultaneously 
maintaining a focus on 
quality care. John was 
awarded an OAM in 
2017 for his leadership 
achievements in 
community and rural 
healthcare.

Donald Lang, undertook 
the Chairmanship of the 
Clinical Governance and 
Ethics Committee, formerly 
known as the Quality and 
Ethics Committee, and says 
he is particularly proud of 
how the service has grown 
in keeping with community 
needs over the last 24 years. 
In his final Board meeting 
Rod Hanson identified 
stability in CEO tenure, 
organisational dedication 
and innovation in quality 
aged care services as 
contributing to a legacy of 
developments.

In a fitting tribute to his 
49 years plus of Board 
directorship, Mr Keith 
Leigh was awarded a Life 
Governorship of Hesse 
Rural Health at the 2017 
Annual General Meeting. 
Keith played a significant  
role in all health service 
building developments, in 
the 1988 establishment of 
the Winchelsea Hostel and 

Nursing Home Society Inc. 
and maintaining General 
Practitioner services for the 
township of Winchelsea.  
Keith joins a small number 
of people who have 
received Life Governorship: 
Mr W Boddington, Mr J S 
Caldow, Dr F X Connell, 
Dr A G M Tymms, Mrs J L 
Wilson and Mr J H Kelly.

John, Donald, Rod and 
Keith were each committed 
servants to the Board 
of Management with 
impeccable attendance 
records, and brought 
harmony to a governance 
group unafraid of taking 
calculated risks to achieve 
service growth.  

Clear visionaries and 
without their input Hesse 
Rural Health would not be 
what it is today. 

Visionary

governance
& leadership
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New housing 
construction in Beeac 

is reversing downward 
population trends seen 
across many rural Victorian 
towns. This small quaint 
town bordering Lake Beeac 
with its wide historical 
streetscape is seeing young 
families move into the 
area. The popular and 
long running Facilitated 
Play Program at the Beeac 
Community Health Centre 
has witnessed parallel 
growth.

Supporting up to 25 
families per year, the 
fortnightly Friday program 
encourages socialisation 
and play opportunities for 
pre-school children from 
birth to five years and 
provides important support 
networks for families and 
caregivers. 

The children are the key to 
the success of the program 
says Lynne Horne, who 
originally trained as a 
pre-school mothercraft 
nurse and has been 
facilitating the playgroup 
over the last 21 years. The 
program operates from 
a ‘child led’ philosophy 
where the interests and 
developmental needs of 
the children determine the 
content. Highly observant 
to their natural areas of 
inquiry and responses 
to the activities, Lynne 
designs a stimulating 
program to keep the 
children challenged and 
excited about learning. 

Imaginative play is 
facilitated through theme 
based play areas, such as 
an office, hospital or farm 

which change each session 
to maintain the children’s 
interest. Water-play such 
as ‘hatching’ dinosaur 
eggs from frozen balloons, 
and chocolate playdough 
sensory activities are 
among the favourites with 
the children. Music, dance, 
craft and story time are also 
dedicated components in 
a program that encourages 
the adults to join in. 

 ‘It’s more than just a 
traditional play group, 
where parents bring 
children together for 
socialisation opportunities. 
Its value lays in its 
integration within an 
intergenerational health, 
wellbeing, and community 
development framework’, 
Lynne says. The point 

of difference is the 
professional facilitation 
component. Aside from 
Hesse’s sister program 
in Rokewood, there is 
no known equivalent in 
adjacent districts.  

Each session comprises 
between 20-30 participants. 
Mums, Dads, Grandparents 
or other caregivers attend 
with their children. Word 
of mouth has seen referrals 
bloom and Beeac Facilitated 
Play Program has strong 
linkages with Colac Otway 
Maternal Child Health.

Jenny and her 3 year old 
daughter Hayley attend 
the Program each fortnight. 
The family recently moved 
into the Beeac district 
and Jenny remarks how 
valuable it has been in 
assisting to get to know 
others in the area. ‘It was a 
crucial start and enabled us 
to adapt so well to our new 
community. It’s so warm 
and inviting. We have just 
blossomed.’

development
Supporting the

of children
& communities
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New Aged Care Quality 
Standards have firmly 

centralised concepts of 
consumer dignity and 
choice as critical to quality 
care delivery among aged 
care services.  

An opportunity to 
discuss these important 
philosophies, and their link 
to wellbeing was made 
available in April during a 
visit from PhD researcher, 
Noortje Kloos from the 
University of Twente in 
the Netherlands. Noortje, 
a psychologist, presented 
her research investigation, 
Wellbeing and Engagement 
in Nursing Homes, in a 
staff forum and separately 
to members of the Board 
Clinical Governance and 
Ethics Sub-Committee. 

Discussed were concepts 
of: resident autonomy, 
having opportunities 
to make independent 
decisions; relatedness, 
being engaged with others 
socially through activities; 
and competence, achieving 

a sense of mastery. These 
were considered critical 
elements for aged residents 
to experience a sense of 
wellbeing. 

Perceptions of their own 
wellbeing, belief in the 
applicability of proposed 
change and colleague 
& system support were 
also identified by the 
research as critical factors 
that can influence staff to 
embrace and implement 
practice change. The 
messages offered important 
staff, management and 
governance learnings.  

Noortje was encouraged 
to visit Winchelsea’s 
aged care facilities by 
La Trobe University as a 
result of Hesse’s ongoing 
involvement with the 
international U-Age 
Consortium and the 
thriving and person centred 
care research project. 

Resident choice is woven 
through all the revised 
quality standards including 
ongoing assessment 
and planning with 
consumers, personal and 
clinical care, services and 
support for daily living, 
service environment, 
feedback and complaints, 
human resources and 
organisational governance.
 
The new Aged Care 
Quality Standards 
will be introduced 
in Commonwealth 
legislation from 2018 
and all organisations 
will be reviewed against 
them from 2019. A 
representative of Hesse 
Rural Health was invited 
to participate in the Aged 
Care Standards Guidance 

Reference Group, meeting 
periodically in Sydney 
throughout the year to 
assist in the development 
of guidance material 
for the new standards. 
Hesse’s invitation from 
the Australian Aged 
Care Quality Agency 
(AACQA) was to offer a 
dementia specialist and 
public small rural health 
perspective. It came as a 
result of demonstrated 
organisational commitment 
in the 2016 AACQA and 
Australian Council on 
Healthcare Standards pilot 
project advocating for 
joined up acute, primary 
care and aged care quality 
accreditation systems. 

choice
critical for wellbeing

& quality care

Autonomy &
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outcome

Contributing to a

learning

As a commitment to 
the promotion of 

learning opportunities for 
undergraduate students, 
Hesse hosted 21 Bachelor of 
Nursing, two Occupational 
Therapy and one Health 
Promotion student for 5, 14 
and 18 days respectively 
during the year. All of the 
attending students study 
at Deakin University in 
Geelong. 

The 3rd Year Occupational 
Therapy students, Nick 
and Sarah, attended as a 
part of their Community 
Based Practice Education 
Placement, a student 
directed skills based 
experience requiring the 
implementation of a project 
in less traditional areas 
of professional practice. 
Nick and Sarah creatively 
developed a dance and 
movement program 
aiming to improve resident 
wellbeing. This program 
had students, residents 

and curious staff dancing 
energetically and attracted 
a larger than usual level 
of participation. A formal 
investigation into the 
effects of dance on the 
psychosocial wellbeing of 
aged residents will now 
be undertaken as a part of 
a 4th Year Occupational 
Therapy honours project. 

It is anticipated that 
outcomes of the dance 
program will contribute 
to the knowledge base 
of occupational therapy 
interventions in aged 
care, support positive 
physical and mental health 
outcomes and provide 
enjoyment for residents. 

Working alongside Health 
Promotion Officer Jen 
McClean, student Mollie 
measured changes in 
children’s knowledge 
following participation in 
Hesse’s evidence based 

farm safety program.  
Using data collected 
between years 2010 
and 2016 from over 12 
participating schools, the 
evaluation concluded 
that the program raised 
awareness of quad bike, 
animal and water safety in 
younger persons living in 
rural farming settings.

Bachelor of Nursing 
students experienced 
the important role of the 
rural community nurse 
as they shadowed the 
district nursing team on 
visits throughout the 
catchment and worked 
alongside registered nurses 
in acute and residential 
care. Important skills were 
gained in areas such as 
client engagement, clinical 
assessment, monitoring 
of vital signs and clinical 
documentation.

Separate groups of 
Health Promotion and 
first year Occupational 
Therapy students also 
participated in forums 
designed to help them 
understand what to expect 
of their chosen discipline 
in an applied work setting. 
Hesse staff delivered 
a short presentation to 
the students, answered 
questions and promoted 
the advantages of rural 
based health professional 
practice.

Student placements 
provide discrete 
opportunities for staff to 
share their skills, to be 
exposed to contemporary 
learning content and 
also strengthen future 
workforce opportunities.  
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Contributing to a

Since opening in 2010, 
Hesse’s residential 

dementia environment, 
Werruna, has operated 
on the principles of 
‘meaningful engagement’, 
an activity based model 
of care that facilitates 
individual participation, 
interaction and stimulated 
response. Werruna based 
occupational therapist Elli 
Bartlett explains that as a 
result of cognitive decline a 
person with dementia often 
has a reduced ability to 
initiate activities that once 
provided them experiences 
of independence, pleasure 
and a sense of personhood. 

However the term, 
‘meaningful engagement,’ 
is often misunderstood and 
associated with something 
only ‘done by’ sessional 
based occupational 
therapists or activities staff. 
She says, ‘In reality all 
health care workers should 

be working to engage, 
whether that be during 
leisure activities, moments 
of personal care or social 
interactions’. Introducing 
a medium for engagement 
is the staff objective, and 
the resident’s subjective 
experience determines 
whether it holds meaning 
to them. Observational 
and evaluation skills are 
therefore important for all 
staff.

Taking effective and 
detailed life histories from 
families can provide some 
clues for opportunities for 
successful connections. Elli 
has spent time developing 
resource material for the 
unit that includes lists of 
suggestions of activities 
suited to individual 
residents that can be used 
by all staff. A recording 
sheet, broken into daily 
time segments allows care 
staff to document how 

residents have responded 
to the activities presented. 
This is available for families 
to review.  

‘Although we can use 
our knowledge to predict 
we must never assume 
to know what might 
interest our residents as 
that might rob them of 
future possibilities for 
engagement. Interests can 
change over time and with 
progression of the dementia 
condition. Stimulation and 
variety is as important as 
routines,’ Elli cautions.

A challenge for care staff 
has been understanding 
that their role is more 
than providing physical 
care, and that interacting 
with residents via 
activities is not only a 
valid but critical part 

of working with people 
with dementia. Whether 
helping someone to fold 
some washing, dancing 
with them to music or 
going for a walk together, 
relationship engagement is 
the objective. The outcome 
might be successful or not, 
but the important thing is 
to try.

Elli notices that when staff 
have been engaged with 
leisure based activities 
the Werruna environment 
as a whole is generally 
more settled. Successful 
approaches in engagement 
can lead to reductions 
in agitation and distress 
and reduced utilisation of 
psychotropic medication 
for people with dementia. 

A model of

meaningful
engagement
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What started with the 
planting of a single 

tomato seedling in a raised 
garden bed at the local 
Community Health Centre 
has emerged into a shared 
community garden project 
in the rural township of 
Rokewood.

Participants of the various 
community health 
programs operating from 
the Centre began taking an 
active interest in growing 
a range of vegetables and 
sharing in the produce 
yield. Members of the 
Rokewood Men’s Shed 
installed sleepers and 
reinforced retaining 
walls in garden beds. 
To ensure the soil was 
contaminant free, testing 
was undertaken at low 
cost with soil samples sent 
to VegeSafe at the Faculty 
of Science at Macquarie 
University and was given 
the all clear. 

A thriving winter crop is 
currently being harvested 
which includes broad 
beans, cabbage, spinach, 

carrots, lettuce, rhubarb 
and broccoli. A Spring 
planting will soon begin. 
The garden provides a 
great source of learning 
about growth cycles and 
seasons for the children 
at the Facilitated Play 
Program and a stimulating 
basis for conversations on 
nutrition and healthy food 
choices amongst groups 
meeting at the Centre. 
Traditionally enjoyed cakes 
and slices are now off the 
morning tea agenda.

Rokewood Community 
Garden – Food to Share 
Project is just one of the 
many projects being rolled 
out across an alliance of 
G21 and Central Highlands 
Primary Care Partnership 
agencies inclusive of Hesse 
Rural Health, and has 

identified Healthier Eating 
and Active Living as a 
shared key priority. More 
specifically the project 
addresses a key objective 
to increase vegetable 
consumption throughout 
the community. 

Hesse’s Health Promotion 
Officer Jen McLean says 
that access to healthy foods 
is a real issue in rural areas, 
but the community garden 

provides fresh produce 
to anyone who wants it 
at no cost. The project 
has extended beyond 
the health centre and the 
whole township benefits. 
Excess free produce has 
been made available in 
the adjacent café. Group 
members now commonly 
share and exchange home 
grown produce at the 
Centre.

Jen is confident that the 
Rokewood Community 
Garden - Food to Share 
project will be sustained 
due to the degree of 
community involvement 
and ownership. 

The Healthier Eating and 
Active Living priority 
connects into the Victorian 
Health and Wellbeing Plan. 

Rokewood community

garden
Men’s
Shed

Rokewood
Community
Health Centre

Rhubarb

Spinach
Beetroot &

Garlic

Beetroot &
Cauliflower

Carrots &

Passionfruit

Onions
Snowpeas

Turnips
Cabbage

Broadbeans
Beetroot

Herbs
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The aged care system 
can be complex to 

understand for consumers 
who usually have little 
reason to think about it 
until a health crisis presents 
for themselves or a loved 
one. 

As a provider of public and 
not for profit residential 
aged services, Hesse 
Rural Health believes its 
mandate extends beyond 
delivering care to ensuring 
our communities are well 
informed and assisted 
to navigate the broader 
aged care system. While 
recent national reform 
aims to centralise access 
to service options through 
the My Aged Care website, 
providing more detailed 
information was the 
basis for an October 2017 
community led event, 
‘Finding Your Way in Aged 
Care’. Participation in the 
forum was one of Hesse’s 
deliverables outlined 
in the 2017 Statement 
of Priorities. The forum 
was initiated by Growing 
Winchelsea Inc, along with 
partners Winchelsea Star, 

Winchelsea Community 
Bank and Surf Coast Shire. 
Hesse Rural Health was 
invited to present on the 
steps to facilitate access 
into residential aged care, 
from initial assessment 
to financial entry 
requirements and ongoing 
charges. 

If success can be rated 
by attendance then the 
objective was achieved. 
Of over 130 attendees, 
42 were from outside the 
Winchelsea postcode, from 
places such as Melton, 
Geelong, Melbourne and 
Colac. 

Local GP Dr Rob McDonald 
spoke on the inevitability 
of ageing, staying active 
and ensuring substitute 
decision makers are in 
place. Signposts Aged 
Care Services addressed 
the financial and legal 
implications of entering 

care and ensuring people 
make informed decisions 
about all aged care options 
including respite, home 
based care or residential 
care. Zoe Barnett from 
the Surf Coast Shire 
outlined the assessment 
process and eligibility for 
Commonwealth Home 
Support  Program, Carer 
Respite, Veterans Home 
Care and Home Care 
Packages. Former Deputy 
Police Commissioner, Mr 
John Frame, spoke from 
a user perspective on the 
benefits of retirement based 
living options. 

Categories of financial 
charges including 
refundable & daily 
accommodation payments, 
basic daily & means tested 
care fees, and personal 
income & asset scenarios 
were the focus of Hesse’s 

presentation delivered 
by Ms Brodie Lambert, 
Business Officer. 

Hesse CEO, Peter Birkett, 
says ‘The implications of a 
family farm are common 
questions from our rural 
communities and people 
sometimes delay entry 
into care due to concerns 
of having to sell income 
producing assets’. 

Although Hesse is unable 
to offer financial advice, 
they can help people to 
better understand the 
options available. With 
over 16% of the population 
in Australia over the age 
of 65 years, demystifying 
aged care is critical.  

aged care
Finding your way in 



17Operations Report

A person’s life history 
paints a reliable 

picture of their interests 
and values, shapes today’s 
choices and creates 
meaning. To deliver 
individualised care it is 
important that staff have 
a thorough understanding 
of a person’s background. 
Leisure and Lifestyle staff 
take detailed life histories 
of all new and existing 
residents to design relevant 
programs. 

Time spent in the defence 
force features significantly 
in resident Walter’s Leisure 
and Lifestyle plan and 
varied approaches are 
taken to tailor this into 
something meaningful for 
him. 

A newly erected war 
memorial in Walter’s 
original home area of 
Mannerim provided 
an opportunity for him 
to visit. He enjoyed 
reading the names of the 

listed servicemen and 
recalled many mates and 
former acquaintances. 
The nostalgic journey 
incorporated a visit to 
the site of his former 
primary school, now a 
family home, and the 
current owners invited 
him to tour the gardens. It 
stimulated many childhood 
memories and he chatted 
unreservedly during the 
return journey home. 

This year Walter also 
received a surprise 
medal of appreciation 
and certificate from the 
Association of Korean 
National Foundation 
in recognition of his 
contribution in the Korean 
War (1950 – 1953). Unable 
to attend the Melbourne 
based award ceremony, a 
local event was recreated 

in Hesse’s Bruno Lounge. 
Residents, staff and families 
gathered in honour and 
CEO Peter Birkett made 
the medal presentation to 
Walter, who reflected on 
his armed service in Korea 
with pride and emotion. 

ANZAC Day remains 
a significant one for 
many residents, but 
additional arrangements 
were tailored for Walter.  
Proudly wearing his 

medals, he attended the 
2018 community based 
memorial service held 
at the Winchelsea RSL, 
Eastern Reserve. He was 
invited to ride in a World 
War II jeep down the main 
highway to a newly erected 
memorial, stopping briefly 
for photos. 

Three occasions for 
reminiscence. Heart-
warming for all, and 
meaningful for Walter.

create
today’s moments

Life histories

‘Walter fought in the Korean War and holds 
great respect for ANZAC day and Remembrance 
Day. These days, and the lead up to, are 
emotional days for Walter and require staff to 
offer him additional emotional care at these 
times.’ 

(extract from Walter’s Leisure and Lifestyle Plan)
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Recruitment of Home 
Care Coordinator 

Fiona Vizard is paying 
dividends for older 
people in the Hesse Rural 
Health community and 
assisting them to remain 
at home longer under the 
Commonwealth Home 
Care Package Program. 
Hesse’s program currently 
supports 15 clients which 
represents a threefold 
annual increase and is well 
on its way to reaching 30 
clients by 2019, a target set 
by the Board last year.

Under a consumer directed 
model, clients are able to 
determine how they wish 
to utilise their package 
funds. Funding allocations 
are dependent upon 
assessed needs and can 
range between $8,000 and 
$49,500 for a level 1 and 4 
package respectively.  

The program employs 
home care workers, with 
nationally recognised 
certificate qualifications 
in aged care, who are able 
to respond to care needs 
and provide domestic 
assistance and community 
transportation. Equipment 
to support living at home 

can also be purchased 
from the package. Hesse’s 
point of difference is the 
application of a mixed 
brokerage and internally 
resourced model of care 
delivery and coordination, 
and as an established 
public healthcare 
organisation has available 
registered nurses and allied 
health personnel to address 
professional healthcare 
needs. 

Fiona has a degree in 
nursing, prior experience 
in case management and 
skills in public relations 
and marketing. She assists 
clients to formulate care 
plans and choose how 
to utilise their allocated 
funding to meet expressed 
needs.

Health issues had restricted 
Wal (pictured above) and 
Lucy (front cover) who 
both chose Hesse Rural 
Health as their home 
care provider. Without 
family living nearby and 
neither able to drive, 
access to the community 
had become increasingly 
difficult for the couple. 
Their package funds a 
home care worker to 
provide essential transport 
to medical appointments 
and for weekly shopping 
outings. Contracted home 
maintenance and gardening 
services are also included.  
With this support they have 
been able to continue living 
in their home together, 
safely and independently. 
They are both extremely 
grateful for the service 

and value the support it 
provides. 

Computer literacy and 
internet connectivity can 
be a barrier to accessing 
home care packages 
in rural areas. Of the 
22 clients currently on 
Hesse’s waiting list for 
Commonwealth home care 
package allocation, 95% 
do not own a computer. 
However Fiona says people 
should not be discouraged 
as she is able to assist.

To access a home care 
package go to www.
myagedcare.gov.au and 
search for Hesse Rural 
Health, or just ring us and 
ask for Fiona (Home Care 
Coordinator).

remain at

home
longer

Helping older people



19Operations Report

Lynette Henderson 
had been a member of 

the Winchelsea Hospital 
Auxiliary for five years 
when she stepped up as 
President. After serving in 
the role for 11 years, she is 
standing aside to focus on 
her health. 

Of the Auxiliary 
achievements, she is most 
proud of the Op Shop, an 
initiative of which she was 
a key instigator. Traditional 
cake stall sales were labour 
intensive for diminishing 
returns. A lucrative trash 
and treasure stall sparked 
an idea to sell unwanted 
donated goods on a more 
permanent basis. 

Lynette says, ‘We 
approached Peter (CEO) 
and asked him if we could 
use the former Masonic 
Lodge as our shop front. 
He said ‘yes’ and with the 
help of the Lions Club we 
cleaned it out and went 
from there’.

‘None of us had a clue 
what we were doing in the 
beginning and perhaps 
we still don’t, but we have 
learnt a lot’, she laughs. 
While the group may 
be self-confessed retail 
novices, they must be doing 

something right, having 
raised in excess of $535,000 
since the Op Shop opened 
in 2012. While some of the 
funds raised have provided 
for smaller quality projects 
and equipment, the 
group is keen to make a 
significant contribution to 
Hesse’s next capital project. 
In the meantime funds 
have been directed to the 
purchase of king single 
beds across the residential 
facility. 

Lynette says the initiative 
has taught her about the 
generosity of people.  
Goods arrive from across 
the state. ‘It’s amazing 
how far connected the 
people of Winchelsea are.  
Customers respect that we 
keep our prices low, there 
is no window dressing, 
expensive rental costs, nor 
paid staff and they like 

that they are donating to a 
worthy cause.’

Lynette spends hours 
each week along with 
other members sorting, 
displaying and selling 
goods and arranging 
collections. 

Thirty-five members are 
keen to honour not only her 
dedication, contribution 
and commitment but also 
her great sense of humor. 
She has a fabulous ability 
to make even the most 
tiresome tasks fun, says 
Merle Rigby, Auxiliary 
Treasurer. ‘We will often 
turn around and find her 
wearing a funny hat or 
wig she has dug up from 
donated goods. We all have 
a good laugh and it helps 

to keep us energised and 
motivated.’

‘Everything we do is 
because we love doing it. 
We work hard but we have 
loads of fun’, Lynette says. 

The Auxiliary also wishes 
to acknowledge the 
retirement of Joan Johns 
this year after 12 years of 
service, including seven 
serving at the Op Shop.

leadership in
Acknowledging

fundraising
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Realising opportunities 
for quality and 

service development 
initiatives are increasingly 
challenging for smaller 
health care organisations 
with restricted human and 
financial capacities in a 
sector with rising business, 
quality, safety and 
compliance expectations.

In 2015 a group of 
CEOs and Board Chairs 
within Polwarth area 
of the Barwon South 
Western region jointly 
acknowledged this 
challenge and identified 
potential for improved 
outcomes with a unified 
approach. After many 
meetings to discuss 
matters of mutual interest 
and consider service 
development opportunities 
it was agreed to formalise 
the arrangements. So 
began the Polwarth 
Partnership, an alliance of 
six local health services; 
Colac Area Health, Otway 
Health, Lorne Community 
Hospital, Timboon & 
District Healthcare Service, 

Terang & Mortlake Health 
Service and Hesse Rural 
Health.

The Polwarth Partnership 
acknowledges the existence 
of strengths and capacities 
within each of the services 
that would be valuable to 
share. More specifically 
the aim is to strengthen 
and improve the safety 
and quality of services, 
enhance and introduce new 
services, make existing 
corporate structures and 
systems more robust and 
sustainable, undertake 
governance activities and 
place Boards in a more 
informed position to take 
positive action for their 
individual health service.

The first function that the 
group undertook yielded 
results, with the August 
2017 appointment of Dr 
Didir Imran as District 
Director of Medical 
Administration, employed 
by Colac Area Health with 
funding contributed by 

the member agencies. Dr 
Imran provides medical 
credentialing oversight, 
supports Visiting Medical 
Officer relationships, 
assists agencies to 
undertake clinical review 
in circumstances of 
adverse outcomes and is 
currently involved in the 
establishment of clinical 
quality benchmarking 
systems. Peter Birkett, 
CEO, says ‘Dr Imran’s 
appointment is a significant 
step for smaller agencies 
such as Hesse, and will 
provide us with clinical 
support to maintain high 
quality standards’.

Dr Imran addressed the 
Hesse Board of Directors 
in February to outline 
his role. He is also an 
active clinician on the 
sub-regional South West 
Health Accord (hA+) 
Clinical Council, of which 
Hesse Rural Health is also 
a member agency. The 
Health Accord comprises 

health service executives 
and senior clinicians to 
establish clinical quality 
reform following the 2016 
report Targeting Zero: 
Supporting the Victorian 
Hospital System to 
Eliminate Avoidable Harm 
and Strengthen Quality of 
Care.  

Strengthened relationships 
between the local services 
were also behind Hesse’s 
recent change in payroll 
contract provider to Colac 
Area Health. A biometric 
time and attendance system 
linked to rosters with 
inbuilt award interpreters 
was introduced in April, 
eliminating paper based 
timesheets and improving 
workforce planning and 
remuneration management. 
Other shared workforce 
project initiatives are 
planned.

partnerships
New
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One differentiating 
aspect between rural 

and metropolitan based 
health services is the need 
for a bushfire emergency 
plan as part of business risk 
management operations. 
In the unlikely, but not 
implausible, scenario of 
a bushfire threatening 
facilities, strategies to 
respond to ensure the 
safety of patients, staff and 
residents must be in place. 

Hesse Rural Health found 
itself on the receiving 
end of a call for help in 
March this year from 
Cobden Health CEO, 

Leonie Rooney, when 
peat fires in the district 
compromised air quality 
with excessive carbon 
monoxide levels. Concerns 
for the respiratory impact 
on residents in the aged 
care facility caused an 
evacuation. A local school 
was also temporarily shut 
down. 

Fortuitously Hesse had 
space to accommodate 
seven of Cobden’s aged 
residents who required 
temporary relocation.
The residents remained at 
our Winchelsea facility for 
a five week period until it 
was safe to return home. 

This logistical exercise 
resulted in transfer of 
care arrangements, and 
Cobden Health staff drove 
to all receiving facilities 
on a daily basis providing 
a familiar face to the 
residents and responding to 
their needs for equipment, 
clothing, medications 
and other supplies. By 
all accounts the Cobden 
residents enjoyed their 
unintended ‘holiday’ and 
were generous in their 
compliments for their new 
abode. Two residents, Les 
and Ray, enjoyed it so 
much they asked to stay on. 

Much to the delight of 
the catering team who 
have been working hard 
to achieve improved food 
satisfaction levels, Les and 

Ray were most impressed 
with the quality of Hesse’s 
home cooked meals. Ray 
enjoyed being orientated 
to his new Winchelsea 
community on his gopher 
and Les now shares his 
meals in the dining room 
with other residents, 
something he rarely did 
before.

So what is the secret to a 
successful Code Brown 
implementation? The 
answer in part certainly 
lies in the establishment 
of good local inter-service 
relationships. We were only 
too pleased to help out the 
neighbours and we know 
they would have done the 
same for us.

neighbour
in need

Helping out a
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Unintended outcomes 
are often a product of 

participation in research 
and evaluation. Such has 
been the result in Hesse’s 
ongoing participation in 
the U-Age Consortium, an 
international collaboration 
of researchers in Norway, 
Sweden and Australia, 
led by Professor David 
Edvardsson from La Trobe 
University, Melbourne, and 
Umea University, Sweden. 

The journey for Hesse 
began in 2010 when 
researchers at the 
University of Stirling’s 
Dementia Services 
Development Centre, 
Scotland, expressed 
interest in Hesse’s newly 
commissioned rural 
dementia environment, 
Werruna. The particular 
needs of people living 
with dementia in rural 
areas were vastly under 
explored and a group of 
researchers across five 
European countries were 
keen to understand more. 
Prof. Edvardsson was one 
of those researchers and 

in Hesse he recognised a 
compassionate and values 
based organisation that 
also wanted to improve 
outcomes for rural people 
and who was willing to 
contribute to a growing 
international knowledge 
base. His interest extended 
beyond rural dementia 
care and into cost effective 
ways of improving the 
quality of life for people 
in residential facilities by 
better understanding how 
to deliver person centred 
care.

Fast track to 2018 and after 
five years of collaboration 
with Prof. Edvardsson 
and his colleagues 
internationally through 
A Person Centred and 
Thriving Promoting Care 
Model for Residential 
Aged Care and earlier 
research projects, many 

associated outcomes could 
be identified. Research 
literature identified 
concepts of magnetism 
in organisations with a 
reputation for quality 
leadership, clinical care 
and devotion to best 
practice (Jordan 2009). 
This paralleled Hesse’s 
experiences. 

A poster titled Creating a 
Magnet Nursing Home: 
Practice Outcomes from 
an International Research 
Collaboration was accepted 
for the 24th Nordic 
Conference of Gerontology 
in Oslo, Norway, in May 
and authored by Andrea 
Dunlop, Peter Birkett and 
Professor Edvardsson.

The poster demonstrated 
interconnected translational 

outcomes of the research 
at Hesse involving 
reflective practice. These 
included increasing goal 
oriented multi disciplinary 
teamwork, improved 
stakeholder perceptions of 
organisational quality & 
satisfaction, values driven 
leadership, opportunities 
for community 
engagement, workforce 
recruitment & retention, 
and a growing local & 
national organisational 
reputation.  

For a small rural health 
service in Australia, 
to have such learnings 
worthy of presentation in 
a prestigious Scandinavian 
research environment 
was a true organisational 
honour. 

magnet
Creating a

Practice Outcomes from an International 
Research Collaboration

nursing home

Creating a Magnet Nursing Home: Practice Outcomes from International Research Collaboration
Andrea Dunlop BAppSc (OT), MHlthSc1, Peter Birkett RN, BCom, MBA1, David Edvardsson RN, PhD, Professor2,3

1 Hesse Rural Health, Winchelsea, Australia, 2
 School of Nursing and Midwifery, LaTrobe University, Melbourne, Australia, 3 Department of Nursing, Umeå University, Umeå, Sweden

RESULTS
Although the primary focus of the research was to improve 

the knowledge base of staff and the experience of thriving 
and person centred care for residents, staff and families, 
translational outcomes from the research participation  
were perceived to contribute to a growing magnet 
reputation of the health service. 

Outcomes included increasing goal-oriented multi-
disciplinary teamwork, improved stakeholder perceptions 
of organisational quality and satisfaction, values-driven 

leadership, opportunities for community engagement, 
workforce recruitment and retention, and a growing local 

and national organisational reputation. Such impacts were 
noted to be interconnected and compounding.

BACKGROUND
The term ‘magnet’ has been applied, since the 1980’s, to hospitals 
and care facilities achieving recognition for their ability to attract 
and retain nurses despite widespread workforce shortages 
(McClure et al 1983). 

Initial research identified 14 ‘forces of magnetism’ that 
characterised such facilities including, among other things; quality 
of nursing leadership and care, flat organisational structures and 
decentralised decision making processes, well developed quality 
improvement systems, competitive nursing salaries and benefits, 
interdisciplinary relationships and a professional development 
environment (Jordan 2009). 

Systematic literature reviews support positive outcomes of magnet 
designation on professional nurse practice environments (Salmond 
et al 2009). However, the concept remains encapsulated 
by professional nursing terms including 
workforce recruitment and retention with 
less attention being given to broader 
organisational benefits.

 xxxxxxxxxxxxx

CONCLUSION
While the magnet concept has relevance for identifying nursing professional 
development and workforce retention excellence in aged residential care, the 
translational impact and importance of research participation exceeded the 
boundaries of the current magnet concept. A broadened range of the magnet 
concept seems required to include research participation and reflective 
practice processes. Values based research objectives, such as person-
centred care, may also assist in aligning workforce intrinsic caring motivations 
more effectively with organisational ethics. Significant organisational 
outcomes may be achieved when academic research and reflective practice 
processes are integrated directly into residential aged care environments. 
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Advanced care planning 
is a process that 

enables individuals to 
determine their future 
healthcare provision. 
It provides direction to 
healthcare professionals 
when a person cannot 
make or communicate their 
own healthcare choices. 

Barb Stephenson, Hesse’s 
Acute and Residential 
Care Manager, commonly 
supports aged residents 
through an advanced care 
planning process. ‘I regard 
it as a privilege to have this 
conversation with people, 
as they share immensely 
personal beliefs, values and 
attitudes during this time,’ 
she says. 

While the concepts of 
respecting patient choices 
and advanced care 
planning have long been 
established, important 
changes were legislated 
in Parliament under the 
Medical Treatment and 
Decisions Act 2016 and 
came into effect in March.  
The legislation introduced 

new terminology, replacing 
the term Advanced Care 
Plan, with Advanced Care 
Directive, strengthening the 
consumer imperative. An 
Advanced Care Directive 
now includes legally 
binding instructions about 
future medical treatment 
a person consents to or 
refuses. 

Anyone can make an 
Advanced Care Directive, 
however it is more 
commonly undertaken as 
people start to contemplate 
a phase of life when 
health status can change 
rapidly. Decisions that 
are outlined within an 
Advanced Care Directive 
are communicated 
to medical and other 
treatment personnel. This 
avoids others making 
independent decisions on 
a person’s behalf based on 
assumption. 

Barb says, ‘While it’s ideal 
to establish an Advanced 
Care Directive, it does 
require people to consider 
potential future health 
circumstances, and many 
people do not wish to do 
that or simply put it off. My 
job is to use my experiences 
to help people understand 
the value of the process’. 
She has observed the peace 
of mind an Advanced Care 
Directive gives families 
who may otherwise feel 
responsible for making 
life impacting decisions 
on behalf of a loved one. It 
can also alleviate conflict 
or non-consensus amongst 
families. 

An Advanced Care 
Directive is often also 
used to outline end of 
life wishes. All patients 

and residents are offered 
the opportunity to 
formulate an Advanced 
Care Directive upon or 
soon after admission into 
the acute and residential 
facility and currently 57% 
of residents have one.  

As a part of our obligation 
to ensure our communities 
are well informed about 
Advanced Care Directives 
the Resident & Carers 
and the Consumer & 
Community Advisory 
Committees have now 
learned about the process. 

The Office of the Public 
Advocate is also a key 
source of information.   

Advanced
care directives
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Aged Care Minister 
Ken Wyatt told the 

National Press Club 
in October 2017 that 
loneliness is one of the 
most disturbing trends he 
sees in residential aged care 
and quoted figures that 
up to 40% of residents in a 
single year do not receive 
any visitors at all.

These startling figures 
prompted Hesse Rural 
Health to undertake its 
own local research and this 
revealed some interesting 
counter findings which 
may point to the strength 
of rural community 
connections.  

Results identified that 
only 3% of aged persons 
residing at Hesse’s 
residential facility did not 
receive a visitor in the 
last year. In our smaller 
rural based service there 
are many factors that 
encourage visitation. 

CEO Peter Birkett says 
‘Accessible building design; 
fresh and welcoming 
environments; communal 
spaces and inviting garden 
areas all play a role to 
make it a more pleasurable 
experience for loved ones 
to visit. The school is across 
the road and our local 
service groups are well 
engaged. Kinsfolk or not, 
rural people also often just 
randomly ‘pop in’ to visit 
people they know.’

However growing 
recognition of loneliness 
appears to be worldwide. 
In January the United 
Kingdom firmly put the 
spotlight on the issue by 
creating a Minister for 
Loneliness in the British 
parliament.  

Loneliness can also be 
alleviated in other ways 

through good observation, 
assessment processes 
and care planning. The 
basic need for human 
connection is a priority 
for Hesse staff who 
search for creative ways 
to facilitate interpersonal 
connections for all residents 
and especially those with 
reduced family access. This 
includes one-to-one visits 
by volunteers and spiritual 
carers and facilitation 
of video contact over 
computer based platforms 
such as Skype. Hesse has 
23 volunteers who work 
within the aged care 
environment and develop 
important relationships 
with residents. 

Following Minister Wyatt’s 
comments, Australian 
Ageing Agenda (AAA), an 
independent magazine and 
news website addressing 

aged care matters, noted 
Hesse’s recent research 
focus on thriving and 
person centred care 
and invited members 
of the research team to 
submit an editorial on 
the issue of loneliness. 
The article, published in 
the February edition of 
Australian Ageing Agenda 
encouraged all residential 
aged care providers to look 
beyond physical care needs 
and consider dedicated 
initiatives to reduce the 
experience of loneliness 
among those they care for. 

It was a significant 
compliment that our 
service was selected to 
comment on this important 
and complex issue. 

loneliness
Addressing

in aged care
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Over consecutive 
Strategic Plans the 

Hesse Rural Health Board 
of Directors identified the 
need for independent living 
options to complement 
existing community and 
aged residential services in 
Winchelsea. Sound reasons 
for the objective had long 
been acknowledged, 
including circumstances 
where an elderly resident 
moves into permanent care 
leaving their spouse or 
partner alone and rurally 
isolated.

However, limited land 
space and funding 
barriers had precluded the 
realisation of the strategic 
objective. 

Thanks to a collaboration 
between the Surf Coast 
Shire and Hesse Rural 
Health the objective has 
now been achieved. After 
a review of business 
models the Surf Coast 

Shire approached Hesse 
and sought interest in the 
acquisition of five existing 
independent living units 
at the corner of Hesse 
and Armytage Streets, 
Winchelsea. 

The proposal involved 
a transfer of the assets, 
with Hesse accepting the  
responsibility for existing 
contracts including exit 
payments at the conclusion 
of tenure. The transfer 
aims to retain the intent 
of the units under a social 
model targeting people in 
retirement years. 

An external business 
review was undertaken 
and the Board proceeded to 
settlement in October 2017. 

The land was gifted to the 
former Shire of Winchelsea 

in 1985 by the Department 
of Housing and the units 
were independently 
constructed about this 
time. With street frontage 
they border 10 Department 
of Housing owned 
units. The Department 
of Housing had initially 
been approached by the 
Shire to acquire the units 
but had declined. The 
existing tenants were kept 
informed with the progress 
of negotiations and were 
positive about the change 
of ownership arrangement. 
The units are also located 
adjacent to Hesse Rural 
Health’s Winchelsea 
Social Support Program 

(ADASS) at 53 Hesse Street, 
a building which is still 
owned by the Surf Coast 
Shire.  

Morven attends the Social 
Support Program and has 
lived in one of the units for 
18 years. She says she is 
happy to have the health 
service as her new property 
owner due to existing 
positive relationships 
with staff. A true win-
win arrangement for all 
parties and the broader 
community. 

retirement
living options

Sustaining

Filling the
service gap
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Sustaining

Research designed for 
improved outcomes 

for consumers of health 
services does not always 
translate into practice 
change for staff. However a 
pain management research 
project involving Hesse’s 
aged residential facilities 
has overcome this using a 
phased approach based on 
action research principles. 

The Intervene Phase 2 
– Best Practice Pain 
Management in Residential 
Care for People Living 
with Dementia project is 
led by HammondCare, 
a leading not for profit 
organisation specialising in 
residential aged care, and 
funded by the Cognitive 
Decline Partnership 
Centre at the University 
of Sydney through the 
National Health and 
Medical Research Council 
(NHMRC).

The two year project 
aims to improve pain 
identification and 
management for residents 
with a diagnosis of 
dementia. Following initial 
data collection including 
surveys of staff knowledge 
and practices, family 
attitudinal surveys and 
audit results of clinical 
documentation, the 
project is now entering an 
important second phase.

Interim results have 
identified that between 32% 
and 47% of people with 
dementia participating in 
the study may not have 

their pain needs adequately 
met. It was also found 
that staff were unfamiliar 
with best practice pain 
management guidelines 
and, when caring for 
residents with dementia, 
were less confident in 
identifying their pain 
levels. 

Hesse is one of four 
residential aged care 
sites across Australia 
participating in this 
research project and 
following the withdrawal 
of a major metropolitan 
public sector aged care 
provider, is now the only 
Victorian service involved. 
Representatives from the 
multi disciplinary local 
project teams from each of 
the participating facilities 
attended a fully funded 
Sydney based workshop 
during the year to explore 

methods to address 
practice gaps identified by 
the research. 

Workforce education on 
pain assessment is the 
focus of the second stage 
of the project. Annie Coles, 
Director of Care, explains 
‘the Abbey Pain Scale, 
already in use at Hesse, 
assesses vocalisation, facial 
expression, change in 
body language, behaviour, 
physiological and physical 
changes and can also 
distinguish between acute 
and chronic pain.’ 

Learning modules require 
staff to complete an Abbey 
Pain Scale before and after 
watching a series of five 
vignettes. The final phase 
of the research will analyse 

the results and evaluate the 
effectiveness of the training 
program.

A promotional catch 
phrase designed to 
promote clinical judgment 
and informed use of the 
standardised assessment 
tools, ‘Observe a change, 
consider pain, do the 
Abbey,’ is bringing the 
focus squarely on pain as 
a possible contributor to 
behavioural changes in 
people with dementia. 

Action research provides 
opportunities for 
immediate implementation 
of new practice initiatives 
and that is critical 
whenever pain is involved. 

consider pain
Observe a change,
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Some said they felt 
as though they were 

attending a conference at 
the November Whole of 
Staff Forum held at Eastern 
Reserve, Winchelsea.  
Leadership, Kindness and 
Resilience were themes 
of the event, designed 
to facilitate interaction 
and networking among 
Hesse employees. Eighty 
staff enjoyed a delicious 
morning tea and barbeque 
lunch catered locally by the 
Lions Club and the Foxes 
Den. 

The key note presentation 
was delivered by Ms 
Christine Nixon, the 
Former Victorian Police 
Commissioner who 
conveyed her personal 
journey of leadership, 
demonstrated through 
values of hard work and 
being prepared to step 
up. Her ability to simplify 
complex systems by 
seeking the perspective of 
those working at a grass 
roots level was inspiring. 
Many enjoyed hearing 
Ms Nixon’s commitment, 
determination and 
advocacy for women in the 
workplace and especially 
her resilience when times 
got tough. Her take-home 
message was that everyone 

has the capacity to be a 
leader, either formally 
or informally in their 
everyday roles, by choosing 
a positive approach. 

Staff participated in a 
workshop and became 
part of a growing kindness 
momentum throughout 
Victoria’s health sector. The 
Gathering of Kindness, was 
inspired by Dr Catherine 
Crock, a paediatrician 
at the Royal Children’s 
Hospital and founder of the 
Hush Foundation, and in 
partnership with Safer Care 
Victoria, Monash Health 
and the Victorian Managed 
Insurance Agency. 

Staff discussed and 
reflected on a series 
of videos designed to 
stimulate thinking about 
restoring kindness in health 
care for better staff and 

patient outcomes. The clips 
focussed on understanding 
the perspective of 
others, the error of hasty 
assumptions & judgements 
and the impact that words 
can have.

Local community member 
Murray Aisbett, provided 
a humorous and refreshing 
account of the kindness 
he received, growing 
up in a boy’s home in 
Geelong. Former care 
leavers are increasingly 
acknowledged as having 
unique health needs 
resulting from the impact 
of institutionalisation. 

As a fitting tribute to the 
themes of leadership and 
kindness the day concluded 
with the launch of the song 
‘Because You Care,’ with 
lyrics and music composed 
by Mr John Carr OAM, 

former Hesse Rural Health 
Board President. Mr Carr 
told the staff he wrote 
the song in dedication 
to their excellent work 
and the contribution of 
our volunteers as they 
engage with Hesse’s core 
purpose of ‘people caring 
for people’. The song has 
been kindly gifted to Hesse 
Rural Health. 

As a compliment to the 
organisers, among the 
evaluation were comments 
such as ‘The best forum in 
23 years’ and ‘These forums 
are engaging and diverse, 
they keep getting better 
and better’. 

Leadership &

kindness
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Because

Dedicated to Hesse’s staff and volunteers by John Carr OAM

When illness comes to call on me
I seek to ease my misery
You come along and touch my hand
I can but feel at once you understand
Why this is so I’m not aware
Is it because, because you care?

When you’re unwell and feeling blue
I take the time to visit you
To ease your mind and calm your soul
Create a feeling that will make you whole
This is my hope and I declare
It is because, because I care

The pain I see it troubles me
My calling is to set it free
I’ll listen, talk, check how you feel
And I’ll devote my skills so that you heal
I see my place as being there
It simply is because I care

The bond we make as we share time
Provides a way of being fine
It helps me grow
So now I find that I acquire the gift of being kind
The troubles go
They’ve been repaired
I know it now because you cared
Because we care
Because we care

Performed by: Dani Fry, Molly Fry & Luke Tonkin
Lyrics: John Carr
Arrangement: John Carr and Graeme Hodge
Recorded at: Redwood Studios Ballarat 2017
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Funded through the 
Commonwealth Home 

Support Program, Hesse’s 
Social Support Groups 
operating from both 
Beeac and Winchelsea 
are positively regarded 
throughout the region. 

Registrations during 
2017-2018 have peaked 
at 113, and 11 separate 
groups operate over a 
two week period. The 
groups share the common 
goal of promoting social 
connectedness, maintaining 
independence & autonomy 
and reducing isolation for 
people in their older years 
or those with a disability. 
Wellness, re-ablement and 
restorative care are the 
principles on which the 
program is based. 

The Program was 
successful in a joint 
application with Colac Area 

Health for a $74,000 Home 
and Community Care social 
support grant. It means 
undertaking joint activities 
with both Winchelsea and 
Colac Planned Activity 
Groups focussing on 
activities involving creative 
art therapies, purposeful 
movement and social and 
community engagement. 
The funding has already 
provided extended 
program opportunities 
including a very enjoyable 
trip to see the Wizard of 
Oz at the Regent Theatre 
followed by high tea at 
the Windsor Hotel in 
Melbourne. 

A home cooked meal, 
active and engaged 

volunteers and an inclusive 
atmosphere have been 
regarded as some of 
the key ingredients for 
program success. Arguably, 
what makes the real 
difference are the skills of 
a very cohesive team of 
Activities Workers who are 
responsible for planning, 
implementing and 
evaluating the program.  
Kylie, Lisa, Erika, Caz, 
Natasha, Glenda and 
Jeanette were asked their 

views on the secret to 
planned activity program 
success. Enthusiasm is 
evident from their answers 
scattered throughout this 
page.

If laughter is a key to 
wellness then the program 
is definitely on the right 
track.  

secrets
of success

The

"We are all very 
passionate, creative and 

proud about  what  we do."
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‘Encouraging, supporting & 
empowering our clients and 
allowing them to make their 
own choices.’

‘We respect our varied and unique 
skills and work well together.’

"We always try to come to 
work happy. Happiness is 

infectious."

‘Acknowledging clients' birthdays or 
personal events  - small gestures are really 

appreciated.’

‘Practising our activities beforehand 
to make sure they work - we never 

want our clients to be disappointed.’

‘Thinking outside 
the box and we 

are always on the 
lookout for a new 

program idea.’

"Structuring our 
activities for all abilities 

to achieve success."

‘We love to dress up and get 
into the spirit of an occasion.

It is so much fun.’

‘Good listening skills. Ideas for our 
programs develop from conversations 
with clients.’

‘The more the merrier! When new 
people join our programs, it’s such a 

compliment.’

"We reflect  on good 
times and take lots 
of photos to help us 
remember."

‘Great planning and attention to 
detail - we love checklists.’

‘Being approachable 
and there to lend a hand 

whenever it is needed.’



32 Operations Report

The strength of a 
rural health service 

may be measured by 
how well it connects 
with the community it 
services. The degree of 
support offered through 
volunteer participation and 
engagement can be a clear 
indicator. 

At Hesse Rural Health 
volunteer participation 
continues at record rates 
in client related program 
support, Hospital Auxiliary 
fundraising and Board 
governance roles. Nearly 90 
individuals, representing 
two volunteers for 
every three permanent 
employees, unconditionally 
give their time and support.  

The single largest area of 
participation is in direct 
client program and service 
areas with 45 registered 
volunteers. Activities 
they undertake can range 
from preparing meals 

for school children at the 
monthly Breakfast Club 
in Rokewood, driving the 
bus for planned activity 
group outings, providing 
denominational spiritual 
care and assisting within 
the leisure and lifestyle 
program in residential care. 

Marie recently joined the 
Hesse volunteer team 
after relocating to nearby 
Armstrong Creek from 
Sydney. Her interest in 
knitting has sparked a 
very enthusiastic group 
meeting each Tuesday in 
the Chelsea Lounge with 
up to nine residents who 
are making pouches for 
rescued wildlife. Her input 
has reignited residents 
former craft interests. 
Annie Coles, Director of 
Care, says ‘The strength 
of Hesse’s volunteer 
involvement stems from 

allowing people to use their 
own interests and skills to 
support what we do and in 
that way they help to keep 
our programs varied and 
stimulating’.  

Auxiliary members have 
made fundraising their 
volunteering objective 
through the lucrative 
Op Shop and also host 
the annual aged care 
residential Christmas 
party. Those seeking a 
broader organisational 
role participate in the 
Consumer and Community 
Advisory Committee to 
help maintain our service 
quality levels and ensure 
consumers are active 
partners in their care.  

From 2018 Board Director 
roles will no longer be 

undertaken on a voluntary 
basis, with the Victorian 
Government recognising 
the enormous time 
commitment involved 
in governance activities. 
However community 
connectedness remains 
critical.

A strong volunteer 
presence offers an outside 
perspective and helps us 
to continuously question 
what we do. Volunteering 
is at the heart of our rural 
community. 

Enquiries and expressions 
of interest from prospective 
volunteers are most 
welcome.

Maintaining

connections
with our community
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Sue was enjoying a sunny 
afternoon in her garden 

when she was unwittingly 
bitten by a skip jack ant.  
She felt the sting, her hand 
began to swell and soon 
her whole body was red 
and itchy. It was when 
her tongue also started 
swelling that she realised 
she needed medical help. 
Fortunately her husband 
Robert was available to 
drive her to Winchelsea 
Hospital Urgent Care.

Shirley, registered nurse 
in charge that day, recalls 
Robert approached her 
at the nurses station 
and described his wife’s 
condition. Immediately 
understanding the gravity 
of the situation, Shirley 
asked, ‘Well, where is she?’  
‘In the car outside’, came 
Roberts’s casual response. 
Shirley says, ‘That’s when 
the nurse in me kicked in 

I’m afraid, and I said to him 
rather directly, “well bring 
her in”’.

When Sue was assessed in 
Urgent Care her face, lips 
and tongue were swollen, 
her speech was impaired, 
blood pressure raised 
and she was bleeding 
from scratching her body.  
Shirley recalled, ‘It was 
clear she was having a 
severe allergic reaction 
and I was really concerned 
that her airways were 
constricted’. Shirley and 
nursing colleague Michelle 
immediately administered 
a dose of adrenaline from 
an EpiPen and contacted 
the GP on call who 
prescribed cortisone. In 
spite of some immediate 
relief Sue was transferred 
via ambulance to a Geelong 

hospital and was admitted 
overnight. 

Anaphylactic reactions tend 
to increase in severity over 
subsequent episodes, so the 
final piece of advice Sue 
received from the nurses as 
the ambulance drove her 
away was to make sure she 
didn’t return home without 
her own EpiPen. 

Used to treat anaphylactic 
reactions including insect 
bites, food, drug or other 
allergies, an EpiPen is a 
prescription medication 
that patients can self 
administer.

A few weeks later a thank 
you card arrived from Sue 
expressing her gratitude. 
Sue says the nurses kept 

both herself and Robert 
calm. She now has her 
own EpiPen and sincerely 
appreciates the availability  
of local 24 hour medical 
care. According to Michelle 
and Shirley the outcome 
could have been serious if 
Sue and Robert had kept 
driving straight through 
Winchelsea to Geelong that 
day (another 40 minutes).

All Hesse registered 
nurses undertake training 
in anaphylaxis and 
deteriorating patient 
training modules every two 
years to keep their skills 
current.

urgent
Local

care

‘… wishing to send my thanks for the care given 
when I presented to the hospital on the 14th March 
2018 with an anaphylactic reaction. Shirley and staff 
remained calm, reassured me and the treatment was 
prompt – thank you and smiles.’ 

(Susan, Bambra)    
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It’s always positive when 
the health service receives 

feedback from consumers 
expressing their gratitude 
for the excellent care and 
services they have received. 
However, this was taken to 
a whole new level this year 
when Mr Danny Ehmer 
presented the Board with 
a cheque to Hesse Rural 
Health for $169,000 from 
the Estate of Mr Charlie 
McDonald. Charlie was a 
former client at the Social 
Support Program and in his 
final months resided within 
Hesse’s aged care facility. 
Danny, the executor of the 
Estate, told the Board how 
much Charlie valued the 
support and care he had 
been given over his many 
years of involvement with 
the health service. 

Charlie had also lived 
in one of the Surf Coast 
Shire’s retirement living 
units and was pleased 
to see Hesse assume 
ownership arrangements 
just before he passed away.  
Without surviving family, 
Charlie was clear in his 
wish to support the further 
development of the health 
service. The bequest is the 
single largest received in 
the history of Hesse Rural 
Health.

The donation will be 
combined with the $95,000 
bequest received in 2016 

by the late John Duff and 
a $100,000 bequest in 
2014 from the late Geoff 
Mathison. 

Chief Executive Officer 
Peter Birkett explained that 
bequests or donations of 
this size make an enormous 
contribution and enable 
significant capital projects 
to get off the ground. It 
will leave a lasting legacy 
for new services in Charlie, 
John and Geoff’s honour. 

However in the meantime 
the Board have agreed 
that in recognition of his 

fondness for the many staff 
who provided his care, a 
small amount of Charlie’s 
bequest be put aside for a 
workforce development 
initiative in the form of an 
educational scholarship for 
a deserving employee. All 
those that knew him say 
that Charlie would have 
approved of that.

legacy
A lasting
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Hesse Rural Health 
(Hesse) confirms 

that details in respect of 
the items listed have been 
retained and are available 
to the relevant Ministers, 
Members of Parliament 
and the public on request, 
subject to Freedom of 
Information requirements if 
applicable.

Board Functions
The Directors contribute 
to the governance of 
Hesse collectively 
through attendance at 
meetings. Individual 
contribution occurs 
through participation in, 
or chairmanship of, the 
various committees of the 
Board. 

Sub-committees include 
Finance, Resources & 
Audit, Clinical Governance 
& Ethics and as needed 
Fundraising & Marketing. 
Board representation 
exists on the Consumer 
& Community Advisory 
Committee.

Payment of Board Members
In accordance with the 
Health Services Act 1988, 
Board Directors of rural 
hospitals in 2017-2018 
were not eligible for 
payment or sitting fees, 
but are reimbursed for 
expenses incurred. From 
2018-2019 a sessional 
payment funded by the 
DHHS will be provided.

Education
Governance education is 
available to Board Directors 
through internal and 
external sources.

Corporate Risk 
Management
The Board has policies 
and procedures in place, 
including a relevant risk 
management framework 
and strategic risk register, 
to ensure that risks are 
managed appropriately.

Clinical Risk Management
All staff are qualified to 
undertake their roles. 
Professional registration is 
checked to ensure relevant 
staff meet the requirements 
of the Australian Health 
Practitioner Regulation 
Agency (AHPRA) or other 
recognised bodies.

Hesse is part of a 
sub-regional approach to 
medical credentialing with 
access to clinical advice 
through a District Director 
of Medical Administration. 
For a comprehensive 
review of our quality 
governance systems and 
clinical outcomes (see 
page 42).

Fees
All fees charged by the 
Service are in accordance 
with the Hospitals 
and Charities (Fees) 
Regulations 1986 and 
otherwise determined 
by the DHHS, the 
Commonwealth 
Department of Social 
Services or Health 
Service as appropriate.

Feedback and Complaints
Consumer feedback is 
valued as a guide to the 
quality of care delivered. 
Feedback, complaints and 

compliance
Statements of

suggestions are welcomed 
and may be directed 
in the first instance to 
program staff or the Chief 
Executive Officer. External 
avenues are available 
to escalate unresolved 
complaints. The Health 
Complaints Commissioner 
can be contacted on 1800 
136 066 for complaints 
related to Victorian health 
programs and services. The 
Commonwealth Aged Care 
Complaints Commissioner 
may be contacted on 1800 
550 582. 

Freedom of Information 
(FOI) Act 1982
The Service operates within 
the guidelines defined 
within the Freedom of 
Information Act 1982 
and its subsequent 
amendments.

For access to medical 
records there is a 
mandatory application 
fee of $28.90 that must 
accompany the written 
charges for searching, 
photocopying and postage.

A member of the public 
wishing to access 
information should make a 
written request to the Chief 
Executive Officer, Hesse 
Rural Health, 8 Gosney 
Street, Winchelsea, Vic 
3241. Further information 
may be sought from www.
foi.vic.gov.au.

Nil FOI requests were 
received.

Privacy
Hesse complies with 
legislation relating to 
confidentiality and 

privacy including the 
Health Services Act 1988, 
Health Records Act 2001, 
Australian Privacy Act 1988 
and Privacy Amendment 
Act 2012. Policies ensure 
that personal health 
information remains 
confidential, secure and 
accessible under FOI 
guidelines.

Buildings and Maintenance
Hesse complies with the 
Building Act 1993, and 
relevant provisions of the 
National Construction 
Code for publicly 
owned buildings during 
maintenance and 
redevelopment.

Protected Disclosure Act 
2012
Hesse is compliant with 
obligations under the 
Protected Disclosures Act 
2012. Protected disclosures 
may be made to the CEO or 
the Protected Disclosures 
Coordinator DHHS on 1300 
131 431. No disclosures 
were made.

Industrial Relations
Conditions of employment 
are in accordance with 
the relevant public sector 
enterprise bargaining 
agreements. Hesse is 
a member of Victorian 
Hospital Industrial 
Association (VHIA) who 
negotiates on Hesse’s 
behalf in the formation 
of new agreements 
and provides advice as 
requested.
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2018 2017 2016
Number of reported hazards / incidents for the year per 100 full time equivalent staff members 34.12 28.27 25.46
The number of lost time standard Worksafe claims for the year per 100 full time equivalent staff members 3.17 2.36 0.80
The average cost per claim for the year $17,584 $17,667 $1,228

1. Workcover accepted claims with an occupational violence cause per 100 FTE. (1 claim) 0.79
2. Number of accepted Workcover claims with lost time due to injury with an occupational violence cause per 1,000,000 hours 
worked. (Hesse staff worked a total of 185,000 hours in 2017-18) 5.37

3. Number of occupational violence incidents reported. 22
4. Number of occupational violence incidents reported per 100 FTE. 17.45
5. Percentage of occupational violence incidents resulting in a staff injury, illness or condition. 9%
Definitions: for	the	purposes	of	the	above	statistics	the	following	definitions	apply.	
Occupational Violence: any incident where an employee is abused, threatened or assaulted in circumstances arising out of, or in the course of, their 
employment. Incident: occupational health and safety incidents reported in the health service incident reporting system. Code Grey reporting is not included. 
Accepted Workcover Claims: accepted workcover claims that were lodged in 2017-18. Lost Time:	is	defined	as	greater	than	one	day.

Occupational Violence Statistics 2017-18

Occupational Health & Safety

Employment and Conduct 
Principles
Hesse is committed 
to the principles of 
merit and equity in the 
workplace with respect to 
employment, promotion 
and equal opportunity. 
An Employee Code of 
Conduct guides responsible 
behaviour in the 
workplace. Employees have 
been correctly classified in 
workforce data collections.

Victorian Industry 
Participation Policy
During 2017-2018 no 
tenders or contracts were 
let or completed with 
a value greater than $1 
million.

Competitive Neutrality
All competitive neutrality 
requirements were met 
along with Government 
costing and health 
purchasing policies for 
public hospitals.

External Reviews
There were no external 
reviews conducted by the 
health service.

Occupational Health & 
Safety Act 2004
Policies and procedures 
provide guidance for 
safety in the workplace. 
Designated workgroups 
have been established 
and representatives are 
elected. No major industrial 
accidents were reported 
during the year. 

Carers Recognition Act 
2012
The Carers Recognition 
Act 2012 recognises, 
promotes and values the 
role of people in care 
relationships. Hesse 
understands the different 
needs of persons in care 
relationships and that care 
relationships bring benefits 
to the patients, their carers 
and to the community. 
Hesse is compliant with 

Section 11 of the Act, 
and takes all practicable 
measures to ensure that 
its employees, agents and 
carers have an awareness 
and understanding of the 
care relationship principles. 
This is reflected in our 
commitment to a model 
of patient and family 
centred care, and the 
involvement of carers in the 
development and delivery 
of our services.

Environmental Impacts
Hesse is committed to 
minimising environmental 
impacts and has in place 
effective systems including 
water harvesting, paper 
waste recycling, reduced 
energy consumption and 
improved reporting & 
monitoring.

Consultancies
There were no 
consultancies where the 
total fees payable were 
$10,000 or greater, and 7 

where the total fees payable 
were less than $10,000. 
Total expenditure incurred 
during 2017-2018 in 
relation to these is $35,401 
(excl. GST).

Safe Patient Care Act 2015 
Hesse has no matters to 
report in relation to its 
obligations under Section 
40 of the Safe Patient Care 
Act 2015.

Publications and 
Information
A range of service 
brochures are freely 
available for consumers 
and carers. Media clips 
on selected programs are 
also available via www.
hesseruralhealth.org.au.
This Annual Report is 
distributed widely and is 
available upon request at 
Hesse Rural Health and on 
the Hesse website. 

Statements of compliance
continued...
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Peter Birkett, Chief Executive Officer
3 September 2018

Kathy Taylor, Chair
3 September 2018

Compliance with Health Purchasing Victoria (HPV) Health 
Purchasing Policies
I, Peter Birkett, certify that Hesse Rural Health Service has put in place 
appropriate internal controls and processes to ensure that it has complied 
with all requirements set out in the HPV Health Purchasing Policies in-
cluding mandatory HPV collective agreements as required by the Health 
Services Act 1988 (Vic) and has critically reviewed these controls and pro-
cesses during the year. 

Financial Management Compliance Attestation
I, Kathy Taylor, on behalf of the Responsible Body, certify that Hesse Rural 
Health Service has complied with the applicable Standing Directions of 
the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 and 
Instructions. 

Peter Birkett, Chief Executive Officer
3 September 2018

Conflict of Interest
I, Peter Birkett, certify that Hesse Rural Health Service has put in place 
appropriate internal controls and processes to ensure that it has complied 
with the requirements of hospital circular 07/2017 Compliance reporting 
in health portfolio entities (Revised) and has implemented a ‘Conflict of 
Interest’ policy consistent with the minimum accountabilities required 
by the VPSC. Declaration of private interest forms have been completed 
by all executive staff within Hesse Rural Health Service and members of 
the board, and all declared conflicts have been addressed and are being 
managed. Conflict of interest is a standard agenda item for declaration 
and documenting at each executive board meeting.

Peter Birkett, Chief Executive Officer
3 September 2018

Data Integrity
I, Peter Birkett, certify that Hesse Rural Health Service has put in place 
appropriate internal controls and processes to ensure that reported data 
accurately reflects actual performance. Hesse Rural Health has critically 
reviewed these controls and processes during the year.

Kathy Taylor, Chair
3 September 2018

Responsible Bodies Declaration
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am pleased to 
present the Report of Operations for Hesse Rural Health Service for the 
year ending 30 June 2018.
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Cash Management Actuals Target
Creditors 23 < 60 days
Debtors 32 < 60 days

Asset Management Actuals Target
Adjusted Current Asset Ratio 0.67 0.70
Days of Available Cash 170.8 14.00

Information & Communications Technology Actuals
Business as Usual Expense (exc GST) $354,913
Non-Business as Usual Expense (exc GST) $0

outcomes
Drivers of financial

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Bed Days (Consolidated) 18,287 19,515 19,431 19,609 19,513
Separations (Consolidated) 25 13 21 19 17

AGED CARE OCCUPANCY

2018 2017 2018 2017 2016 2015
Nursing 29.67 28.96 29.28 29.26 29.28 28.11
Administration & Clerical 10.21 9.62 10.06 9.62 9.88 9.31
Medical Support 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Hotel & Allied Services 31.38 39.40 31.58 32.17 35.43 30.26
Medical	Officers 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Hospital	Medical	Officers 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Ancillary Staff (Allied Health) 8.30 0.84 8.20 7.47 4.99 6.28
TOTAL 79.56 78.82 79.12 78.52 79.58 73.96

WORKFORCE STATISTICS - Full Time Equivalent (FTE)
June Current Month June Year to Date

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Total Expenses 11,176,610 11,618,765 10,809,350 10,495,816 10,106,138
Total Revenue 10,512,708 11,013,258 10,204,047 10,446,496 9,773,155
Other Economic Flows Inc. in Net Result 12,699 16,291 5,040 (13,849) 4,049
Net Result (651,203) (589,216) (600,263) (63,169) (332,983)
Operating Surplus (deficit) (106,003) 247,750 333,617 781,888 146,601
Retained Earnings (accumulated losses) 682,027 1,333,230 1,922,445 2,522,708 2,585,877
Total Assets 19,792,109 18,638,397 18,420,672 17,205,956 16,796,166
Total Liabilities 9,643,107 9,223,785 8,416,845 6,601,866 6,128,907
Net Assets 10,149,002 9,414,612 10,003,827 10,604,090 10,667,259
Total Equity 10,149,002 9,414,612 10,003,827 10,604,090 10,667,259

(Refer to consolidated Financial Statements for details.)

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

51%
Residential 
Aged Care

Admitted Patients
(Flexible Funding)

Other
Primary Health

Home &
Community Care

27%

3%
7%

12%

REVENUE



District Nursing 5,381
Domicilary Midwifery 139
Community Nursing 1,801
Health Promotion 687
Home Care Packages 1,058
Physiotherapy 633
Occupational Therapy 1,431
Dietitian 104
Diabetes Education 96
Social Support Program 16,642
Other 71
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2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Emergency Medical Treatment 144 149 138 167 175
Community Contact Hours (Home and Community Care, 
Commonwealth Home Support and Small Rural Health Service funded) 28,043 29,310 30,686 26,636 24,585

DHHS 
Target Benchmark* Actual

Percentage of staff with an overall positive response to safety and culture questions. 80% 92% 93%
Percentage of staff with a positive response to the question:
   ‘I am encouraged by my colleagues to report any patient safety concerns I may have.’ 80% 96% 95%
   ‘Patient care errors are handled appropriately in my work area.’ 80% 95% 96%
   ‘My suggestions about patient safety would be acted upon if I expressed them to my manager.’ 80% 93% 94%
   ‘The culture in my work area makes it easy to learn from the errors of others.’ 80% 90% 94%
   ‘Management is driving us to be a safety-centred organisation.’ 80% 94% 91%
   ‘This health service does a good job of training new and existing staff.’ 80% 85% 93%
   ‘Trainees in my discipline are adequately supervised.’ 80% 88% 90%
   ‘I would recommend a friend or relative to be treated as a patient here.’ 80% 93% 91%

NON-ADMITTED PATIENTS - Contact Hours

PEOPLE MATTER SURVEY - Governance, Leadership & Culture

SEPARATIONS 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Acute 63 63 78 75 59
Non-Acute 0 0 0 0 3
Same Day 1 2 2 3 2
Total Hospital Separations 64 65 80 78 64

WIES  (Weighted Inlier Equivalent Separations)

WIES Public 108 73 99 84 73
WIES Private, DVA & TAC 5 90 55 48 41

PATIENT BED DAYS
Acute 662 1,010 918 948 822
Non-Acute 0 0 0 0 303
Same Day 1 2 2 3 2
Total Hospital Patient Days 663 1,012 920 951 1,127

ADMITTED PATIENTS

* Benchmark data represents the average achieved by all Small Rural Health Services.
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The Statement of Priorities is a key document of accountability between the Department of Health and Human 
Services (DHHS) and Hesse Rural Health as a small rural public health service.  This agreement defines the 
government’s key priorities and required actions, and identifies Hesse’s 2017-2018 deliverables and outcomes.

Goals Strategies Health Service 
Deliverables Outcomes

Better Health
A system geared 
to prevention 
as much as 
treatment

Everyone 
understands 
their own health 
and risks

Illness is 
detected and 
managed early

Healthy 
neighborhoods 
and communities 
encourage 
healthy lifestyles 

Reduce Statewide Risks

Build Healthy 
Neighborhoods

Help people to stay 
healthy

Target health gaps

Undertake population health risk 
reduction programs including breast, 
bowel, hearing and skin primary 
prevention screening and well women’s 
clinics across the catchment.

In partnership with the Golden Plains 
Shire and the Joanna Briggs Clinical 
Fellowship Program, and in alignment 
with the goals of G21 and the Central 
Highlands Primary Care Partnership, 
implement and evaluate a community 
development project within the 
Rokewood and district community that 
increases health literacy with regard to 
healthy food choices. 

In partnership with Ballarat Community 
Health and Golden Plains Shire, 
undertake the health promotion of the 
Kindergarten Achievement Program 
focussing on oral health and healthy 
eating for pre-schoolers. 

Review and evaluate the effectiveness 
of the Beeac men’s health program and 
identify new opportunities to facilitate 
improved health and socially inclusive 
lifestyles.

Achieved
Breast, bowel, hearing, 
skin and well women’s 
clinics facilitated

Achieved
Successful program now 
expanding into the Dereel 
community

Achieved
Program ongoing in line 
with integrated health 
promotion plan

Achieved
Results identify program 
value and expansion 
opportunities

Better Access
Care is always 
there when 
people need it

More access to 
care in the home 
and community

Plan and invest

Unlock innovation

Develop a partnership with a local 
geriatrician to provide specialist clinical 
advice for complex care planning in the 
aged residential service.

Based on the preliminary results from 
the ‘Developing a Person Centred 
and Thriving Promoting Care Model’ 
international research with La Trobe 
University, implement a valid and 
reliable assessment tool that captures 
resident experience and informs care 
planning.

In Progress
Planning commenced 
with involvement of 
District Director of 
Medical Administration

In Progress
Ongoing partnership with 
La Trobe University and 
reliability of tool currently 
being evaluated

Statement of

priorities
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Goals Strategies Health Service 
Deliverables Outcomes

Better Access - Continued
People are 
connected to the 
full range of care 
and support they 
need

There is equal 
access to care

Provide easier access

Ensure fair access

Expand Hesse’s Home Care initiative 
under the Commonwealth Home 
Support Program to ensure service 
viability and to improve client capacity 
to age well in their home environment.

Participate in a community led forum 
providing access to legal, financial, 
health, home services and residential 
care information for seniors.

Achieved & Ongoing
Threefold annual increase 
in clients receiving home 
care packages

Achieved
In excess of 130 attendees 
at October Forum

Better Care
Target zero 
avoidable harm

Healthcare that 
focusses on 
outcomes

Patients and 
carers are active 
partners in care

Care fits together 
around people’s 
needs

• Put Quality First
• Join up care
• Partner with patients
• Strengthen the 

workforce
• Embed evidence
• Ensure equal care

3 Mandatory actions 
against the ‘Target zero 
avoidable harm’ Goal:
Develop and implement 
a plan to educate staff 
about obligations to 
report patient safety 
concerns.

Establish agreements to 
involve with external 
specialists in clinical 
governance processes for 
each major area of activity 
(including mortality and 
morbidity review).

In partnership with 
consumers, identify 3 
priority improvement 
areas using Victorian 
Healthcare Experience 
Survey data and establish 
an improvement plan for 
each. These should be 
reviewed every 6 months 
to reflect new areas for 
improvement in patient 
experience.

Participate in and implement local 
actions of the Barwon-South Western 
region Quality Manager’s discharge 
planning project to improve discharge 
processes for health consumers.

Address patient feedback concerns 
regarding the amplification of noise 
from within the service areas of the acute 
hospital.

Develop and implement an education 
package tailored to the needs of the 
health service which informs staff across 
the organisation about their obligations 
to report patient safety concerns.

Seek agreement with the sub regional 
Director of Medical Administration to 
provide clinical governance oversight 
to Hesse Rural Health including sub 
regional mortality and morbidity 
benchmarking in partnership with the 
Polwarth Alliance. 

To review and improve levels of food 
quality, taste, choice, presentation and 
temperature to meet the expectations 
of consumers and families at the 
Winchelsea acute and residential aged 
services.

Not Achieved
Regional Project on hold

Achieved
Improved signage and 
electronic door closure 
installed

Achieved
Education package 
delivered to all staff 
during 2018

In Progress
Benchmarking data 
collection underway in 
association with District 
Director of Medical 
Administration

Completed
Patient and resident 
satisfaction feedback 
levels improved
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Donald Lang, Chair
Clinical Governance & 
Ethics Sub-Committee

As always there is 
plenty to talk about 

in relation to clinical 
governance and quality. 
We have seen the continued 
quality and safety narrative 
in health and aged care 
marked by the introduction 
of the Victorian Health 
Legislation Amendment 
(Quality and Safety) 2017, 
and an ongoing focus on 
quality outcomes with new 
draft aged care standards 
and an independent 
Commonwealth Aged 
Care Quality and Safety 
Commission. Hesse has 
been well engaged in the 
dialogue. 

An organisational 
representative was invited 
by the Australian Aged 
Care Quality Agency 
(AACQA) to participate 
in the National Standards 
Guidance Reference 
Group (SGRG) to support 
the development of 
guidance material for 
the proposed Aged Care 
Quality Standards. The 
invitation recognised our 
perspective as a smaller 
rural public health service 
with expertise in dementia, 
and was also a result 
of our 2016 partnership 
project with AACQA and 
Australian Council on 
Healthcare Standards in 
trialling the development 
of a joined up quality 
accreditation system.

Our commitment to 
research and best practice 
is apparent by our ongoing 
participation in the 
U-Age Consortium led 

by La Trobe University, 
Melbourne, Umea 
University, Sweden, 
and University of Oslo, 
Norway. A poster was 
submitted and selected 
for presentation at the 
24th Nordic Congress 
of Gerontology in Oslo, 
detailing the positive 
organisational impact 
of engaging in ongoing 
research. Implementation 
of new approaches to pain 
management also continues 
in the Intervene Phase 2 
Project– Best Practice Pain 
Management in Residential 
Aged Care for People 
Living with Dementia led 
by Hammondcare and 
funded by the National 
Health Medical Research 
Council (NHMRC).

At a local level we now 
have enhanced clinical 
oversight with the 
recruitment of Dr Didir 
Imran, District Director of 
Medical Administration 
(DDMA), through the 
Polwarth Partnership. 
Dr Imran is assisting 
with clinical review, 
Visiting Medical Officer 
(VMO) credentialing, 
and the development 
of benchmarked shared 
quality indicators 
throughout Polwarth 
member agencies. Whilst 
measurement and key 
performance indicators 
have their role, smaller 

services without big 
data must rely on other 
measures such as robust 
clinical review to evaluate 
whether care and service 
has been as it should. This 
provides assurance to our 
communities at a level they 
expect. 

We achieved a satisfactory 
outcome following an 
unannounced contact visit 
by the AACQA in May, 
with all reviewed standards 
met in our residential aged 
care services. Next year will 
see further quality surveys 
for re-accreditation under 
the revised National Safety 
and Quality Health Service 
standards and Aged Care 
Quality Standards. We are 
well placed for ongoing 
success in this area.

In what is my final year 
on the Hesse Board, and 
as Chair of the Clinical 
Governance and Ethics 
Committee, I reflect 
upon the foundation of 
quality outcomes that 
have been built at Hesse 
over many years and on 
our combined willingness 
to be at the forefront 

of new approaches. I 
wish to thank my fellow 
committee members 
for their commitment 
to the stewardship of 
organisational safety and 
quality, and management 
and staff for their clinical 
leadership and dedication 
to operational quality 
outcomes. Quality truly is a 
team effort. 

Welcome
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Plan

Implement

Monitor

Evaluate

Re-assess

Hesse’s Quality and 
Clinical Governance 

system is overarched 
by a Quality and Risk 
Management Framework. 
The Clinical Governance 
and Ethics Committee 
assumes governance 
responsibility for all aspects 
of quality and safety and 
reports to the Board of 
Directors. 

The Quality and Risk 
Frameworks follow an 
action based continuous 
improvement model: 
identify, plan, implement, 
monitor, evaluate and re-
assess. 

Senior staff and executive 
managers meet regularly 
to operationalise and 
monitor organisational 
quality levels through 
the Quality Leadership 
Committee. Clinical 
Review, Medication 
Advisory, Consumer and 

Community Advisory 
and Occupational Health 
and Safety committees 
and workgroups also 
discuss, monitor and 
make decisions to improve 
quality levels relevant to 
their scope of reference. All 
staff play a critical role in 
the maintenance of quality 
levels.

A General Services 
Coordinator role was 
added to the organisational 
structure, and we welome 
Ms Pauline Fletcher
into the position, who 
will oversee  important 
quality initiatives in 
catering, cleaning 
and maintenance 
programs.

Other recent 
developments have 
included increased 
clinical case review of 
incidents rated as having 
a moderate level of 

severity (ISR 2), improved 
clinical benchmarking,  
more efficient meeting 
procedures and whole of 
workforce targeted quality 
and safety education. 
The Board has signed 
a Memorandum of 
Understanding along with 
other agencies to form the 
South West Health Accord 
(hA+) Clinical Council 

addressing sub-regional 
shared patient centred 
quality projects.

This year the organisation 
undertook a self assessment 
with the Victorian 
Managed Insurance 
Agency on matters 
relating to strategic risk 
management. The results, 
benchmarked against 
other services will inform 

a review of Hesse’s 
risk management 

framework.

Quality
systems
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Safety and Quality Target 2017-18 2016-17

Health Service Accreditation Full 
Compliance Achieved Achieved

Compliance with Cleaning Standards Full 
Compliance Achieved Achieved

Compliance with Hand Hygiene Program 80% 56% 91%
Healthcare Worker Immunisation - 2017 Flu Season 75% 77% 85%
Staphylococcus Aureus Bacteraemia (SAB) < 2 / 10,000 0 0
% of patients over 75 years with an Advanced Care 
Directive in place - Acute Not set 14% 56%

% of patients over 75 years with an Advanced Care 
Directive in place - Residential Not set 57% 90%

Sentinel Events Nil 0 0
Mortality - Number of Deaths in Low Mortality 
Diagnostic Related Groups (DRGs) * Nil 0 0

* This indicator was withdrawn during 2017-18 and is currently under review by the Victorian Agency for Health Information.

Public Sector Residential Aged Care
Quality Indicators (per 1,000 bed days)

Overall 
Statewide Rates 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16

Pressure Injuries Stage 1 0.35 0.26 0.00 0.00
Pressure Injuries Stage 2 0.35 0.53 0.00 0.49
Pressure Injuries Stage 3 0.05 0.00 0.00 0.00
Pressure Injuries Stage 4 0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00
Falls 7.66 9.19 6.92 5.06
Fall Related Fracture 0.15 0.00 0.12 0.00
Suspected Deep Tissue Injury 0.02 0.00 0.00 0.00
Unstageable Pressure Injury 0.03 0.00 0.12 0.00
Intent to Restrain 0.28 0.00 0.00 0.00
Use of Physical Restraint Devices 0.53 0.00 0.00 0.00
Multiple Medications - 9 or More 4.40 3.68 2.46 2.12
Significant	Weight	Loss	(	>	3	Kgs) 0.78 0.79 0.47 0.82
Unplanned Weight Loss (Consecutive) 0.78 0.53 0.47 0.65

Patient Experience Target 2017-18
Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey: (VHES) 
Data Submission

Full
Compliance Achieved

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey: (VHES) 
Positive Patient Experiences Quarter 1, 2, & 3

95% Positive
Experience

Full
Compliance *

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey: (VHES) 
Discharge Care Quarter 1, 2, & 3

95% Positive
Experience

Full
Compliance *

* Less than 42 responses received - no result is recorded.

Learning from situations 
and identifying 

opportunities for changed 
practice when things go 
wrong is an important 
part of our obligations as 
a public health service. 
Organisation wide 
clinical and safety related 
incidents are collected, 
monitored and reported 
via the Victorian Health 
Incident Management 
System (VHIMS) dataset 
using Riskman software. 

Reporting occurs to the 
Clinical Governance 
and Ethics Committee 
and to the independent 
government authority Safer 
Care Victoria as necessary.

Of the total recorded 264 
clinical incidents two 
were rated as a moderate 
severity. None were rated 
as severe. Detailed in 

depth multi disciplinary 
case review occurred in 
both instances involving 
a resident arm and hip 
fracture. Outcomes 
included purchase of a 
hover mat to aid safe and 
dignified resident transfer 
and maximise worker 
safety, improved falls 
flowcharting and better 
continence management. 

incidents
Clinical

Severe

Incident 
Severity 
Rating

Moderate

Mild

No Harm / 
Near Miss
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The Medical Treatment 
Planning and Decisions 

Act 2016 recognises that 
treatment should not 
be provided without 
consent unless there are 
exceptional circumstances. 
Advanced Care Directive, 
replaces Advanced Care 
Plan terminology, and 
provides for a person with 
decision making capacity 
to make legally binding 
decisions about their future 
care in the instance they 
become no longer able to. 
All community and acute 
patients and aged care 
residents are encouraged 
to formulate an Advanced 
Care Directive and are 
provided with information 
about this process. New 
procedures have been 

issued to staff to advise of 
legislation, terminology 
and procedural changes.

A community based 
educational forum 
provided encouragement 
for older persons to appoint 
a Medical Treatment 
Decision Maker. Engaging 
communities is a key aspect 
of Hesse’s obligations 
outlined within Victoria’s 
End of Life and Palliative 
Care Framework.

advanced care directives

Comprehensive 
care requires that 

a consumer receives 
coordinated and seamless 
multidisciplinary 
healthcare. Existing 
processes and 
documentation have been 
reviewed against revised 
National Safety and Quality 
Health Service standards, 
and new procedures 
developed which focus 
more effectively on 
consumer partnerships 
for coordinated 

health care delivery.  
Improvements have 
included: development 
of a nursing assessment 
and screening checklist; 
improved admission and 
screening process; a multi 
disciplinary comprehensive 
care plan; consumer 
directed goals of care 
plan and accompanying 
guidance notes. All health 
disciplines, along with 
consumer representatives 
have been involved in the 
development of the new 

documents and workforce 
education undertaken.

A successful 6 month trial 
of the End of Life Care 
Pathway (EoLCP) based 
on best practice guidance 
The Palliative Approach 
Toolkit 2012, occurred 
across the residential and 
acute areas. Changes in 
processes of care are in 
line with the Australian 
Commission on Safety 

and Quality in Health 
Care’s National Consensus 
Statement: Essential 
Elements for Safe and High 
Quality End of Life Care. 
Further education on the 
palliative phase including 
best practice symptom 
management is ongoing.  

New procedures have also 
been implemented for 
effective management of 
delirium.

end of life care

Comprehensive care

2017-2018
Residents

2017-2018
Acute Patients

2016-2017
Residents

2016-2017
Acute Patients

2015-2016
Residents

2015-2016
Acute Patients

Clients with Advanced Care 
Plans or Advanced Care 
Directives > 75 Years
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Understanding
workforceSatisfaction

Each year public sector 
organisations across 

Victoria are invited by the 
Victorian Public Sector 
Commission (VPSC) to 
participate in the People 
Matter Survey. This survey 
provides a measurement 
of the opinions of staff 
regarding key public 
sector values and 
employment principles, 
and a key indicator of 
workplace culture. Hesse 
is benchmarked against 
all small rural health and 
multi-purpose services 
across the state. In 2017 
49% of all Hesse employees 

completed the online 
survey, an increase from 
21% in 2016.

Hesse’s results met or 
exceeded the benchmark 
for comparator Small Rural 
Health Services in 14 areas. 
Top scoring questions 
were: ‘I believe the work 
that I do is important’ 
(100% employees), ‘I enjoy 
the work in my current job’ 
(97%), ‘My organisation 
provides high quality 
services to the Victorian 
Community’ (97%) and ‘I 

clearly understand what I 
am expected to do in this 
job’ (95%).

Planned actions were 
implemented in response 
to lower yielding survey 
results and included better 
promotion of workplace 
policies and procedures, 
improved communications 
to the workforce on 
Protected Disclosures, 
Receiving of Gifts, Conflicts 
of Interest and Charter of 
Human Rights, improved 
appraisal mechanisms 
and information on how 
to raise matters of conflict, 

bullying or grievance in the 
workplace.  

Training
Staff participate in 
mandated training 
programs relevant 
to their workgroup. 
Compliance rates across 
the 12 mandatories ranged 
between 82% and 95% 
during 2017 with most 
exceeding 88%. A planned 
improvement is to establish 
benchmarking. Mandated 
categories include hand 
hygiene, elder abuse, 
fire and emergency, 
manual handling, 
smart lift, responsible 
workplace behaviors, 
medication safety and 
aseptic technique. Staff 
participated in learning 
opportunities in 95 separate 
topic areas relevant to their 
roles. 

People Matter Survey - 2017 Results

Impartiality

Leadership

Responsiveness

Integrity

Human Rights

Accountability

Respect

Merit

Avenues of Redress

Fair & Reasonable Treatment

Equal Employment Opportunity

Feedback

Job Satisfaction

E�ective Promotion of Policy & Procedure

Engagement Index

Role Enablers

Leading Change

Intrinsic Reward

Role Clarity

Patient Safety

Experienced Discrimination

Experienced Bullying

Note:    symbol indicates average acheived 
by Small Rural Health Services.
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Approaches to the 
prevention and 

control of healthcare 
associated infections are 
guided by an annual 
Infection Prevention Plan 
developed with support 
of a regional infection 
prevention consultant. 
Relevant policies and 
antimicrobial stewardship 
is monitored and reviewed 
by the Quality Leadership 
Committee, Medication 
Advisory Committee, and 
endorsed by the Clinical 
Governance and Ethics 
Committee. Antimicrobial 
stewardship is in line with 
Australian Therapeutic 
Guidelines. 

All staff are mandated to 
participate in annual hand 
hygiene training and a rate 
of 95% was achieved in 
2017. Ninety one per cent 
of registered and enrolled 
nursing staff completed 
training in Aseptic 
technique. Observational 
‘moments of hand hygiene’ 
are monitored, audited and 
reported to VICNISS to 
promote compliance with 
procedures. Hand hygiene 

stations are strategically 
placed at doorway 
entrances of the Hesse 
acute hospital and nursing 
home to promote external 
visitor and contractor 
compliance.

A suspected cluster of 
gastroenteritis amongst 
aged care residents in 
2017 was effectively 
managed, monitored and 
contained. Pathology 
testing was undertaken, 
and confirmed negative. 
A post outbreak survey 
was undertaken amongst 
staff to evaluate practices 
and improvements 
included alignment of 
‘gastroenteritis’ and 
‘outbreak’ kits, improved 
communication exchange 
including yellow alert 
labelling and the use 
of a communications 

noticeboard with real time 
outbreak updates. 
Healthcare worker 
immunisation rate of 
77% was achieved in 
2017, above the statewide 
benchmark of 75%. The 
DHHS has raised the 
expected target in 2018 to 
80%. Ninety-nine percent 
of all residents accepted 
the influenza vaccination. 
Hesse supported the 

training of a nurse 
immuniser in 2018 to 
promote education and 
access. 

Consumer feedback 
from the September 
2017 Victorian Hospital 
Experience Survey (VHES) 
rated cleanliness of hospital 
rooms, bathrooms and 
toilets at 98%, above the 
statewide benchmark.

Infection
 prevention

2016 Flu Season

2015 Flu Season

2017 Flu Season

2018 Flu Season

2014 Flu Season

86%

77%

85%

61%

46%

Healthcare Worker Immunisation Rates
Note:    symbol indicates DHHS expected target.

Limited dedicated 
bathroom and toilet 

disability access for clients 
presenting to Urgent Care 
has been identified. The 
Consumer and Community 
Advisory Committee has 
further raised privacy and 
dignity concerns related 
to public corridor access. 

Funding has not been 
secured, but will continue 
to be sought to address 
this priority issue. It will 
be listed on the Disability 
Action Plan required 
to be submitted to the 
Department of Health and 
Human services by 30 June 
2019. 

Members of the workforce 
participated in STEP-
tember, a health and 
wellbeing initiative 
promoting daily exercise. 
Employees raised 
$2,094 supporting 
children with 
cerebral palsy during 
the 2017 campaign.

access for people with disabilities
Improving
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Note:    symbol indicates DHHS expected target.

A project to connect 
newly arrived mains 

pressure natural gas to 
the Winchelsea hospital 
and aged care facility has 
commenced. It requires 
replacement of pipework in 
the ceiling space and after 
initial outlay for installation 
costs will result in ongoing 
cost efficiencies. 

The organisation has 
been offered an interest 
free government loan 
to install solar panels to 

further promote energy 
savings. Immediate real 
time cost benefits are being 
evaluated. Following 
successful application to the 
Bell Charitable Foundation, 
an area in the Chelsea 
Lodge gardens is being 
prepared for the installation 
of a children’s playground. 

The exterior of Beeac 
Community Health Centre 
was repainted and the 
front driveway is being 
resurfaced. Following 

installation of the new 
septic tank, the gravel 
area adjacent to the Men’s 
Shed in Rokewood has 
had further crushed rock 
laid to allow for improved 
drainage of grey water. 

Two formerly leased 12 
seater buses were acquired 

at the conclusion of their 
contract term, expanding 
our fleet to four. All 
buses have undergone 
a comprehensive 
maintenance program with 
external assessment to 
ensure safety. 

& equipment
environment

External

Hesse is committed to 
protecting children 

from all forms of abuse in 
line with responsibilities 
outlined in the Child 
Safety and Wellbeing 
Act 2005 and Child Safe 
Standards. New policies 
and guidance material have 
been developed and are 
available to the workforce 
that outlines organisational 
responsibilities  to 
report allegations of 
physical, sexual or 

psychological misconduct 
towards children to the 
Commission for Children 
and Young People under 
the Reportable Conduct 
Scheme. Working with 
Children checks are 
required for any staff who 
have direct contact with 
children as part of their role 
and all staff sign a discrete 
code of conduct pertaining 
to children.

Child
safe standards

Hesse Rural Health 
is committed to the 

prevention of family 
violence and effective 
response, and is an 
active participant in the 
Strengthening Hospitals 
Response to Family 
Violence (SHRFV) program 
initiative. The project is 
funded by the Department 
of Health and Human 
Services over four years. 
Hesse joins Barwon Health, 
Colac Area Health, Lorne 

Community Hospital 
and Otway Health in a 
sub-regional approach. A 
Steering Committee has 
responsibility for project 
oversight. Milestones have 
included the recruitment 
of a Project Coordinator 
and Project Officer, 
provision of Board Director 
education, the development 
of service specific family 
violence workforce 
policies, implementation 
of industrial family 

violence leave provisions 
and participation in 
statewide and regional 
forums. A suite of 
resources is currently 
under development 
including marketing 
materials, tailored 
workforce education 
aimed at increasing 

awareness and procedure 
development focussing 
on sensitive enquiry and 
referral support services.

to family violence
Responding
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Adherence to 
medication procedures 

is critical for consumer 
safety. All incidents are 
recorded, corrective actions 
implemented and trends 
monitored. Awareness 
and reporting culture 
is positive. Governance 
reporting occurs to the 
Medication Advisory 
Committee and the Clinical 
Governance and Safety 
Committee. A total number 
of 21 medication related 
incidents occurred, a 
figure consistent with prior 

years. The most frequent 
incident type was ‘omitted 
dose’ (30%) and ‘incorrect 
dose’ (15%). There was 
a single occasion of both 
‘incorrect medication 
type being administered’ 
and a ‘medication 
being administered 
to the wrong patient’ 
and two occurrences of 
the administration of a 
medication to a resident 
with an identified allergy. 
Appropriate medical 
follow-up ensured no 
adverse outcomes resulted 

from these higher risk 
situations. Pharmacy 
dispensing errors were 
significantly improved 
from prior years. Data 
for residents on multiple 
medications and 
appropriate prescription of 
antipsychotic medications 
is also collated, reviewed 
and changes implemented. 

Hesse participates in 
both the Residential 
Medication Management 
Review (RMMR) and 
Quality Use of Medicines 

(QUM) program providing 
independent review of 
an individual resident’s 
prescribed medications and 
a whole of service focus on 
procedural practices by an 
accredited local pharmacist.

A project listed with the 
South West Health Accord 
(hA+) Clinical Council 
and funded by Better Care 
Victoria will address sub-
regional hospital pharmacy 
related matters. 

Medication
safety

2018
Medication
Errors

2017
Medication
Errors

2015
Medication
Errors

2016
Medication

Errors

The 24 hour nature 
of healthcare makes 

communication between 
health professionals, 
both internally and at an 
interagency level, a critical 
aspect of safe and quality 
care. Handover proformas, 
written prompts on a 
per shift basis to assist 
staff to care for allocated 
patients, have received 
further review and now 
include general health 
status, medication and 
pain alerts, continence aids 
and ‘Resident of the Day’ 
comprehensive assessment 
requirements. The revisions 

have followed an inclusive 
and iterative process and 
have undergone staff 
evaluation to maximise 
useability.   

Patient and resident 
allocation models 
are currently being 
investigated to 
individualise care and 
improve responsibility for 

safe communication on a 
per shift basis in line with 
ratio obligations under the 
Safe Patient Care Act 2015. 

Discharge planning and 
coordination of follow 
up care has also been 

improved through staff 
education  on how to 
navigate and refer patients 
to appropriate community 
based services using the 
Commonwealth My Aged 
Care website. 

Communicating
for safety & discharge planning
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2018
Medication
Errors

Falls management is 
a delicate balance 

between maintaining an 
ageing person’s rights 
& opportunities for 
independent movement, 
and appropriate care & 
intervention to prevent 
unnecessary harm. 

There were 153 recorded 
falls across all service 
areas, a figure consistent 
with prior years. Ninety-
three percent occurred in 
residential aged care. Those 
living in Hesse Lodge with 
higher care needs comprise 
nearly one-half of total falls.

The National Ageing 
Research Institute (NARI) 
assessment tool is used to 
evaluate falls risk levels for 
all patients and residents. 
Assessments are regularly 
reviewed, and additionally 
when a resident’s health 
situation changes.  
Improved flowcharting 
and workforce education 
has been undertaken, 
along with new procedures 
for screening cognition 
and delirium, both 
known predictors of falls.  
Improved monitoring of 
neuro-observation post 
falls, traffic light falls 

audit reports of post 
management follow up 
and analysis of data have 
better linked falls with 
psychotropic medication 
prescription. The majority 
of falls occur in bedroom 
areas and effective 
continence management is 
critical.

Wider than standard single 
beds are known to reduce 
falls risks and improve 
comfort levels. A king 
single bed replacement 
program is underway 
funded by the Hospital 
Auxiliary.

harm from falls
Preventing

2016 

2015

2017

2018

Number of Falls

153

152

121

157

There was a total of 50 
reported occupational 

health and safety related 
incidents, an increase 
from 36 in 2016-2017. 
Approximately one 
third related to instances 
of verbal or physical 
aggression due to 
challenging behaviours 
of people with dementia.  
There were six accidental 
slips or trips, five manual 
handling issues and 
three reported hazards. 
All incidents were 
appropriately actioned. In 
response to an identified 
trend and statewide focus 
on improving responses to 
occupational violence and 
aggression, independent 
staff safety experts Holland 
Thomas were engaged to 
undertake a security review 

at the Winchelsea campus. 
This followed the successful 
educational series during 
2017. Six fixed and three 
portable pendant duress 
alarms were acquired to 
improve response and 
support staff during 
incidents of threatened 
safety.

An adjustable workstation 
was trialled to improve 
employee long term health 
outcomes.

An asbestos audit report 
undertaken by independent 
consultants under the 
direction of the Victorian 
Asbestos Eradication 
Agency and Worksafe 
Victoria identified above 
expected levels of asbestos 
in the Beeac Community 

Health Centre. An asbestos 
Safety Plan was established 
with strategies including 
improved signage and 
appropiate registration.

safety & security
Health
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Research has found 
high levels of 

malnourishment can exist 
for older persons in home, 
hospital and residential 
care settings. Weight loss 
is only one indicator. The 
correct application of 
validated malnutrition 
screening tools can also 
highlight issues. The 
establishment of referral 
thresholds for specialist 
dietetic advice following 
high risk screening was 

implemented along 
with improvements in 
monitoring individual 
food consumption and 
weight loss prevention 
action planning. Screening 
tools are currently being 
reviewed.

Inter-disciplinary 
meetings with the catering 
coordinator, dietitian and 
nursing care team have 

yielded positive outcomes 
including cost effective 
methods of fortifying milk 
and increasing calorie 
intake for high risk patients 
and residents.

Hesse’s dietitian has 
provided specialist 
professional development 
education to care 
staff on the topic of 
malnourishment.

weight loss
Unplanned

An unannounced 
assessment contact 

visit by the Australian 
Aged Care Quality Agency 
occurred in May. Resident, 
family and staff interviews 
along with observation 
and document review 
occurred in relation to 
standards 1.4 Comments 
and Complaints 2.13 
Behavioural Management, 

2.4 Clinical Care and 4.7 
Infection Control.

The former Aged Care 
Accreditation Standards 
and Home Care Standards 
have been replaced by a 
single set of Aged Care 
Quality Standards and 
all future accreditation 
reviews will follow an 

unannounced model. 
Hesse’s next full 
accreditation review will 
occur against the new 
framework. Similarly there 
has also been revision of 
the National Safety and 
Quality Health Service 
Standards since Hesse last 

achieved accreditation for 
acute, urgent care, hospital 
in the home and post acute 
care services. Changes are 
underway to ensure we 
meet revised standards in 
all services. 

accreditation
Quality & safety

status
Service Assessed Last Accreditation Achieved Accreditation Due Required Quality Standards

Hospital, Urgent Care, Hospital in 
the Home, Post Acute Care

May 2015
(Full) June 2019

National Safety & Quality 
Health Service Standards

(2nd edition)

Residential Aged Care July 2015
(Full) August 2019 Aged Care Quality

Standards

Residential Aged Care May 2018 
(Unannounced Contact) Unknown Aged Care Quality

Standards

Home Care Services Dec 2016 2019 
To be advised

Aged Care Quality 
Standards

Commonwealth Home Support 
Program:

(Occupational Therapy, 
Physiotherapy, District Nursing, 

Social Support)

Feb 2016 2019 
To be advised

Aged Care Quality 
Standards
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Regular observation 
of skin integrity 

enables better outcomes 
for prevention of pressure 
injuries. Once developed, 
the smallest skin tear 
can lead to serious 
complications. People 
with decreased mobility 
are at higher risk. Daily 
skin inspection, regular 
position changes, effective 
hygiene, continence 
management and skin care 
are embedded into work 
practices. Fifteen residents 
deemed at risk of pressure 
related injuries have 
been supplied specialised 

pressure relieving 
mattresses. Hesse’s 
occupational therapist has 
also assisted in sourcing 
other individualised 
products for residents to 
reduce risks. Monitoring 
of pressure injuries follows 
a risk based approach and 
all identified injuries are 
clinically documented 
and reported including 
appropriate staging.

Pressure injury awareness 
month in November 
provided an opportunity to 
promote better workforce 
understanding of reporting 
requirements, including 
the use of a flowchart 
linking the process of 
pressure care prevention 
with management 
documentation.

Effective
skin care

Understanding the range 
of needs of our diverse 

communities is important 
to be an inclusive, 
respectful and accessible 
healthcare service. 
Hesse aims to promote 
improved workforce 
knowledge about less 
understood sections of our 
communities. Diversity 
is broader than cultural 
heritage and also represents 
people experiencing other 
forms of marginalisation. 
A local consumer expert 
addressed the 2017 
Whole of Staff Forum 

about their childhood 
experience of institutional 
care. The presentation 
addressed common 
concerns and health needs 
of  ‘Care Leavers’ and 
other information was 
provided about Forgotten 
Australians, Former Child 
Migrants, and the Stolen 
Generations. Interpreter 
services are arranged and 
available to consumers of 
Hesse’s programs when 
English is not the preferred 
language. There were no   
occasions of interpreter use 
during 2017-2018. 

Diversity
& inclusion

Understanding Diversity: 
Workforce Education

Institutional Care
Leavers

Palliative Care

Disability

Younger Onset Dementia

Service Assessed Last Accreditation Achieved Accreditation Due Required Quality Standards

Hospital, Urgent Care, Hospital in 
the Home, Post Acute Care

May 2015
(Full) June 2019

National Safety & Quality 
Health Service Standards

(2nd edition)

Residential Aged Care July 2015
(Full) August 2019 Aged Care Quality

Standards

Residential Aged Care May 2018 
(Unannounced Contact) Unknown Aged Care Quality

Standards

Home Care Services Dec 2016 2019 
To be advised

Aged Care Quality 
Standards

Commonwealth Home Support 
Program:

(Occupational Therapy, 
Physiotherapy, District Nursing, 

Social Support)

Feb 2016 2019 
To be advised

Aged Care Quality 
Standards
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Hesse has a multi- 
layered approach to 

working collaboratively 
with consumers at the 
individual and strategic 
levels. Consumer 
representation has 
been strengthened by 
attendance at the Clinical 
Governance and Ethics 
Committee as well as the 
Board. Membership of the 
Consumer and Community 
Advisory Committee 
(C&CAC) has reduced with 
the sad loss of Maureen 
Ludmon and resignations 
of Christine Burns and 
Pam Brayton. Maureen’s 
memorial service was 
inspired by the C&CAC, 
in recognition of her 
longstanding contribution 
to Hesse Rural Health. 

The group is seeking new 
membership. 

C&CAC meetings shared 
information about how 
to raise a complaint to 
the Commonwealth 
Aged Care Complaints 
Commissioner and under 
the new Victorian Health 
Complaints Act 2016. 
Advanced Care Directives 
and revised Partnering 
with Consumers Standard 
in the 2nd edition of the 
National Safety and Quality 
Health Service Standards 
was also discussed. 
The Committee analyse 
organisation wide feedback 
and suggestions and make 
relevant recommendations. 
C&CAC sponsorship of 

the Health and Wellbeing 
Award in the Winchelsea 
Art Show continued and 
acceptable literacy levels 
were reviewed in 
health service 
produced 
brochures. 
Members are 
continuing to 
explore their 
representative 
role with planned 
local education and 
partnerships following 
Hesse’s successful hosting 
of the 2017 regional 
consumer networking 
event. 

consumers
Partnering with

Compliments

66
Feedback

1

Complaints

5

Suggestions

3

Must express how important it was to me to have the nurses come everyday. I left the [other] 
hospital weak, thin and completely shattered by my experience. They cared for more than my 

wound. They held my broken pieces so gently and bit by bit, day by day they put me back together. 
I will always remember them for the vital role they played in the most difficult of times. I wish them 
long and successful working lives.                                                                 
                                                                                                      (Client – Community Nursing)
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Staff, in accordance with 
the Consumer Feedback 

and Complaints Policy, are 
encouraged to be open to 
all feedback received and 
address matters raised or 
escalate issues promptly 
as necessary. Feedback 
and suggestion forms are 
promoted to consumers 
to raise concerns or 
provide other responses to 
services received. Eighty 
eight percent of feedback 
received in 2017-2018 
were compliments and 7% 
complaints. Complaints 
were addressed and 
related to issues of site 
water drainage, adherence 
to community nursing 

appointment times and a 
service provider contractual 
issue. Food quality 
complaints significantly 
reduced this year. Staff 
training, ongoing menu 
review and a new reporting 
structure proved successful 
strategies.

There were two formal 
complaints escalated to the 
Chief Executive Officer and 
both were satisfactorily 
resolved. An outcome was 
the increased accessibility 
of public WIFI access to 
residents, patients and 
visitors.

Hesse participates in 
the Victorian Health 
Experience Survey 
(VHES), an independent 
government survey post 
episode of care. No valid 
result was yielded for 
acute care due to low 
volume activity. Telephone 
discharge surveys are 
also undertaken. VHES 
community results yielded 
a 95% satisfaction score 

with 30 questionnaires 
received, a 27% response 
rate. The Home Care 
Service client survey 
demonstrated positive 
overall client experiences. 
A suggestion, now 
appropriately actioned, was 
for more timely account 
payment.

& complaints
Feedback

Improvements to the 
internal environment 

in acute and residential 
aged facilities increase 
sense of place and 
wellbeing. Lounge and 
dining chairs were 
refurbished preserving 
existing Australian timber 
hardwood. Installed 
electronic doors from 
Chelsea Lodge into the 
outdoor garden surrounds 
allow independent resident 
access and increased 
opportunities for natural 
sunlight exposure. 
Courtyard ambience has 
improved with acquisition 
of new barbeque tables 
and chairs and ground 
level air conditioning 
operating systems have 

been repositioned onto the 
roof space. 

Full room makeovers 
are undertaken by 
the maintenance and 
housekeeping team 
prior to new resident 
admissions. This includes 
minor repairs, repainting, 
curtain dry cleaning and 
where necessary carpet 
replacement. A project 
to progressively hang 
55 flat-screen televisions 
throughout the residential 
bedrooms has released 
circulation space and 
increased opportunities 
for residents to personalise 
their rooms. The Foxtel 
trial concluded and it is 
now accessible to all rooms 

without cost. Resident 
focus groups have assisted 
in the selection of carpet 
ahead of facility wide 
replacement.

Community donations 
have allowed the 
acquisition of five new 
artwork pieces with themes 

extending internationally. 
An antique chaise lounge 
provides a point of interest. 
The partial removal of the 
corridor wall adjacent to 
the craft room has opened 
the space and resulted in 
improved resident access 
and socialisation.

environment
Living
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Integrity

Creativity
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Integrity
Person 
      CentrednessExcellence

Inclusiveness
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John Carr
Treasurer

comment
Treasurer’s

Hesse Rural Health 
this year continued to 

demonstrate responsible 
financial governance as 
we navigated changed 
business structures 
following aged care 
reform and cut backs 
to ACFI funding. The 
Commonwealth’s allocation 
of home care packages 
directly to consumers, 
allowing them to choose 
their preferred provider, 

sees Hesse well placed to 
support local people ageing 
well in their homes or on 
their farms.  Initial results 
have resulted in increased 
program demand, and 
pleasingly this expanding 
business unit broke even 
during the year, despite 
some capital outlay for an 
additional fleet vehicle and 
a portable office.  However, 
a clear impact of expanded 
community based programs 
has been the decline in our 
residential occupancy in 
both Hesse Rural Health 
and Winchelsea Hostel 

and Nursing Home Society 
Inc. Overall this has led 
to a significant budgeted 
revenue shortfall of 
$520,000.

With responsive 
management actions 
Hesse produced a pre-
depreciation deficit of 
$106,003. Whilst this 
outcome represents a 
short term hurdle, we are 
reminded of the need to 
critically review our budget 
and develop a strategy 
suitable to current revenue 
opportunities. 

Our building stock is 
ageing across all primary 
care and parts of residential 
aged care and we continue 
with plans to renovate, 
refurbish and replace. This 
has also played a role in 
the impact on residential 
demand, occupancy and 
financial outcomes. We 
are, however, working 
towards a master planning 

exercise and will inform 
the community when it 
is completed in the next 
financial year. 

Our total revenue from 
operating activities was 
$10,099,657, and of this 
the small rural hospital 
funding received from 
the Victorian Department 
of Health and Human 
Services accounted for 
$3,689,074. Whilst this 
valuable flexible funding 
model continues we 
are able to sustain our 
integrated rural service 
structure with programs 
in acute, urgent care and 
community. The acquisition 
of 5 Winchelsea based 
independent living units 
(see p. 26) broadens our 
financial scope resulting 
in additional land and 
building assets on the 
balance sheet. 

The Board wishes to 
extend their thanks to 
Davidsons Accounting 
for their ongoing financial 
management, objectivity 
and diligence. I recommend 
this financial report to you. 
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Financial and Other Information
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIONS

Charter and Purpose
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FRD 22H Purpose, Functions, Powers and Duties 1 & 2
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FRD 22H Organisational Structure 6
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of Hesse Rural Health Service 

Opinion I have audited the consolidated financial report of Hesse Rural Health Service (the health service) and 
its controlled entities (together the consolidated entity), which comprises the: 

• consolidated entity and health service balance sheet as at 30 June 2018 
• consolidated entity and health service comprehensive operating statement for the year then 

ended 
• consolidated entity and health service statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• consolidated entity and health service cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• board member's, accountable officer's and chief finance & accounting officer's declaration. 

In my opinion, the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial positions of the 
consolidated entity and the health service as at 30 June 2018 and their financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of the 
Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the Australian 
Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of the 
health service and the consolidated entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My staff and I 
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. 

Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the financial 
report 

The Board of the health service is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial Management Act 1994, 
and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the health service and the 
consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 

Other 
Information  

 

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the Other Information and accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the Other Information. However, in connection with my 
audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the Other Information and in doing so, consider 
whether it is materially inconsistent with the financial report or the knowledge I obtained during the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If, based on the work I have performed, I 
conclude there is a material misstatement of the Other Information, I am required to report that fact.  I 
have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report 
based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the health service and the consolidated entity’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the health service and the consolidated 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I 
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the health service and the consolidated entity to cease to continue as a 
going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the health service and consolidated entity to express an opinion on 
the financial report. I remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
audit of the health service and the consolidated entity. I remain solely responsible for my audit 
opinion. 

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I 
identify during my audit. 

 
 

 
MELBOURNE 
4 September 2018 

Ron Mak 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on this day. 

MS K. TAYLOR MR P. BIRKETT MR S. WIGHT

Chairperson (on behalf of the Board) Chief Executive Officer Chief Finance & Accounting Officer

Winchelsea Winchelsea Winchelsea

Dated: 3rd September 2018 Dated: 3rd September 2018 Dated: 3rd September 2018

HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

We further state that, in our opinion the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement 

and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 June 2018 and the financial position of Hesse Rural Health Service and the 

Consolidated Entity at 30 June 2018.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

The attached financial statements for Hesse Rural Health Service and the Consolidated Entity (ABN 12 766 864 906) have been prepared in accordance with Direction 

5.2 of the Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 , applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting 

Standards including Interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

Board member's, accountable officer's and chief finance & accounting officer's declaration

Page 1

Hesse Rural Health Service
BOARD MEMBER’S, ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S AND

CHIEF FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING OFFICER’S DECLARATION



64 Finance Report

Parent Entity Parent Entity Consolidated Consolidated

Note 2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Revenue from operating activities 2.1 7,442,435      8,038,873        10,099,657      10,774,672       

Revenue from non-operating activities 2.1 15,032           15,160             100,341           105,882            

Employee expenses 3.1 (5,066,335)     (5,193,479)       (7,425,353)      (7,342,897)        

Non salary labour costs 3.1 (198,122)        (269,468)          (242,929)          (347,536)           

Supplies & consumables 3.1 (251,888)        (249,933)          (431,860)          (427,962)           

Other expenses 3.1 (1,825,900)     (2,108,174)       (2,205,859)      (2,514,409)        

115,223         232,979           (106,003)          247,750            

Capital purpose income 2.1 22,489           41,819             22,489             41,819              

Specific income 2.2 290,221         90,886             290,221           90,886              

Impairment of non-financial assets 3.1 -                 (2,792)              -                   (2,792)               

Finance lease charges 3.1 (4,249)            (14,897)            (4,249)              (14,897)             

Depreciation and amortisation 4.3 (561,494)        (662,268)          (866,360)          (968,272)           

Net Result after capital and specific items (137,811)        (314,273)          (663,902)          (605,506)           

7.2 1,000             (4,217)              1,000               (4,217)               

11,699           20,508             11,699             20,508              

12,699           16,291             12,699             16,291              

(125,112)        (297,982)          (651,203)          (589,215)           

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Changes in physical asset revaluation surplus 8.1 995,061         -                       1,385,594        -                         

Total other comprehensive income 995,061         -                       1,385,594        -                         

Comprehensive result 869,949         (297,982)          734,391           (589,215)           

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

HESSE RURAL HEALTH 

Net result before capital & specific items

Other economic flows included in net result

Other Gains/(Losses) from Other Economic Flows

Total other economic flows included in net result

NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR

Net Gain/(Loss) on non-financial assets

Page 2

Hesse Rural Health Service
COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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Parent Entity Parent Entity Consolidated Consolidated

Note 2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6.2 1,222,358      131,787           1,914,056        1,777,006         

Receivables 5.1 166,090         996,898           189,289           1,034,620         

Investments and other financial assets 4.1 1,261,948      1,583,763        3,061,948        2,983,763         

Prepayments and other assets 5.3 35,888           11,024             35,888             11,024              

Total Current Assets 2,686,284      2,723,472        5,201,181        5,806,413         

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 5.1 376,623         381,483           376,623           381,483            

Investment Properties 4.4 1,050,000      -                       1,050,000        -                         

Property, plant & equipment 4.2 8,893,420      8,321,331        13,164,305      12,450,501       

Total Non-Current Assets 10,320,043    8,702,814        14,590,928      12,831,984       

TOTAL ASSETS 13,006,327    11,426,286      19,792,109      18,638,397       

Current Liabilities

Payables 5.4 380,499         1,060,525        384,903           1,098,230         

Borrowings 6.1 74,975           109,904           74,975             109,904            

Provisions 3.3 1,610,339      1,156,439        2,029,663        1,903,373         

Other current liabilities 5.2 3,693,700      2,364,504        6,750,131        5,570,430         

Total Current Liabilities 5,759,513      4,691,372        9,239,672        8,681,937         

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 6.1 -                     133,305           -                       133,305            

Provisions 3.3 5,770             230,514           403,435           408,543            

Total Non-Current Liabilities 5,770             363,819           403,435           541,848            

TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,765,283      5,055,191        9,643,107        9,223,785         

NET ASSETS 7,241,044      6,371,095        10,149,002      9,414,612         

EQUITY

Property, plant & equipment revaluation surplus 8.1 2,644,604      1,649,543        4,952,360        3,566,766         

Contributed capital 8.1 3,527,113      3,527,113        4,514,616        4,514,616         

Accumulated surpluses 8.1 1,069,328      1,194,439        682,026           1,333,230         

TOTAL EQUITY 7,241,045      6,371,095        10,149,002      9,414,612         

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 7.3 (1)                   (0)                     

Commitments 6.3

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

HESSE RURAL HEALTH 

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

Page 3

Hesse Rural Health Service
BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2018
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Note

 Property, 

Plant & 

Equipment 

Revaluation 

Surplus 

 Contributions 

by Owners 

 Accumulated 

Surpluses Total

Consolidated $ $ $ $

Balance at 1July 2016 3,566,766      4,514,616        1,922,445        10,003,827       

Net Result for the year -                     -                       (589,215)          (589,216)           

Balance at 30 June 2017 8.1 3,566,766      4,514,616        1,333,229        9,414,611         

-                     -                       (651,203)          (651,203)           

Other Comprehensive Income for the year 1,385,594      -                       -                       1,385,594         

Balance at 30 June 2018 8.1 4,952,360      4,514,616        682,027           10,149,002       

 Property, 

Plant & 

Equipment 

Revaluation 

Surplus 

 Contributions 

by Owners 

 Accumulated 

Surpluses Total

Parent $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2016 1,649,543      3,527,113        1,492,422        6,669,078         

Net Result for the year -                     -                       (297,983)          (297,983)           

Balance at 30 June 2017 1,649,543      3,527,113        1,194,439        6,371,095         

-                     -                       (125,112)          (125,112)           

Other Comprehensive Income for the year 995,061         -                       -                       995,061            

Balance at 30 June 2018 2,644,604      3,527,113        1,069,327        7,241,044         

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Net Result for the year

HESSE RURAL HEALTH 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Net Result for the year

Page 4

Hesse Rural Health Service
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Parent Entity Parent Entity Consolidated Consolidated

Note 2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating grants from government 5,889,184      5,918,837        7,787,111        7,856,676         

Capital grants from government 10,302           16,150             10,302             16,150              

Patient and resident fees received 543,446         647,981           1,310,699        1,451,875         

Donations and bequests received 186,566         142,636           186,566           142,636            

GST received from/(paid to) ATO 133,233         114,157           154,780           154,780            

Interest received 19,134           7,261               105,576           99,116              

Capital donations and bequests received 12,187           25,669             12,187             25,669              

Other receipts 1,045,176      1,012,986        1,050,607        998,581            

Total receipts 7,839,228      7,885,677       10,617,828     10,745,483       

Employee expenses paid (4,825,481)     (5,283,575)       (7,292,473)      (7,326,030)        

Non salary labour costs (242,929)        (347,536)          (242,929)          (347,536)           

Payments for supplies & consumables (269,906)        (209,356)          (449,878)          (387,385)           

Payments for Fuel, light, power and water (150,886)        (119,046)          (239,226)          (184,239)           

Payments for Repairs and Maintenance (194,146)        (199,496)          (270,296)          (281,417)           

Finance costs (4,249)            (14,897)            (4,249)              (14,897)             

Other payments (2,165,990)     (1,571,504)       (2,481,114)      (1,966,189)        

Total payments (7,853,587)    (7,745,410)      (10,980,165)    (10,507,693)     

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8.2 (14,359)          140,267           (362,337)          237,790            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for non-financial assets (499,535)        (462,233)          (555,583)          (386,202)           

Proceeds from sale of non-financial assets 1,000             27,000             1,000               27,000              

Proceeds/(Payments) for sale of investments 1,084,011      252,738           534,516           (434,900)           

585,476         (182,495)          (20,067)            (794,102)           

571,117         (42,229)            (382,404)          (556,312)           

50,355           92,584             1,695,574        2,251,886         

6.2 621,472         50,355             1,313,170        1,695,574         

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF 

FINANCIAL YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF 

FINANCIAL YEAR

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS HELD

NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING 

ACTIVITIES
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 30 JUNE 2018

Basis of presentation

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of Compliance

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Hesse Rural Health on September 3, 2018.

(b)  Reporting Entity

The financial statements include all the controlled activities of Hesse Rural Health.

Its principal address is:

8 Gosney Street

WINCHELSEA VIC 3241

Objectives and funding

Hesse Rural Health's overall objective is to improve the quality of life to Victorians.

Hesse Rural Health is funded by accrual based grant funding for the provision of outputs.

(c) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement

The going concern basis was used to prepare the financial statements (refer note 8.11)

These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for Hesse Rural Health for the period 

ending 30 June 2018.  The purpose of the report is to provide users with information about the Health Service's stewardship of resources 

entrusted to it.

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the Financial 

Management Act 1994  and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASs), which include interpretations issued by the 

Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  They are presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of AASB101 

Presentation of Financial Statements.

The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the Department of Treasury and 

Finance, and relevant Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Minister for Finance.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts 

of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

A description of the nature of Hesse Rural Health's operations and its principal activities is included in the report of operations, which 

does not form part of these financial statements.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018, and 

the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017. 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency of the Health Service.

The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the 

accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or expenses when they satisfy the definitions and recognition 

criteria for those items, that is they are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or 

paid.

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and the historical cost convention is used unless a different measurement 

basis is specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item measured on a different basis.

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these financial statements whereby assets, liabilities, equity, 

income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 Contributions (that is contributed capital and its repayment) are treated as equity 

transactions and, therefore, do not form part of the income and expenses of the hospital.

Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as contributed capital. Other transfers that 

are in the nature of contributions to or distributions by owners have also been designated as contributions by owners. 

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to or contribution by owners. Transfer of net 

liabilities arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distribution to owners.

The Health Service is a not-for profit entity and therefore applies the additional Aus paragraphs applicable to “not-for-profit” Health 

Services under the AAS's.

Page 7
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 30 JUNE 2018

•   

•   

(d) Principles Of Consolidation

These statements are presented on a consolidated basis in accordance with AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements :

Intersegment Transactions

Transactions between segments within Hesse Rural Health have been eliminated to reflect the extent of Hesse Rural Health's 

operations as a group.

The entity consolidated into the Hesse Rural Health reporting entity is the Winchelsea Hostel and Nursing Home Society Inc.

- The consolidated financial statements exclude bodies of Hesse Rural Health that are not controlled by Hesse Rural Health, and 

therefore are not consolidated.

Where control of an entity is obtained during the financial period, its results are included in the comprehensive operating statement 

from the date on which control commenced. Where control ceases during a financial period, the entity's results are included for that 

part of the period in which control existed. Where dissimilar accounting policies are adopted by entities and their effect is considered 

material, adjustments are made to ensure consistent policies are adopted in these financial statements.

- Control exists when Hesse Rural Health has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 

benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The 

consolidated financial statements include the audited financial statements of the controlled entities listed in Note 8.9

Hesse Rural Health Service operates on a fund accounting basis and maintains three funds: Operating, Specific Purpose and Capital 

Funds. The Hesse Rural Health Service's Capital and Specific Purpose Funds include unspent donations and receipts from fund-

raising activities conducted solely in respect of these funds.

Commitments and contingent assets and liabilities are presented on a gross basis.

- the consolidated financial statements of Hesse Rural Health include all reporting entities controlled by Hesse Rural Health as at 30 

June 2018; and

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from 

historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates.

The fair value of assets other than land is generally based on their depreciated replacement value.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except for:

non-current physical assets, which subsequent to acquisition, are measured at a revalued amount being their fair value at the 

date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations are 

made and are re-assessed when new indices are published by the Valuer General to ensure that the carrying amounts do not 

materially differ from their fair values;

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods that are 

affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of AABSs that have significant 

effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to: 

● The fair value of land, buildings and plant and equipment (refer to Note 4.2 Property, Plant and Equipment);
● Superannuation expense (refer to Note 3.5 Superannuation); and

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which 

are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO, are presented as operating cash flow.

● Employee benefit provisions are based on likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave claims, future salary movements and 

future discount rates (refer to Note 3.4 Employee Benefits).

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from 

the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In this case the GST payable is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 

part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, 

or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the Balance Sheet. 
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 30 JUNE 2018

(e) Jointly Controlled Operation

• its revenue from the sale of its share of the output from the joint operation;

• its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the operation; and

• its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

Hesse Rural Health Service is a Member of the South West Alliance of Rural Health (SWARH) and retains joint control over the 

arrangement, which it has classified as a joint operation (refer to Note 8.10 Jointly Controlled Operations).

• its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 

• any liabilities including its share of liabilities that it had incurred; 

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant 

activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

In respect of any interest in joint operations, Hesse Rural Health recognises in the financial statements: 
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 2:   Funding delivery of our services

Structure

2.1 Analysis of revenue by source

2.2 Specific income

Note 2.1:   Analysis of Revenue by Source Admitted Primary

Patients RAC Aged Care Health Other Total

2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018

$ $ $ $ $ $

Government Grants 2,117,277     3,911,483      1,124,251       612,009        -                    7,765,020      

3,315            -                    -                      -                   -                    3,315             

Patient and Resident Fees 7,095            1,346,903      -                      -                   -                    1,353,998      

Donations & Bequests (non capital) 186,566        -                    -                      -                   -                    186,566         

SWARH revenue from jointly controlled assets -                   -                    -                      -                   465,092         465,092         

Other Revenue from Operating Activities 54,356          75,083           109,280          86,947          -                    325,666         

2,368,609     5,333,469      1,233,531       698,956        465,092         10,099,657    

Interest 5,518            94,823           -                      -                   -                    100,341         

-                   -                    -                      -                   290,221         290,221         

Total revenue from Non-Operating Activies 5,518            94,823           -                      -                   290,221         390,562         

Capital Purpose Income (excluding interest)* -                   10,302           -                      -                   12,187           22,489           

Total Capital Purpose Income -                   10,302           -                      -                   12,187           22,489           

Total Revenue 2,374,127     5,438,594      1,233,531       698,956        767,500         10,512,708    

Admitted Primary

Patients RAC Aged Care Health Other Total

2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017

$ $ $ $ $ $

Government Grants 2,208,533     4,095,118      996,523          577,103        -                    7,877,277      

87,811          -                    -                      -                   -                    87,811           

-                   -                    -                      -                   -                    -                    

Patient and Resident Fees 64,269          1,400,229      40,934            3,394            -                    1,508,826      

Donations & Bequests (non capital) 142,611        -                    -                      25                 -                    142,636         

SWARH revenue from jointly controlled assets -                   -                    -                      -                   941,505         941,505         

Other Revenue from Operating Activities 114,319        20,608           49,508            32,181          -                    216,616         

2,617,543     5,515,955      1,086,965       612,703        941,505         10,774,671    

Interest 1,535            104,347         -                      -                   -                    105,882         

Specific income -                   -                    -                      -                   90,886           90,886           

Total revenue from Non-Operating Activies 1,535            104,347         -                      -                   90,886           196,768         

Capital Purpose Income (excluding interest) 11,000          10,150           -                      -                   20,669           41,819           

Total Capital Purpose Income 11,000          10,150           -                      -                   20,669           41,819           

Total Revenue 2,630,078     5,630,452      1,086,965       612,703        1,053,060      11,013,258    

Hesse Rural Health's overall objective is to deliver programs and services that support and enhance the wellbeing of all Victorians.

To enable the health service to fulfill its objective it receives income based on parliamentary appropriations.  The health service also receives income from 

the supply of services.

Consolidated

Department of Health and Human Services makes insurance payments on behalf of the Health Service.  These amounts have been brought to account in determining 

the operating result for the year by recording them as revenue and expenses.

Total revenue from Operating Activities

Consolidated

Total revenue from Operating Activities

Indirect Contributions by Department of Health and Human 

Services

Indirect Contributions by Department of Health and Human 

Services

Specific income

Revenue has been classified across programs as defined in the Agency Information Management System (AIMS) guidelines. For clinical support, infrastructure and 

corporate services, Full Time Equivalent (FTE) has been used to allocate revenue across the programs.
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Note 2.1: Analysis of Revenue by Source (Continued)
HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Revenue Recognition

Amounts disclosed as revenue are where applicable, net of returns, allowances and duties and taxes.

Government Grants and Other Transfers of Income (other than contributions by owners)

Note 2.2: Specific income 2018 2017

$ $

Profit from sale of shares in the Winchelsea Medical Clinic -                    90,886           

Gain / (loss) on revaluation of independent living units 290,221         

TOTAL 290,221         90,886           

Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue and is recognised as to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 

Hesse Rural Health and the income can be reliably measured at fair value. Unearned income at reporting date is reported as income received in advance.

In accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions, government grants and other transfers of income (other than contributions by owners) are recognised as 

income when the Health Service gains control of the underlying assets irrespective of whether conditions are imposed on the Health Service’s use of the 

contributions.  

Contributions are deferred as income in advance when the Health Service has a present obligation to repay them and the present obligation can be reliably 

measured.

Indirect Contributions from the Department of Health and Human Services

• Insurance is recognised as revenue following advice from the Department of Health and Human Services.

• Long Service Leave (LSL) – Revenue is recognised upon finalisation of movements in LSL liability in line with the arrangements set out in the Metropolitan 

Health and Aged Care Services Division Hospital Circular 04/2017 (update for 2016-17). 

Patient and Resident Fees

Patient fees are recognised as revenue at the time invoices are raised.

Donations and Other Bequests

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received. If donations are for a special purpose, they may be appropriated to a surplus, such as 

the specific restricted purpose surplus.

Interest Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes in account the effective yield of the financial asset, which allocates interest over the 

relevant period.

Sale of Investments

The gain/loss on the sale of investments is recognised when the investment is realised. 

Other Income

Other income includes rental income, childcare, post acute care, community health programs, expense recoveries and reimbursements.

Category Groups

Hesse Rural Health has used the following category groups for reporting purposes for the current and previous financial years.

• Other Services not reported elsewhere - (Other) comprises services not separately classified above, including revenue and expenses from the health 

service's share of the SWARH IT joint venture.

• Admitted Patient Services (Admitted Patients) comprises all acute and subacute admitted patient services, where services are delivered in public 

hospitals.

• Aged Care comprises a range of in home, specialist geriatric, residential care and community based programs and support services, such as Home and 

Community Care (HACC) that are targeted to older people, people with a disability, and their carers.

• Primary, Community and Dental Health comprises a range of home based, community based, community, primary health and dental services including 

health promotion and counselling, physiotherapy, speech therapy, podiatry and occupational therapy.

• Residential Aged Care comprises Commonwealth-licensed residential aged care services in receipt of supplementary funding from the department under 

the mental health program.  
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 3: The Cost of delivering services

Structure

3.1 Analysis of expenses by source

3.2 Employee benefits in the balance sheet

3.3 Superannuation

Note 3.1: Analysis of Expenses by Source Admitted Aged Primary 

Patients RAC Care Health Other Total

2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018

$ $ $ $ $ $

Employee Expenses 1,106,590           4,436,791    496,220         1,227,742    158,010        7,425,353      

Non Salary Labour Costs 105,359              135,311       1,540             719              -                    242,929         

Supplies & Consumables 106,607              313,955       1,303             9,994           -                    431,860         

Medical Indemnity Insurance 8,175                  -                   -                     -                   -                    8,175             

Fuel, Light, Power and Water 48,697                136,304       49                  54,176         -                    239,226         

Repairs and Maintenance 61,330                115,603       3,240             90,123         -                    270,296         

Other Expenses 634,671              509,051.00  144,443.00    142,940.00  257,057        1,688,162      

2,071,429           5,647,015    646,795         1,525,694    415,067        10,306,001    

-                          -                   -                     -                   4,249            4,249             

353,010              459,255       -                     -                   54,095          866,360         

353,010              459,255       -                     -                   58,344          870,609         

Total Expenses 2,424,439 6,106,270 646,795 1,525,694 473,411        11,176,610

Admitted Aged Primary 

Patients RAC Care Health Other Total

2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017

$ $ $ $ $ $

Employee Benefits 1,363,602           4,063,359    557,416         1,087,760    270,760        7,342,897      

Non Salary Labour Costs 103,249              233,475       7,371             3,441           -                    347,536         

Supplies & Consumables 109,783              311,414       1,357             5,408           -                    427,962         

Medical Indemnity Insurance 8,838                  -                   -                     -                   -                    8,838             

Fuel, Light, Power and Water 34,651                100,727       819                48,043         -                    184,240         

Repairs and Maintenance 64,324                133,158       5,685             78,250         -                    281,417         

Other Expenses 626,264              616,477       119,993         161,741       515,441        2,039,916      

2,310,711           5,458,610    692,641         1,384,643    786,201        10,632,806    

-                          -                   -                     -                   14,897          14,897           

Other Non-Operating Expenses

Impairment 2,792                  -                   -                     -                   -                    2,792             

509,385              306,004       -                     -                   152,883        968,272         

512,177              306,004       -                     -                   167,780        985,961         

Total Expenses 2,822,888           5,764,614    692,641         1,384,643    953,981        11,618,767    

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by the Hesse Rural Health in delivering services and outputs.  In Section 2, the funds that enable the provision 

of services were disclosed and in this note the costs associated with provision of services are recorded. 

Total Expenditure from Operating Activities

Total Expenditure from Operating Activities

Finance Lease Costs

Total other expenses

Finance Lease Costs

Total other expenses

Depreciation  & Amortisation (refer note 4.3)

Expenditure has been classified across programs as defined in the Agency Information Management System (AIMS) guidelines. For clinical support, infrastructure and corporate 

services, FTE has been used to allocate expenditure across the programs.

Depreciation  & Amortisation (refer note 4.3)
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Expense Recognition

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate.

Employee expenses

Employee expenses include:

• wages and salaries;

• fringe benefits tax;

• leave entitlements;

• termination payments;

• workcover premiums; and

• superannuation expenses.

Other operating expenses

Supplies and consumables

Bad and doubtful debts

Net gain/ (loss) on non-financial assets

Net gain/ (loss) on financial instruments

Other gains/ (losses) from other economic flows

Supplies and services costs which are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any inventories held for 

distribution are expensed when distributed.

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations and include:

Refer to Note 5.1 Receivables.

Net gain/ (loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses as follows:

• Revaluation gains/ (losses) of non-financial physical assets (Refer to Note 4.2 Property plant and equipment.)

• Net gain/ (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets

Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of disposal.

Net gain/ (loss) on financial instruments includes:

• realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations of financial instruments at fair value;

• impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost refer to Note 4.1 Investments and other financial assets; and

• disposals of financial assets and derecognition of financial liabilities.

Other gains/ (losses) include:

• the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the bond rate movements, inflation rate movements and the impact of 

changes in probability factors; and

• transfer of amounts from the reserves to accumulated surplus or net result due to disposal or derecognition or reclassification.
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 3.2:   Employee benefits in the balance sheet Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

$ $

Current Provisions

Employee Benefits

Annual Leave

614,218        667,620         

96,663          97,305           

Long Service Leave

118,729        103,914         

594,931        561,959         

Accrued Days Off

16,335          16,335           

1,440,876     1,447,133      

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-costs

   - Unconditional and expected to be utilised within 12 months (nominal value) 243,868        182,305         

   - Unconditional and expected to be utilised after 12 months (present value) 97,327          91,499           

341,195        273,804         

Accrued Wages

247,592        182,436         

Total Current Provisions 2,029,663     1,903,373      

Non-Current Provisions

Long Service Leave (present value) 368,342        368,227         

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-costs 35,093          40,316           

Total Non-Current Provisions 403,435        408,543         

Total Provisions 2,433,098     2,311,916      

(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs

Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs

Unconditional Long Service Leave Entitlements 782,746        741,316         

Accrued Wages and Salaries 247,592        182,436         

Annual Leave 982,990        963,286         

Accrued Days Off 16,335          16,335           

Non-Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs

Conditional Long Service Leave Entitlements (present value) 403,435        408,543         

Total Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs 2,433,098     2,311,916      

(b) Movements in Provisions:

Movements in Long Service Leave:

Balance at start of year 1,149,859     1,093,007      

Provision made during the year

- Revaluations (11,699)         (20,508)          

- Expense recognising Employee Service 248,928        228,115         

Settlement made during the year (200,907)       (150,755)        
Balance at end of year 1,186,181     1,149,859      

-Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months (nominal value)

-Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months (nominal value)

-Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months (present value)

-Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months (nominal value)

-Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months (nominal value)

-Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months (present value)
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Note	3.2:	Employee	Benefits	in	the	Balance	Sheet	(Continued)

HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Provisions

Employee benefits

Wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and accrued days off

Long service leave (LSL)

Termination benefits

On-costs related to employee expense

Note 3.3:   Superannuation
Consol'd Consol'd Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017 2018 2017

Defined contribution plans: $ $ $ $

First State Super 618,419         599,125       -                    -                     

Other -                     134,117       -                    -                     
Total 618,419         733,242       -                    -                     

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave, and accumulating sick leave are all recognised in the provision for employee 

benefits as ‘current liabilities’, because the health service does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities.

Provisions are recognised when the Health Service has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be 

measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and 

uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 

value of those cash flows, using a discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the provision.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be received from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is 

virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

This provision arises for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave for services rendered to the reporting date.

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave are measured at:

• Undiscounted value – if the health service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

• Present value – if the health service does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability, even where the health service does not expect to settle the liability within 

12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. An unconditional 

right arises after a qualifying period.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

• Undiscounted value – if the health service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and

• Present value – where the entity does not expect to settle a component of this current liability within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the 

requisite years of service. This non-current LSL liability is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to 

changes in estimations e.g. bond rate movements, inflation rate movements and changes in probability factors which are then recognised as other economic flow.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or when an employee decides to accept an offer of benefits in 

exchange for the termination of employment.

The health service recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current employees according to a 

detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

Provision for on-costs, such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are recognised together with provisions for employee benefits.

Paid Contributions Contributions Outstanding

Employees of the Health Service are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and Hesse Rural Health contributes to defined contribution plans. 

Superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement of the Health 

Service. 

Defined contribution superannuation plans

In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) superannuation plans, the associated expense is simply the employer contributions that are paid or payable in 

respect of employees who are members of these plans during the reporting period. Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when 

incurred.
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 4:   Key Assets to support service delivery

Structure

4.1  Investments and other financial assets

4.2  Property, plant & equipment

4.3  Depreciation

4.4  Investment properties

Note 4.1: Investments and other Financial Assets
2018 2017 2018 2017

CURRENT $ $ $ $

Loans and receivables

Term Deposit

Aust. Dollar Term Deposits > 3 months 3,061,948      2,983,763    3,061,948     2,983,763      
TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 3,061,948      2,983,763    3,061,948     2,983,763      

Represented by:

Accommodation Bonds (Refundable entrance fees) 3,061,948      2,983,763    3,061,948     2,983,763      
3,061,948      2,983,763    3,061,948     2,983,763      

Investments and other financial assets

Derecognition of financial assets

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

• the Health Service has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either: 

(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or 

Impairment of financial assets

Consolidated

At the end of each reporting period Hesse Rural Health assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial asset is impaired. All 

financial instrument assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.

The allowance is the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest 

rate. In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional judgement is applied in assessing 

materiality using estimates, averages and other computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.

(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Health Service has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the asset is recognised to the extent of the 

Health Service’s continuing involvement in the asset.

Hesse Rural Health classifies financial assets between current and non-current assets based on the purpose for which the assets were acquired.  Management 

determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

The health service controls infrastructure and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and conducting its activities. They represent the key resources 

that have been entrusted to the health service to be utilised for delivery of those outputs.

Hospital investments must be in accordance in Standing Direction 3.7.2 – Treasury and Investment Risk Management. Investments are recognised and derecognised on 

trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market 

concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 

Investments are classified in the following categories:

- loans and receivables.

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when: 

• the Health Service retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under 

a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or 

Operating Fund
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 4.2: Property, Plant & Equipment Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

(a) Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation $ $

Land

Land at fair value 2,605,339     2,059,059      

Total Land 2,605,339     2,059,059      

Buildings

Building Work in Progress at Cost 193,687        69,326           

-                     

Buildings at Fair Value 9,720,533     11,475,090    

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (49,859)         (2,000,309)     

9,670,674     9,474,781      

Total Buildings 9,864,361     9,544,107      

Plant and Equipment

Plant and Equipment at fair value 1,664,475     1,519,880      

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,045,371)    (913,137)        

Total Plant and Equipment 619,104        606,743         

Medical Equipment

Medical Equipment at fair value 90,740          90,740           

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (83,647)         (76,798)          

Total Medical Equipment 7,093            13,942           

Leased Assets

Share of SWARH Joint Venture Leased Assets at fair value 539,932        644,078         

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (471,524)       (417,429)        

Total Leased Assets 68,408          226,649         

TOTAL 13,164,305   12,450,500    

Plant & Medical Leased Total

Land Buildings Equipment Equipment Assets Consolidated

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2016 2,050,394           10,129,862  610,669         24,845         277,987        13,093,757    

Additions 8,665                  81,716         163,757         550              101,545        356,233         

Disposals -                          -                   (31,217)          -                   -                    (31,217)          

Depreciation Expense (Note 4.3) -                          (667,471)      (136,465)        (11,453)        (152,883)       (968,272)        
Balance at 1 July 2017 2,059,059           9,544,107    606,744         13,942         226,649        12,450,501    

Additions 24,774                124,361       149,581         -                   -                    298,716         

Disposals -                          -                   -                     -                   (104,146)       (104,146)        

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements) 521,506              864,088       -                     -                   -                    1,385,594      

Depreciation Expense (Note 4.3) -                          (668,195)      (137,221)        (6,849)          (54,095)         (866,360)        
Balance at 30 June 2018 2,605,339           9,864,361    619,104         7,093           68,408          13,164,305    

Land and buildings carried at valuation

The latest indices required a managerial revaluation of land and buildings in 2018. The indexed value was then compared to individual assets written down book value as 

at 30 June 2018 to determine the change in their fair values.  The Department of Health and Human Services approved a managerial revaluation of the land asset class 

of $521,506 and buildings of $864,088.

In compliance with FRD 103F, in the year ended 30 June 2018, Hesse Rural Health Services's management conducted an annual assessment of the fair value of land 

and buildings and leased buildings. To facilitate this, management obtained from the Department of Treasury and Finance the Valuer General Victoria indices for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2018. 

(b) Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of asset

The Valuer-General Victoria undertook to re-value all of Hesse Rural Health Services's owned and leased land and buildings to determine their fair value. The valuation, 

which conforms to Australian Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to the amounts for which assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing 

parties in an arm's length transaction. The valuation was based on independent assessments. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2014.
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( c) Fair value measurement hierarchy of assets

Level 1 (i) Level 2 (i) Level 3 (i)

$ $ $ $

Land at fair value

Specialised land 2,605,339      -                   -                    2,605,339      

Total of land at fair value 2,605,339      -                   -                    2,605,339      

Buildings at fair value

Specialised buildings 9,670,674      -                   -                    9,670,674      

Total of buildings at fair value 9,670,674      -                   -                    9,670,674      

Plant and equipment at fair value

Plant equipment and vehicles at fair value

- Vehicles 245,689         -                   245,689        -                     

- Plant and equipment 373,415         -                   -                    373,415         

Total of plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 619,104         -                   245,689        373,415         

Medical equipment at fair value

- Medical equipment 7,093             -                   -                    7,093             

Total medical equipment at fair value 7,093             -                   -                    7,093             

Leased assets at fair value

- SWARH leased assets 68,408           -                   -                    68,408           

Total  leased assets at fair value 68,408           -                   -                    68,408           

12,970,618    -                   245,689        12,724,929    

Level 1 (i) Level 2 (i) Level 3 (i)

$ $ $ $

Land at fair value

Specialised land 2,059,059      -                   -                    2,059,059      

Total of land at fair value 2,059,059      -                   -                    2,059,059      

Buildings at fair value

Specialised buildings 9,474,781      -                   -                    9,474,781      

Total of buildings at fair value 9,474,781      -                   -                    9,474,781      

Plant and equipment at fair value

Plant equipment and vehicles at fair value

- Vehicles 196,642         -                   196,642        -                     

- Plant and equipment 410,102         -                   -                    410,102         

Total of plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 606,744         -                   196,642        410,102         

Medical equipment at fair value

- Medical equipment 13,942           -                   -                    13,942           

Total medical equipment at fair value 13,942           -                   -                    13,942           

Leased assets at fair value

- SWARH leased assets 226,649         -                   -                    226,649         

Total  leased assets at fair value 226,649         -                   -                    226,649         

12,381,175    -                   196,642        12,184,533    
Note

(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, 

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Fair value measurement at end of reporting 

period using:

Carrying amount 

as at 30 June 

2017

Carrying amount 

as at 30 June 

2018

Fair value measurement at end of reporting 

period using:
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(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

$ $ $ $ $

Opening Balance 2,059,059    9,474,781      410,102       13,942          226,649         

Purchases (sales) 24,774         -                     59,152         -                    (104,146)        

Gains or losses recognised in net result

- Depreciation -                   (668,195)        (95,839)        (6,849)           (54,095)          

Subtotal 2,083,833    8,806,586      373,415       7,093            68,408           

Items recognised in other comprehensive income

- Revaluation 521,506       864,088         -                   -                    -                     

Subtotal 521,506       864,088         -                   -                    -                     

2,605,339    9,670,674      373,415       7,093            68,408           

$ $ $ $ $

Opening Balance 2,050,394    10,129,862    418,238       24,845          277,987         

Purchases (sales) 8,665           12,390           93,843         550               101,545         

Gains or losses recognised in net result

- Depreciation -                   (667,471)        (101,979)      (11,453)         (152,883)        

Subtotal 2,059,059    9,474,781      410,102       13,942          226,649         

2,059,059    9,474,781      410,102       13,942          226,649         

( e) Fair value determination

Asset class
Expected fair 

value level

Vehicles Level 2 n.a.

2018

Land

2017

Buildings

Buildings

Plant and 

equipment

Medical 

equipment Leased Assets

Leased Assets

Medical 

equipment

Land

Plant and 

equipment

(a) Newly built/acquired assets could be categorised as Level 2 assets as depreciation would not be a significant unobservable input (based on the 10 per cent materiality threshold).

(b) AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement provides an exemption for not for profit public sector entities from disclosing the sensitivity analysis relating to ‘unrealised gains/(losses) on non-financial assets’ if the 

assets are held primarily for their current service potential rather than to generate net cash inflows.

If there is an active 

resale market available
Market approach

Specialised items with 

limited alternative 

uses and/or substantial 

customisation

Depreciated replacement 

cost approach

Specialised Land (Crown / Freehold) Level 3

Specialised buildings 
(a) Level 3

- Useful life

(c) CSO adjustment of 20% was applied to reduce the market approach value for the Hesse Rural Health Service's specialised land.

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2018

- Cost per unit

- Useful life

Plant and equipment including leased 

assets 
(a) Level 3

Examples of types of 

assets

- Land subject to restriction 

as to use and/or sale

- Land in areas where there 

is not an active market

Specialised buildings 

with limited alternative uses 

and/or substantial 

customisation e.g. prisons, 

hospitals and schools

Significant inputs (Level 3 

only)
(c) 

Community Service 

Obligations Adjustments
 (c)

Likely valuation approach

Market approach

Depreciated replacement 

cost approach

- Cost per  square metre
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Initial Recognition

These indicators, as a minimum, include:

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Hesse Rural Health has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the 

asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

In addition, Hesse Rural Health determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level 

input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Judgements about highest and best use must take into account the characteristics of the assets concerned, including restrictions on the use and disposal of assets 

arising from the asset’s physical nature and any applicable legislative/contractual arrangements.

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, Hesse Rural Health determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurements such as 

property, plant and equipment, investment properties and financial instruments, and for non-recurring fair value measurements such as non-financial physical assets held 

for sale, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant FRDs.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

All property, plant and equipment for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy. 

Level 3 fair value inputs are unobservable valuation inputs for an asset or liability. These inputs require significant judgement and assumptions in deriving fair value for 

both financial and non-financial assets.

Identifying unobservable inputs (level 3) fair value measurements

Valuation hierarchy

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy.

Health Services need to use valuation techniques that are appropriate for the circumstances and where there is sufficient data available to measure fair value, 

maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

Unobservable inputs shall be used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is 

little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date. However, the fair value measurement objective remains the same, i.e., an exit price at the 

measurement date from the perspective of a market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability. Therefore, unobservable inputs shall reflect the assumptions that 

market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk.

External factors:

• Changed acts, regulations, local law or such instrument which affects or may affect the use or development of the asset;

• Changes in planning scheme, including zones, reservations, overlays that would affect or remove the restrictions imposed on the asset’s use from its past use;

• Evidence that suggest the current use of an asset is no longer core to requirements to deliver a Health Service’s service obligation;

• Evidence that suggests that the asset might be sold or demolished at reaching the late stage of an asset’s life cycle.

The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Hesse Rural Health Service’s independent valuation agency.

Fair value measurement

Consideration of highest and best use (HBU) for non-financial physical assets

Therefore, an assessment of the HBU will be required when the indicators are triggered within a reporting period, which suggest the market participants would have 

perceived an alternative use of an asset that can generate maximum value. Once identified, Health Services are required to engage with VGV or other independent 

valuers for formal HBU assessment.

The initial cost for non-financial physical assets under finance lease (refer to Note 6.3) is measured at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the 

present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.

Subsequent Measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Where 

an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition. Assets transferred as part of a merger/machinery of government change are 

transferred at their carrying amounts.

Crown land is measured at fair value with regard to the property’s highest and best use after due consideration is made for any legal or physical restrictions imposed on 

the asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset. 

Land and buildings are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.

Theoretical opportunities that may be available in relation to the asset(s) are not taken into account until it is virtually certain that any restrictions will no longer apply. 

Therefore, unless otherwise disclosed, the current use of these non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best uses.

In accordance with paragraph AASB 13.29, Health Services can assume the current use of a non-financial physical asset is its HBU unless market or other factors 

suggest that a different use by market participants would maximise the value of the asset.
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Specialised land and specialised buildings

Vehicles

Plant and equipment

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2018.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered to be the highest and best use.

An independent valuation of Hesse Rural Health Services' specialised land and specialised buildings was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria.  The valuation was 

performed using the market approach adjusted for CSO.  The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2014.

Plant and equipment (including medical equipment, computers and communication equipment and furniture and fittings are held at carrying amount (depreciated cost). 

When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, the depreciated replacement cost is used to estimate the 

fair value. Unless there is market evidence that current replacement costs are significantly different from the original acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely that 

depreciated replacement cost will be materially different from the existing carrying amount. 

The market approach is used for specialised land and specialised buildings although it is adjusted for the community service obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised 

nature of the assets being valued. Under this valuation method, the assets are compared to recent comparable sales or sales of comparable assets which are 

considered to have nominal or no added improvement value. Specialised assets contain significant, unobservable adjustments; therefore these assets are classified as 

Level 3 under the market based direct comparison approach.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset to the extent that is also equally applicable to market 

participants. This approach is in light of the highest and best use consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into account the use of the asset that is 

physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. As adjustments of CSO are considered as significant unobservable inputs, specialised land would be 

classified as Level 3 assets. 

For Hesse Rural Health Service, the depreciated replacement cost method is used for the majority of specialised buildings, adjusting for the associated depreciation. As 

depreciation adjustments are considered as significant and unobservable inputs in nature, specialised buildings are classified as Level 3 for fair value measurements.

A Health Service shall develop unobservable inputs using the best information available in the circumstances, which might include the Health Service’s own data. In 

developing unobservable inputs, a Health Service may begin with its own data, but it shall adjust this data if reasonably available information indicates that other market 

participants would use different data or there is something particular to the Health Service that is not available to other market participants. A Health Service need not 

undertake exhaustive efforts to obtain information about other market participant assumptions. However, a Health Service shall take into account all information about 

market participant assumptions that is reasonably available. Unobservable inputs developed in the manner described above are considered market participant 

assumptions and meet the object of a fair value measurement

Assumptions about risk include the inherent risk in a particular valuation technique used to measure fair value (such as a pricing risk model) and the risk inherent in the 

inputs to the valuation technique. A measurement that does not include an adjustment for risk would not represent a fair value measurement if market participants would 

include one when pricing the asset or liability i.e., it might be necessary to include a risk adjustment when there is significant measurement uncertainty. For example, 

when there has been a significant decrease in the volume or level of activity when compared with normal market activity for the asset or liability or similar assets or 

liabilities, and the Health Service has determined that the transaction price or quoted price does not represent fair value.

Specialised land includes Crown Land which is measured at fair value with regard to the property’s highest and best use after due consideration is made for any legal or 

physical restrictions imposed on the asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset. Theoretical opportunities that may 

be available in relation to the assets are not taken into account until it is virtually certain that any restrictions will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise disclosed, 

the current use of these non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best use.

In June 2018 a managerial valuation was carried out in accordance with FRD 103F to revalue land and buildings to their fair value.

The Health Service acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before completion of their economic life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the 

market is managed by the Health Service who set relevant depreciation rates during use to reflect the consumption of the vehicles. As a result, the fair value of vehicles 

does not differ materially from the carrying amount (depreciated cost).

During the reporting period, Hesse Rural Health Services held Crown Land. The nature of this asset means that there are certain limitations and restrictions imposed on 

its use and/or disposal that may impact their fair value.
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Revaluations of Non-Current Physical Assets

Note 4.3:   Depreciation Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

$ $

Buildings 668,195        667,471         

Plant & Equipment 137,221        136,465         

Medical Equipment 6,849            11,453           

Leased Equipment 54,095          152,883         
Total Depreciation 866,360        968,272         

Depreciation

The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non current assets on which the depreciation charges are based.

2018 2017

Buildings

 - Structure Shell Building Fabric 50 to 75 years 50 to 75 years

 - Site Engineering Services and Central Plant 30 to 40 years 30 to 40 years

Central Plant 

 - Fit Out 25 to 30 years 25 to 30 years

 - Trunk Reticulated Building Systems 30 to 40 years 30 to 40 years

Plant & Equipment 5 to 10 years 5 to 10 years

Medical Equipment 5 to 10 years 5 to 10 years

Computers & Communications 4 to 5 years 4 to 5 years

Furniture & Fittings 10 to 15 years 10 to 15 years

Motor Vehicles 5 to 10 years 5 to 10 years

Leasehold Improvements 5 to 10 years 5 to 10 years

Revaluation surplus is not normally not transferred to accumulated funds on derecognition of the relevant asset.

In accordance with FRD 103F Hesse Rural Health's non-current physical assets were assessed to determine whether revaluation of the non-current physical assets was 

required.  

All buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets that have finite useful lives are depreciated (i.e. excludes land assets held for sale, and 

investment properties).  Depreciation begins when the asset is available for use, which is when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 

operating in a manner intended by management.

Non-current physical assets are measured at fair value and are revalued in accordance with FRD103F Non-current physical assets .  This revaluation process normally 

occurs at least every five years, based upon the asset's Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more frequently if fair value assessments indicate material 

changes in values. Independent valuers are used to conduct these scheduled revaluations and any interim revaluations are determined in accordance with the 

requirements of the FRDs. Revaluation increments or decrements arise from differences between an asset's carrying value and fair value.

Revaluation increments are recognised in ‘other comprehensive income’ and are credited directly in equity to the asset revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that 

an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that same class of asset previously recognised as an expense in net result, the increment is recognised as 

income in the net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised in ‘other comprehensive income’ to the extent that a credit balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same 

class of property, plant and equipment. 

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within an asset class are offset against one another within that class but are not offset in 

respect of assets in different classes. 

As part of the Buildings valuation, building values were separated into components and each component assessed for its useful life which is represented above. 

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at a rate that allocates the asset value, less any estimated residual value over its estimated useful life.  

Estimates of the remaining useful lives, residual value and depreciation method for all assets are reviewed at least annually, and adjustments made where appropriate.  

This depreciation charge is not funded by the Department of Health & Human Services.

Assets with a cost in excess of $1,000 are capitalised and depreciation has been provided on depreciable assets so as to allocate their cost or valuation over their 

estimated useful lives. 
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Note 4.4:   Investment properties Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

(a) Movements in carrying value for investment properties as at 30 June 2018 $ $

Balance at Beginning of Period -                    -                     

Acquisition and capital expenditure 192,779        -                     

Resident obligations recognised (note 5.2) 567,000        -                     

Net Gain/(Loss) from Fair Value Adjustments 290,221        -                     

Balance at End of Period 1,050,000     -                     

(b) Fair value measurement hierarchy for investment properties

Level 1 (i) Level 2 (i) Level 3 (i)

$ $ $ $

Investment properties 1,050,000      -                   1,050,000     -                     

1,050,000      -                   1,050,000     -                     

Note

(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, 

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Investment properties

Hesse Rural Health has assets classified as investment property for the purposes of AASB140 Investment Property, principally independent living units.  These assets 

are carried at amounts which represent fair value at balance date.

Carrying amount 

as at 30 June 

2018

Fair value measurement at end of reporting 

period using:

The fair value of the Health Service’s investment properties at 30 June 2018 have been arrived on the basis of an independent valuation carried out by independent 

valuers Opteon Property Group. The valuation was determined by reference to market evidence of transaction process for similar properties with no significant 

unobservable adjustments, in the same location and condition.

For investment properties measured at fair value, the current use of the asset is considered the highest and best use.

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost. Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits in 

excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to the Health Service.

Investment properties represent properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment properties exclude properties held to meet service delivery 

objectives of the health services.

Rental revenue from leasing of investment properties is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement in the periods in which it is receivable on a straight line 

basis over the lease term. 

Subsequent to initial recognition at cost, investment properties are revalued to fair value, determined annually by independent valuers. Fair values are determined based 

on a market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties. Investment properties are neither depreciated nor tested for impairment.
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Note 5: Other Assets and liabilities

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the health service's operations.

Structure

5.1  Receivables

5.2  Other liabilities

5.3  Prepayments 

5.4  Payables

Note 5.1: Receivables Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

CURRENT $ $

Contractual

Patient Fees 176,090        132,791         

Trade Debtors 38,598          779,031         

Accrued Investment Income 9,366            14,601           

Less Allowance for Doubtful Debts

   Patient Fees (71,727)         (46,812)          

152,327        879,611         

Statutory
GST Receivable 36,264          46,749           

Commonwealth Subsidies 698               4,168             

Accrued Revenue - Department of Health -                    104,092         

36,962          155,009         

TOTAL CURRENT RECEIVABLES 189,289        1,034,620      

NON-CURRENT

Statutory

 Long Service Leave - Department of Health 376,623        381,483         

TOTAL NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES 376,623        381,483         

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 565,912        1,416,103      

(a) Movement in the Allowance for doubtful debts

Balance at beginning of year (46,812)         (5,709)            

Increase / (decrease) in allowance recognised in net result (24,915)         (41,103)          

Balance at end of year (71,727)         (46,812)          

(b) Ageing of Receivables

Not

Consolidated Past Due Less than 1-3 3 Months - 1-5 Over 5 Impaired

Carrying And Not 1 Month Months 1 Year Years Years Financial

Amount Impaired Assets

2018 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Receivables

 - Trade Debtors 214,688        70,439        51,965                16,474         4,083             -                   -                    71,727           

 - Other Receivables 9,366            9,366          -                          -                   -                     -                   -                    -                     

Total Financial Assets 224,054        79,805        51,965                16,474         4,083             -                   -                    71,727           

2017 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets

Receivables

 - Trade Debtors 911,822        778,419      58,044                25,289         3,258             -                   -                    46,812           

 - Other Receivables 14,601          14,601        -                          -                   -                     -                   -                    -                     

Total Financial Assets 926,423        793,020      58,044                25,289         3,258             -                   -                    46,812           

Past Due But Not Impaired
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Receivables consist of:

- Contractual receivables, which includes mainly debtors in relation to goods and services, loans to third parties, accrued 

  investment income, and finance lease receivables.

Doubtful debts

Receivables recognition

Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial instruments and categorised as loans and receivables. Statutory receivables are recognised and measured 

similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment), but are not classified as financial instruments because they do not arise from a contract.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, less any accumulated 

impairment. 

Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful debts on a regular basis. Those bad debts considered as written off by mutual consent are classified as a transaction 

expense. Bad debts not written off by mutual consent and the allowance for doubtful debts are classified as other economic flows in the net result. 

- Statutory receivables, which includes predominantly amounts owing from the Victorian Government and Goods and Services Tax (GST) input tax credits recoverable; 

Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due and are due for settlement within 30 days from the date of recognition.  Collectability of debts is reviewed on an 

ongoing basis, and debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off.  A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that the debts 

may not be collected and bad debts are written off when identified.
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Note 5.2:   Other Liabilities Consol'd Consol'd

CURRENT 2018 2017

$ $

Patient monies held in trust 117,886        81,432           

Refundable accommodation bonds 6,065,245     5,488,998      

Resident loan obligations - independent living units 567,000        -                     

Total Other Liabilities 6,750,131     5,570,430      

Other Liabilities:

Represented by the following assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents (refer to Note 6.2) 600,886        81,432           

Term Deposits (refer to Note 4.1) 3,061,948     2,983,763      

Land and Buildings - Residential Aged Care 2,520,297     2,505,235      

Investment properties - independent living units 567,000        -                     
TOTAL 6,750,131     5,570,430      

Note 5.3:   Prepayments Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

CURRENT $ $

Prepayments 35,888          11,024           

Total Other Assets 35,888          11,024           

Note 5.4:   Payables Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

CURRENT $ $

Contractual

Trade Creditors 128,798        128,784         

SWARH Payables 120,514        831,931         

Accrued Expenses -                    57,557           

249,312        1,018,272      

Statutory

Department of Health and Human Services 131,187        61,400           

Commonwealth subsidies 4,404            18,558           

135,591        79,958           

Total Current 384,903        1,098,230      

TOTAL PAYABLES 384,903        1,098,230      

Payables consist of:

(a) Maturity Analysis of financial liabilities as at 30 June

Consolidated

Carrying Nominal Less than 1-3 3 Months - 1-5 Over 5

Amount Amount 1 Month Months 1 Year Years Years

2018 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Payables        249,312 249,312              249,312       -                   -                    -                     

Borrowings          74,975 74,975                -                   -                     74,975         -                    

Other liabilities     6,750,131 6,750,131           117,886       -                     -                   6,632,245     -                     

Total Financial Liabilities     7,074,418             7,074,418         367,198                      -            74,975       6,632,245                     -  

2017

Payables     1,018,272 1,018,272           1,018,272    -                   -                    -                     

Borrowings        243,209 243,209              -                   -                     109,904       133,305        

Other liabilities     5,570,430 5,570,430           81,432         -                     -                   5,488,998     -                     

Total Financial Liabilities     6,831,911             6,831,911      1,099,704                      -          109,904       5,622,303                     -  

• contractual payables which consist predominantly of accounts payable representing liabilities for goods and services provided to the Health Service prior to the end of 

the financial year that are unpaid, and arise when the health service becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods and services.  

The normal credit terms are usually Net 30 days. 

• statutory payables, that are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial instruments and not included in the category 

of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from contracts. 

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for Hesse Rural Health Service’s financial liabilities. For interest rates applicable to each class of liability 

refer to individual notes to the financial statements.

Payables

Maturity Dates

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting 

period covering a term extending beyond that period.
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 6: How we Finance our Operations

Structure

6.1  Borrowings

6.2  Cash and cash equivalents

6.3  Commitments for expenditure

Note 6.1:   Borrowings Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

Current $ $

- Finance Lease Liability (i) 74,975          109,904         

Total Current 74,975          109,904         

Non-Current

- Finance Lease Liability (i) -                    133,305         

Total Non-Current -                    133,305         

TOTAL BORROWINGS 74,975          243,209         

(i)  Hesse Rural Health's share of finance lease liabilities undertaken by the SWARH joint arrangement (refer to Note 8.10)

(a) Maturity analysis of borrowings

Please refer to Note 5.4 for the ageing analysis of borrowings.

(b ) Defaults and breaches

During the current and prior year, SWARH have not reported any defaults and breaches of any of the borrowings.

Consol'd Consol'd

(a) Finance Lease liabilities (ii) 2018 2017

Share of SWARH finance lease liabilities (refer to Note 8.10) $ $

Not longer than one year 76,864          112,674         

Longer than one year but not longer than five years -                    142,793         

Minimum Lease Payments 76,864          255,467         

Less Future Finance Charges 1,889            12,258           
Total Finance Lease liabilities 74,975          243,209         

(i) Minimum future lease payments include the aggregate of all base payments and any guaranteed residual.

Borrowing recognition

Finance Leases

Entity as lessee

Operating Leases

Entity as lessee

A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment. Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases 

based on the economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

 Minimum future lease 

payments (i) 

(ii) Finance lease liabilities include obligations that are recognised on the balance sheet; the future payments related to operating and lease commitments are disclosed 

in Note 6.3

This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by the hospital during its operations, along with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other 

information related to financing activities of the hospital.

This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as borrowings and cash balances).  Note: 7.1 provides additional, specific financial 

instrument disclosures.

Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 

the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases (refer note 6.3).

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts equal to the fair value of the lease property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease 

payment, each determined at the inception of the lease. The lease asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the lease. 

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between reduction of the outstanding lease liability, and the periodic finance expense which is calculated using the interest 

rate implicit in the lease, and charged directly to the comprehensive operating statement. Contingent rentals associated with finance leases are recognised as an 

expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments, including any contingent rentals, are recognised as an expense in the comprehensive operating statement on a straight line basis over the 

lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset. The leased asset is 

not recognised in the balance sheet.
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 6.2:   Cash and Cash Equivalents

Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

$ $

Cash on Hand (622)              (622)               

Cash at Bank 1,914,678     1,777,628      
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,914,056     1,777,006      

Represented by:

Cash for Health Service Operations (as per Cash Flow Statement) 1,313,170     1,695,574      

Cash for Monies Held in Trust

    - Deposits at Call 600,886        81,432           
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,914,056     1,777,006      

Note 6.3:   Commitments for Expenditure

(a ) Commitments other than public private partnerships Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

$ $

Lease commitments

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date:

Operating leases 176,365        266,372         

Finance leases 74,975          243,209         

Total lease commitments 251,340        509,581         

Operating Leases

         251,340          509,581 

(b ) Commitments payable Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

$ $

Lease commitments payable

Less than 1 year 242,555        314,011         

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years 8,785            195,570         

Total lease commitments 251,340        509,581         

251,340        509,581         

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts. These commitments are disclosed by way of a note at their 

nominal value and are inclusive of the GST payable. In addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides additional relevant information to users, the net present 

values of significant individual projects are stated. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the related liabilities are recognised on the 

balance sheet.

Operating leases relate to motor vehicles used primarily for district nursing services provided by the Health Service with the lease terms of 

three to five years, photocopiers with lease terms of 5 years, and rental of property and office space for the delivery of community health 

services in Moriac and Bannockburn with lease term of 5 years and 3 years respectively:

Total Commitments (inclusive of GST) other than public private partnerships

Total Commitments (inclusive of GST) 

Cash and cash equivalents recognised on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and highly liquid investments (with an original 

maturity of three months or less), which are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes, which are readily 

convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash assets include cash on hand and in banks, short-term deposits which are readily convertible to cash on hand, and are 

subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 7: Risks, Contingencies & Valuation Uncertainties

Introduction

Structure

7.1  Financial instruments

7.2  Net gain / (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets

7.3  Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Note 7.1:   Financial Instruments

(a ) Financial Instruments: categorisation

2018

$

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,914,056      -                   1,914,056     

Loans and Receivables

- Trade Debtors 142,961         -                   142,961        

- Other receivables 9,366             -                   9,366            

Other Financial Assets

- Term deposits 3,061,948      -                   3,061,948     

Total Financial Assets 5,128,331      -                   5,128,331     

Financial Liabilities

Payables -                     249,312       249,312        

Borrowings -                     74,975         74,975          

Other Financial Liabilities

- Accommodation bonds -                     6,065,245    6,065,245     

- Resident loan obligations - independent living units -                     567,000       567,000        

- Resident monies held in trust -                     117,886       117,886        

Total Financial Liabilities -                     7,074,418 7,074,418     

2017

$

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,777,006      -                   1,777,006     

Loans and Receivables

- Trade Debtors 865,010         -                   865,010        

- Other receivables 14,601           -                   14,601          

Other Financial Assets

- Term deposits 2,983,763      2,983,763     

Total Financial Assets 5,640,380      -                   5,640,380     

Financial Liabilities

Payables -                     1,036,830    1,036,830     

Borrowings -                     243,209       243,209        

Other Financial Liabilities

- Accommodation bonds -                     5,488,998    5,488,998     

- Resident loan obligations - independent living units -                   -                    

- Resident monies held in trust -                     81,432         81,432          

Total Financial Liabilities -                     6,850,469 6,850,469     

(b) Net holding gain / (loss) on financial instruments by category.

(c) Market Risk

Consolidated 

carrying 

amount

Consolidated 

carrying 

amount

No net holding gain or loss was made in respect of any of the above categories of financial instruments with the exception of interest revenue which is disclosed in Note 

2.1, and finance expense which is disclosed in Note 3.1.

Loans and 

receivables

At 

Amortised 

Cost

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due 

to the nature of Hesse Rural Health Service's activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets 

and financial liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation.  

Loans and 

receivables

At 

Amortised 

Cost

The hospital is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make judgements and estimates associated with recognition and 

measurement of items in the financial statements. This section sets out financial instrument specific information, (including exposures to financial risks) as well as those 

items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which for the hospital is related mainly to fair value determination.

The Health Service has only insignificant exposures to market risks (interest rate, foreign currency and other price risks), therefore, no additional disclosures are required 
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(d) Fair Value

Categories of financial instruments

 - Cash Assets

 - Term Deposits

 - Receivables (excluding statutory receivables)

 - Payables (excluding statutory payables)

 - Borrowings (SWARH finance leases)

 - Other liabilities

Contractual financial assets that are either past due or impaired

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount 

and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest-bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method.

Derecognition of financial assets: A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 

when: 

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• Hesse Rural Health Service retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third 

party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or

• Hesse Rural Health Service has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:

– has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or

– has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 

modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 

carrying amounts is recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ in the comprehensive operating statement. 

Hesse Rural Health recognises the following assets in this category:

Hesse Rural Health recognises the following liabilities in this category:

Offsetting financial instruments: Financial instrument assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated balance sheet when, and only 

when, Hesse Rural Health Service has a legal right to offset the amounts and intend either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.

Some master netting arrangements do not result in an offset of balance sheet assets and liabilities. Where Hesse Rural Health Service does not have a legally 

enforceable right to offset recognised amounts, because the right to offset is enforceable only on the occurrence of future events such as default, insolvency or 

bankruptcy, they are reported on a gross basis.

Loans and receivables and cash are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted on an active market. These assets are 

initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities: A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

The allowance is the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest 

rate. In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional judgement is applied in assessing 

materiality using estimates, averages and other computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.

Impairment of financial assets: At the end of each reporting period, Hesse Rural Health Service assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 

group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to annual review for 

impairment.

There are no financial assets that have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or impaired, and they are stated at the carrying amounts 

as indicated. The ageing analysis table above discloses the ageing only of contractual financial assets that are past due but not impaired.

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. The Health Service does not hold any collateral as security nor credit 

enhancements relating to any of its financial assets.

Where Hesse Rural Health Service has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the asset is recognised to the extent 

of Hesse Rural Health Service’s continuing involvement in the asset.

The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

• Level 1 - the fair value of financial instrument with standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market 

prices;

• Level 2 - the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 - the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

The Health service considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values, 

because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid in full.

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, 

other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 7.2: Net gain / (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets 2018 2017

$ $

Proceeds from Disposals of Non-Current Assets

Motor Vehicles 1,000            27,000           

Total Proceeds from Disposal of Assets 1,000            27,000           

  Less: Written-Down Value of Assets Sold

Motor Vehicles -                    31,217           

Total Written-Down Value of Assets Sold -                    31,217           

Net gain / (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets 1,000            (4,217)            

Disposal of non-financial Assets

Impairment of  Assets

Note 7.3:   Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities

Financial guarantee

Hesse Rural Health Service has provided a financial guarantee of $100,000 in relation to payroll services.

Any gain or loss on the sale of non-financial assets is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement. 

All other non-finanical assets are tested annually for indications of impairment except for non-current physical assets held for sale.

If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their possible recoverable amount. Where an asset’s 

carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written-off as an expense except to the extent that the write-down can be debited to an asset revaluation 

surplus amount applicable to that same class of asset.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in the estimate of an asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised, the carrying 

amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. This reversal of the impairment loss occurs only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years. 

It is deemed that, in the event of the loss or destruction of an asset, the future economic benefits arising from the use of the asset will be replaced unless a specific 

decision to the contrary has been made.  The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and fair value less costs to 

sell. Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at the higher of the present value of future cash flows expected to be 

obtained from the asset and fair value less costs to sell. 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed by way of note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 8:  Other Disclosures

Structure

8.1  Equity

8.2  Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities

8.3  Responsible persons disclosures

8.4  Executive officer disclosures

8.5  Related parties

8.6  Remuneration of auditors

8.7  AASBs issued that are not yet effective

8.8  Events occurring after the balance sheet date

8.9  Controlled entities

8.10  Jointly Controlled Operations

8.11  Economic Dependency

8.12  Alternative presentation of comprehensive operating statement

Note 8.1:  Equity Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

(a) Surpluses $ $

Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Surplus

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 3,566,766     3,566,766      

Revaluation Increments

 - Land 521,506        -                     

 - Buildings 864,088        -                     
Balance at the end of the reporting period 4,952,360     3,566,766      

Represented by:

 - Land 1,469,071     947,565         

 - Buildings 3,483,289     2,619,201      
4,952,360     3,566,766      

(b) Contributed Capital

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 4,514,616     4,514,616      
Balance at the end of the reporting period 4,514,616     4,514,616      

(c) Accumulated Surpluses/(Deficits)

Retained Surplus at the beginning of the reporting period 1,333,229     1,922,445      

Net Surplus/(Deficit) for the year (651,203)       (589,216)        
Balance at the end of the reporting period 682,026        1,333,229      

 Total Equity at end of financial year 10,149,002   9,414,611      

Contributed Capital

 Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Surplus

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current physical assets.

Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

$ $

Net Result for the Year (651,203)       (589,216)        

Non-Cash Movements

Depreciation 866,360        968,272         

Revaluation of LSL provision (11,699)         (20,508)          

Net (gain) / loss on revaluation of independent living units (290,221)       -                     

Movements included in investing and financing activities

Net (gain)/loss from disposal of non financial physical assets (1,000)           4,217             

Movements in assets and liabilities:

Change in Operating Assets & Liabilities

Increase/(Decrease) in Payables (713,327)       192,133         

Increase/(Decrease) in Employee Entitlements 132,881        16,867           

(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables 850,191        (358,639)        

(Increase)/Decrease in Other Assets (519,454)       (9,068)            

(Increase)/Decrease in Prepayments (24,864)         33,731           

Net Cash Inflow From Operating Activities (362,336)       237,789         

Note 8.2:   Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net Cash Inflow / (Outflow) from 

Operating Activities

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the understanding of this financial report.

Consistent with Australian Accounting Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities and FRD 119A Contributions by 

Owners, appropriations for additions to the net asset base have been designated as contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions to or 

distributions by owners that have been designated as contributed capital are also treated as contributed capital.
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Note 8.3:  Responsible Persons Disclosures

From To

Responsible Ministers:

The Honourable Jill Hennessy, Minister for Health, Minister for Ambulance Services 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Housing, Disability and Ageing, Minister for Mental Health 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

Governing Board

J. Carr 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

R. Hanson 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

N. Hutton 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

D. Lang 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

S. Ni Chuinneagain 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

T. O'Loughlin 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

M. Stocks 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

K. Taylor 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

A. Bennett 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

Accountable Officers

P. Birkett (Chief Executive Officer) 1/07/2017 30/06/2018

Remuneration of Responsible Persons

Remuneration received or receivable by responsible persons was in the range: $230,000 - $239,999 ($230,000 - $239,999 in 2016-17).

The board does not receive any remuneration for their services.

Note 8.4:   Executive Officer Disclosures

Remuneration of Executives

Consol'd Consol'd

Remuneration of executive officers 2018 2017

Short-term benefits 137,634 139,019

Post-employment benefits 21,417 21,375

Other long-term benefits 3,828 3,422

Termination benefits -                    -                     

Total Remuneration 162,879 163,816

Total number of executives 1 1

1 1

(i) Annualised employee equivalent is based on the time fraction worked over the reporting period.

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following 

categories. 

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-

monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.

Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when employment has ceased.

Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long-service benefit or deferred compensation.

Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance packages.

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, the following 

disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

Amounts relating to Repsonsible Ministers are reported in the financial statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.  For information regarding related party 

transactions of ministers, the register of members' interests is publicly available from: www.parliament.vic.gov.au/publications/register of interests.

Period

The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the table below. 

Total annualised employee equivalent provides a measure of full time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.

Total annualised employee equivalent (AEE)
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Note 8.5:   Related parties

·        all key management personnel and their close family members;

·        all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and

·        all hospitals and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.

Consol'd Consol'd

Compensation 2018 2017

Short term employee benefits 193,923        191,620         

Post-employment benefits 36,842          34,706           

Other long-term benefits 6,002            5,807             

Termination benefits -                    -                     
Total 236,767        232,133         

Significant transactions with government related entities

- Payroll processing charges paid to Western District Health Service and Colac Area Health.

- Patient transport fees paid to Ambulance Victoria

- Purchase of drugs and medical supplies from Barwon Health.

- Provision of District Nursing services to Barwon Health.

Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties

Other Transactions of Responsible Persons and their Related Entities

Note 8.6:   Remuneration of Auditors Consol'd Consol'd

2018 2017

Victorian Auditor-General's Office $ $

Audit or review of financial statement 14,313          26,658           

14,313          26,658           

- Professional medical indemnity insurance and other insurance products are obtained from a Victorian Public Financial Corporation.

All related party transactions that involved KMPs and their close family members have been entered into on an arm's length basis. Transactions are disclosed when they 

are considered material to the users of the financial report in making and evaluation decisions about the allocation of scare resources.

There were no related party transactions with Cabinet Ministers required to be disclosed in 2018.

Hesse Rural Health received funding from the Department of Health and Human Services of $3.7 million (2017: $3.3 million). 

  

During the year, Hesse Rural Health had the following government-related entity transactions which are undertaken on a normal commercial basis: 

The health service is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of the health service include:

Key management personnel (KMP) of the hospital include the Portfolio Ministers and Cabinet Ministers and KMP as determined by the hospital and are disclosed in Note 

8.3. The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Ministers receive. The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the 

Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968, and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services’ Financial Report.

Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a manner consistent with other members of the 

public e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges. Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions 

consistent with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. Procurement processes 

occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board requirements. 

The Chief Financial Officer, Stephen Wight, is a director of Davidsons Accountants and Business Consultants, which provided accounting, bookkeeping and consulting 

services to Hesse Rural Health Service on normal commercial terms and conditions.  Total payments made to Davidsons Accountants and Business Consultants in the 

financial year were $120,131 (2017 $89,540).

.        jointly Controlled Operation - A member of the SWARH IT alliance; and
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Note 8.7:  AASBs issues that are not yet effective

Standard / Interpretation Applicable for 

annual reporting 

periods 

beginning on 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from AASB 15

1 Jan 2017, 

except 

amendments to 

AASB 9 (Dec 

2009) and 

AASB 9 (Dec 

2010) apply from 

1 Jan 2018

AASB 16 Leases 1 Jan 2019

AASB 2016-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards – Recoverable Amount of Non-Cash-

Generating Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit 

Entities 

1 Jan 2017

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 1 Jan 2019

•      AASB 2016-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification and Measurement of Share‑based Payment Transactions

•      AASB 2016-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Applying AASB 9 Financial Instruments with AASB 4 Insurance Contracts

•      AASB 2017-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transfers of Investment Property, Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle and Other Amendments

•      AASB 2017-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 4

•      AASB 2017-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

•      AASB 2017-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 and AASB 128 and Editorial Corrections

•      AASB 2017-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

•      AASB 2017-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

•      AASB 2018-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 Cycle

•      AASB 2018-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Plan Amendments, Curtailment or Settlement

The core principle of AASB 15 requires an entity to recognise revenue 

when the entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a 

promised good or service to a customer.

Amends the measurement of trade receivables and the recognition of 

dividends.

Trade receivables, that do not have a significant financing component, are 

to be measured at their transaction price, at initial recognition. 

Dividends are recognised in the profit and loss only when:

• the entity’s right to receive payment of the dividend is established; 

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will 

flow to the entity; and 

• the amount can be measured reliably.

The key changes introduced by AASB 16 include the recognition of most 

operating leases (which are current not recognised) on balance sheet.

The following accounting pronouncements are also issued but not effective for the 2017‑18 reporting period. At this stage, the preliminary assessment suggests they may have 

insignificant impacts on public sector reporting.

The standard amends AASB 136 Impairment of Assets to remove 

references to using depreciated replacement cost (DRC) as a measure of 

value in use for not-for-profit entities.

AASB 1058 standard will replace the majority of income recognition in 

relation to government grants and other types of contributions 

requirements relating to public sector not-for-profit entities, previously in 

AASB 1004 Contributions. 

The restructure of administrative arrangement will remain under AASB 

1004 and will be restricted to government entities and contributions by 

owners in a public sector context.

AASB 1058 establishes principles for transactions that are not within the 

scope of AASB 15, where the consideration to acquire an asset is 

significantly less than fair value to enable not-for-profit entities to further 

their objective.

Impact on public sector entity financial 

statements

The assessment has identified that the amendments 

are likely to result in earlier recognition of impairment 

losses and at more regular intervals. 

While there will be no significant impact arising from 

AASB 9, there will be a change to the way financial 

instruments are disclosed. 

The changes in revenue recognition requirements in 

AASB 15 may result in changes to the timing and 

amount of revenue recorded in the financial 

statements. The Standard will also require additional 

disclosures on service revenue and contract 

modifications.

The assessment has indicated that there will be no 

significant impact for the public sector.

The key changes include the simplified requirements for the classification 

and measurement of financial assets, a new hedging accounting model 

and a revised impairment loss model to recognise impairment losses 

earlier, as opposed to the current approach that recognises impairment 

only when incurred.

The assessment has indicated that most operating 

leases, with the exception of short term and low value 

leases will come on to the balance sheet and will be 

recognised as right of use assets with a 

corresponding lease liability. 

In the operating statement, the operating lease 

expense will be replaced by depreciation expense of 

the asset and an interest charge.

The assessment has indicated that there is minimal 

impact. Given the specialised nature and restrictions 

of public sector assets, the existing use is presumed 

to be the highest and best use (HBU), hence current 

replacement cost under AASB 13 Fair Value 

Measurement is the same as the depreciated 

replacement cost concept under AASB 136.

The current revenue recognition for grants is to 

recognise revenue up front upon receipt of the funds.

This may change under AASB 1058, as capital grants 

for the construction of assets will need to be 

deferred. Income will be recognised over time, upon 

completion and satisfaction of performance 

obligations for assets being constructed, or income 

will be recognised at a point in time for acquisition of 

assets.

The revenue recognition for operating grants will 

need to be analysed to establish whether the 

requirements under other applicable standards need 

to be considered for recognition of liabilities (which 

will have the effect of deferring the income 

associated with these grants). Only after that 

analysis would it be possible to conclude whether 

there are any changes to operating grants.

The impact on current revenue recognition of the 

changes is the phasing and timing of revenue 

recorded in the profit and loss statement.

STATEMENT

Certain new accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2018 reporting period. DTF assesses the impact of all these new standards 

and advises the Health Service of their applicability and early adoption where applicable. 

As at 30 June 2018, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by AASB but were not yet effective.  They become effective for the first financial 

statements for reporting periods commencing after the stated operative dates as detailed in the table below.  Hesse Rural Health has not and does not intend to adopt 

these standards early.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 8.8:  Events Occurring after the Balance Date

There are no events occurring since the balance date to the date of this report that would have a material effect on the operations of the health service.

Note 8.9:  Controlled Entities
Equity

Name of Entity Country of Incorporation Holding

Winchelsea Hostel and Nursing Home Society Inc. 100%

Control is established due to both entities having common Board of Management.

Australia

Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events. Where the transactions result from an agreement between the Health Service 

and other parties, the transactions are only recognised when the agreement is irrevocable at or before the end of the reporting period.

Adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial statements for events which occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue, where those events provide information about conditions which existed at the reporting date. Note disclosure is made about events 

between the end of the reporting period and the date the financial statements are authorised for issue where the events relate to conditions which arose after the end of 

the reporting period that are considered to be of material interest.
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 8.10:  Jointly Controlled Operations and Assets

Interest in Jointly Controlled Operations Principal Activity 2018 2017

% %

South West Alliance of Rural Health (SWARH) Information Technology 2.00% 4.16%

2018 2017

Current Assets $ $

Cash and Cash Equivalents 147,374        218,080         

Receivables 37,731          767,062         

Other Assets 3,320            774                

Total Current Assets 188,425        985,916         

Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant & Equipment 78,659          249,584         

Total Assets 267,084        1,235,500      

Current Liabilities

Payables 120,514        878,203         

Finance lease liabilities 74,975          109,904         

Employee Benefits 31,560          71,356           

Total Current Liabilities 227,049        1,059,463      

Non-Current Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities -                    133,305         

Employee Benefits 5,829            12,394           

Total Non Current Liabilities 5,829            145,699         

Total Liabilities 232,878        1,205,162      

Net Assets 34,206          30,338           

Revenues

Revenue from Operating Activities 465,092        941,505         

Revenue from Non-Operating Activities -                    1,589             

Capital Purpose Income 12,187          20,669           

Total Revenue 477,279        963,763         

Expenses

Employee Benefits 158,010        270,760         

Maintenance Contract and IT Support 101,689        327,767         

Operating Lease Costs 3,229            19,075           

Other Expenses from Ordinary Activities 152,139        168,599         

Finance Costs 4,249            14,897           

Depreciation 54,095          152,883         

Total Expenses 473,411        953,981         

Net Result 3,868            9,782             

The Health Service interest in revenues and expenses resulting from jointly controlled operations and assets is detailed below, based on 

unaudited figures:

The Health Service interest in assets employed in the above jointly controlled operations and assets is detailed below. The 

amounts are included in the financial statements under their respective asset categories:
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HESSE RURAL HEALTH SERVICE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 8.11:  Economic dependency

Note 8.12:  Alternative presentation of comprehensive operating statement

Parent Entity Parent Entity Consolidated Consolidated

Note 2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Grants

Operating 2.1 5,870,408      6,027,249    7,768,335     7,965,088      

Capital 2.1 10,302           16,150         10,302          16,150           

Interest 2.1 15,032           15,160         100,341        105,882         

Sales of Goods and Services 612,322         717,131       1,353,998     1,508,827      

Other Income 2.1 959,705         1,294,493    976,324        1,304,974      

Other capital income 2.1 12,187           25,669         13,187          21,452           
7,479,956      8,095,852    10,222,487   10,922,373    

Employee Expenses 3.1 5,066,335      5,193,479    7,425,354     7,342,897      

Operating Expenses -               -                 

Supplies and consumables 3.1 251,887         249,933       431,860        427,962         

Non salary labour costs 3.1 198,122         269,468       242,929        347,536         

Other 3.1 1,825,900      2,108,174    2,205,859     2,514,409      

Non-Operating Expenses -               -                 

Impairment of non-financial assets 3.1 -                 2,792           -                2,792             

Finance Lease Charges 3.2 4,249             14,897         4,249            14,897           

2.2 -                 (90,886)        -                (90,886)          

2.2 (290,221)        -                   (290,221)       -                     

Depreciation and amortisation 4.5 561,494         662,268       866,360        968,272         
Expenses from transactions 7,617,766      8,410,125    10,886,390   11,527,879    

Net Result from transactions (137,810)        (314,273)      (663,903)       (605,506)        

7.2 1,000             (4,217)          1,000            (4,217)            

11,698           20,508         11,699          20,508           

12,698           16,291         12,699          16,291           

995,061         -                   1,385,594     -                     

869,949         (297,982)      734,390        (589,215)        

Other economic flows included in net result

Total other economic flows included in net result

Revaluation of Long Service Leave

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets

Hesse Rural Health is dependent on the Department of Health and Human Services for the majority of its revenue used to operate the entity. At the date of this report, the 

Board of Directors has no reason to believe the Department will not continue to support Hesse Rural Health.

NET RESULT

Share of net result of associates and joint ventures accounted for using 

the Equity Method

Revenue from transactions

Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Changes in Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus

Gain on revaluation of independent living units 
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Today I received a phone 
call from Barwon 

Health Post Acute Care 
to relay that they have 
received glowing positive 
feedback from several 
clients regarding Hesse’s 
community nursing service. 

For all the help you have 
given us through the 

year, you are incredible. So 
much to enjoy. For all the 
great work and the things 
we have made with your 
help, you make us feel so 
special. We thank you and 
look forward to being with 
you next year. 
Men’s Social Support Group, 

Beeac

I feel so privileged to be 
amongst caring and 

supportive people who 
give their hearts to others 
every day. My family felt 
supported and comforted 
and I know that Gran 
received the very best of 
care from you all. 

Staff & Family Member,
Residential Aged Care

Community Member

I was a patient recently. 
Would like to thank 

everyone who looked 
after me. Doctors, nurses, 
cleaning ladies, ladies 
delivering the food and 
also the maintenance guys. 
I was very spoiled there, 
could not ask for better 
care. I am feeling on top of 
the world.

Quality, impeccable 
service by all 4 District 

Nurses who dealt with my 
needs. A precedent has 
been set that others can 
only try to achieve. Thank 
you. 

We can’t thank you 
enough for taking 

care of our residents over 
the last month. We are 
forever grateful for your 
help in our time of need. 

Patient,
Winchelsea Hospital

Client,
Community NursingCobden Health,

Residential Aged Care

External Service Provider

Donation Board

The [2016-17 Annual] 
report itself represents 

quality in every way 
possible. To sit quietly with 
a cuppa and actually read 
every page with interest, 
knowing the thought and 
planning of this report, 
engrossed me totally. 
Compliments to everyone.

A word of appreciation 
for my regular meals. 

They are all good. I 
especially like the way you 
do the fish. 

Client,
Residential Aged Care

• Armstrong, R (Bequest)
• Barta, T
• Bell Charitable Fund
• Clapton, R
• Couper, M & A
• Flemming, P
• Forster, L
• Guye, R & R
• Hole, K

• Inverleigh Senior Citizens Club
• Johnson, J
• Lugg, J & G
• Lyness, B
• McCoy, F
• McCoy, T & B
• McDonald, C (Bequest)
• Murfitt, L
• Staff - NDIS

• Southern Grain Storage Pty Ltd
• Stevens, G
• Winchelsea IGA
• Winchelsea Ladies Auxiliary
• Winchelsea Lions Club

Expressions of
appreciation
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